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 Financial Highlights 

 
 

2019 2018 

 

Change 

 For the year 
 

HK$ô000 

 

HK$ô000 
+/- % 

 Net operating income before impairment 
allowances 2,776,623 2,019,739 +37.47 

 Operating profit  1,486,368 1,210,250 +22.81 

 Profit before taxation 1,493,937 1,204,742 +24.00 

 Profit for the year 1,262,568 1,002,447 +25.95 

     

 At year-end 
 

HK$ô000 

 

HK$ô000 
+/- % 

 Total equity 14,122,989 11,603,196 +21.72 

 Issued and fully paid up share capital 3,245,980 1,772,988 +83.08 

 Total assets 149,854,781 102,872,627 +45.67 

     

 Financial ratios % % +/- % 

1
 Return on average total assets 

1
 0.95 1.12 -0.17 

2
 Return on average shareholdersô equity 

2
 10.61 10.40 +0.21 

 Cost to income ratio  34.03 33.23 +0.80 
3
 Loan to deposit ratio 

3
 65.41 61.89 +3.52 

4
 Average value of liquidity coverage ratio 

4              
    

  First quarter  218.71 152.06 +66.65 

 Second quarter  191.46 186.29 +5.17 

 Third quarter 205.53 250.75 -45.22 

 Fourth quarter 210.17 244.69 -34.52 

5
 

Quarter-end value of net stable funding 
ratio 

5
    

 First quarter  123.50 121.23 +2.27 

 Second quarter  127.14 124.96 +2.18 

 Third quarter 131.08 134.05 -2.97 

 Fourth quarter 142.42 140.22 +2.20 
6
 Total capital ratio 

6
 17.71 20.99 -3.28 

 

1.                       = 

Return on average total assets  

 

Profit for the year 

 

Daily average balance of total assets 

 

2.                     = 

Return on average shareholdersô equity 

 

Profit attributable to equity holders of the Bank 

 

Average of the beginning and ending balance of capital and reserves 
attributable to equity holders of the Bank 
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  Financial Highlights (continued) 

 

3. ̢

̢ 

 

3. Loan to deposit ratio is calculated as at year end. Loan represents gross advances 
to customers.  

4. 2018 1 9

̨ ̩

̪ ̫

̢ 

 

4. The average value of liquidity coverage ratio is computed on the unconsolidated 
basis which comprises the positions of local offices and overseas branches from 
January to September 2018 of the Bank specified by the Hong Kong Monetary 
Authority (ñHKMAò) for its regulatory purposes and in accordance with the Banking 
(Liquidity) Rules. 

2018 10 2019 12

̨ ̩

̡ ̢

̢ 

 

The average value of liquidity coverage ratio is computed on the consolidated basis 
which comprises the positions of local offices, overseas branches and subsidiaries 
starting from October 2018 to December 2019 of the Bank specified by the HKMA 
for its regulatory purposes and in accordance with the Banking (Liquidity) Rules. 
Hence, the comparative information is not directly comparable. 

5. 2018 2018

̨ ̩

̡

̢  ̢

 

5. The net stable funding ratio is computed on the unconsolidated basis which 
comprises the positions of local offices and overseas branches in the first half of 
2018 and consolidated basis which comprises the positions of local offices, 
overseas branches and subsidiaries starting from the second half of 2018 of the 
Bank specified by the HKMA for its regulatory purposes and in accordance with the 
Banking (Liquidity) Rules. Hence, the comparative information is not directly 
comparable. 

6. ̨ ̩

̡

̢ 

 

6. Total capital ratio is computed on the consolidated basis which comprises the 
positions of local offices, overseas branches and designated subsidiaries of the 
Bank specified by the HKMA for its regulatory purposes and in accordance with the 
Banking (Capital) Rules. 
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 Managementôs Discussion and Analysis  

  Business Review 

2019

̡

̢ 

 

 In 2019, the external economic environment became more complex and 

uncertain. The global economy suffered due to the ongoing trade conflict 

between China and the United States, Chinaôs economic growth slowing down 

and the uncertainty of the Brexit withdrawal agreement. Meanwhile, the tense 

social atmosphere in Hong Kong also caused the overall business 

environment to be more unstable. 

 

̡ ̢ 

 In view of uncertainties and challenges in the operating environment, the 

Group aims to strengthen its risk management and set forward-looking 

management strategy. Also, the Group plans various measures such as 

structural optimisation to encourage quality of growth and efficiency, these 

efforts have enabled the Group to tackle the challenges. 

 

2019

̢

̢ 

 In 2019, the Group's businesses maintained a promising development and 

achieved remarkable operating results. During the year, the Groupôs recently 

established subsidiary, Chiyu Asset Management Limited, and Shenzhen 

branch both had relatively good development, including Chiyu Asset 

Management Limited issuing its first self-managed fund and Shenzhen branch 

beginning to operate, from which supporting the Groupôs sustainable 

development. 

 

̢ ̡

̡ ̡

̢ 

 

 With branches in Hong Kong, together with 3 branches and 2 sub-branches in 

Fujian and Shenzhen in the Mainland China, the Group remains committed to 

enhancing facilities of our branches in order to improve our corporate image as 

well as to provide better services to our customers. This is also to represent 

our ongoing pursuit of sincere, flexible, customized and professional 

cross-border banking and financial services for our customers. 
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 Managementôs Discussion and Analysis 
(continued) 

  Financial Review 

2019

1,262,568,000 25.95%

̢

10.61%

0.95%̢ 

 For the year 2019, the Group recorded a profit attributable to shareholders of 

HK$1,262,568,000, increased by 25.95% from last year. This was mainly due to 

increase in net interest income. The return on average shareholdersô equity and 

the return on average total assets were 10.61% and 0.95% respectively. 

2,018,573,000

2018 29.53%

48.39%

23 1.56%̢

73.40% 642,998,000

̢ 944,910,000

40.81%

0.80 34.03%̢ 

 Net interest income for the year was HK$2,018,573,000, increased by 29.53%. 

It was mainly due to increase in average interest bearing assets by 48.39%, 

with net interest margin decreased by 23 basis points to 1.56% compared with 

2018. Net fee and commission income increased by 73.40% to 

HK$642,998,000. Operating expenses increased by 40.81% to 

HK$944,910,000, while the cost to income ratio increased by 0.80 percentage 

points to 34.03%. 

345,345,000

206,916,000 ̢

2018 0.14 0.39%̢ 

 In 2019, net charge of loan impairment allowances was HK$345,345,000, 

increased by HK$206,916,000 as compared with last year. The classified or 

impaired loan ratio decreased by 0.14 percentage points to 0.39% compared 

with the end of 2018. 

 

2019

149,854,781,000 2018

45.67%̢ 76,066,959,000

56.91%̢

116,291,434,000

48.46%̢ 

 

 As of 31 December 2019, the total consolidated assets of the Group increased 

by 45.67% to HK$149,854,781,000 compared with the end of 2018. Advances 

to customers increased by 56.91% to HK$76,066,959,000. Customer deposits 

also increased by 48.46% to HK$116,291,434,000. 

  Prospect 

2020

̢

̡

̢ 

 Looking forward to 2020, the trade conflict between China and the United 

States and Chinaôs slow economic growth is likely to continue. Therefore, it is 

still crucial to beware of these factorsô impact on financial markets. Meanwhile, 

the local society still need time to recover, along with the new coronavirus 

continues to spread, the local economic outlook remains volatile. The Group will 

pursue a more stable and steady development strategy, and strengthen its risk 

management at the same time, the Group will continue to fulfil its commitment 

to corporate social responsibilities and a dedicated customer service. 
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 Managementôs Discussion and Analysis 
(continued) 

  
Corporate Social Responsibility 

  Providing convenient banking services 

̢

2019 8

̢ 
 

 We endeavour to offer quality and convenient banking services to people from 

all walks of life, in an effort to assume our responsibilities to the community. In 

the course of developing our businesses, we actively respond to the Hong 

Kong Monetary Authorityôs call to pursue financial inclusion. Our initiatives 

include abolition of minimum monthly balance fee with effect from August 

2019, for mid-segment and grassroot customers who maintain personal 

accounts with us. In order to serve the needs of the public for basic banking 

services, some of our branches are situated in public housing estates. 

 

̢

̢

̢

̡

 ̢

 

 Continuous enhancement of customer experience is also one of our key 

focuses. We have launched a variety of deposits promotion campaigns to 

expand our customer base while encouraging children to kick-start their 

savings plans and develop positive concepts towards financial management. 

In addition, we have been working closely with our subsidiaries, i.e. Chiyu 

International Capital Limited and Chiyu Asset Management Limited, to provide 

more comprehensive corporate financial services. We have rolled out 

structured loan services for corporate customers to meet their liquidity needs. 

A number of funds and investment seminars were held at our branches during 

the year with a view to deepening our relationships with personal and company 

customers. Financial experts were invited to share with customers their 

analysis on market trends and investment strategies. 

 

̢ 2019

̢ 2019

̪ Instagram ̫ ̪

̫

̡

̢ 

 

 To serve customersô increasing demand for electronic service channels, we 

have continuously upgraded our mobile banking functions. These include to 

raise the maximum transaction limit for small-value payments and to 

streamline the authentication process of non-registered third-party fund 

transfers. In 2019, a new QR code payment function was also introduced on 

our mobile banking platform, enabling customers to settle P2P and 

government bill payments, etc. more flexibly and efficiently. In addition to 

constantly enhancing ñChiyu Wechat official accountò, we launched our brand 

new ñChiyu Instagram official accountò in 2019 to provide customers with our 

latest corporate information, product and service offers to further enhance 

customer experience. 

Application 

Programming Interface, API

̢

̡ ̡ ̡ ̡

̡

̡

̢ 

 

 In line with the growing use of Open Application Programming Interface (API), 

we implemented Open API and completed the first and second phases of 

development according to the Hong Kong Monetary Authorityôs framework. 

Currently, information of our personal financial products, covering deposits, 

loans, investments, insurance and safe deposit box details, is now available 

via open API. Going forward, we will cooperate with third-party service 

providers to enhance our open API platform that will allow customers to 

complete account opening as well as mortgage and insurance applications. On 

top of accessing real-time, comprehensive and accurate information, 

customers can also enjoy one-stop financial services on this new platform. 
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 Managementôs Discussion and Analysis 
(continued) 

  
Corporate Social Responsibility (continued) 

  Contributing to society 

̢2019 10

̡

̡ ̡

̪ Ƕ ɷ

̫ 500

̡ ̡

̪ ̫

̢

500

̪

̢̫ 

 

 Over the years, Chiyu Bank spares no effort in organising and sponsoring 

different community activities with a view to fulfilling our corporate social 

responsibility. In October 2019, the Bank held an exhibition named ñThe Glory 

of the Overseas Chinese - Exhibition of Tan Kah Keeôs Legacy and 

Contributions of Overseas Chinese to the Development of Motherland". It was 

an activity presented by the All-China Federation of Returned Overseas 

Chinese and the Hong Kong Federation of Overseas Chinese Associations, 

supported by the Liaison Office of the Central Peopleôs Government in the 

Hong Kong Special Administrative Region and the Home Affairs Bureau of the 

Hong Kong Special Administrative Region Government, and assisted by Tan 

Kah Kee Memorial Museum. By displaying over 500 pictures and precious 

exhibits and texts, the exhibition demonstrated the relentless efforts of Mr. Tan 

Kah Kee, a patriotic leader in the overseas Chinese communities, to support 

the social and education development in China with the revenue from his 

businesses. The exhibition also highlighted the contributions of the overseas 

Chinese to the Reform and Opening-up of China as well as the national 

development in the new era. While aiming to educate the young generation 

about the civic awareness and civic responsibility, the activity succeeded in 

bringing positive energy to the society by promoting ñKah Keeôs spiritò. 

Meanwhile, we maintain our commitment to support charitable causes. We 

facilitated the establishment of the Tan Kah Kee Fund Association and the 

donation of HKD5 million from the Fund Association to the Overseas Chinese 

Charity Foundation of China. This move aims to connect the charitable 

organisations relating to Mr Tan Kah Kee from around the world and combine 

their efforts to organise different charitable activities for on-going promotion of 

ñKah Keeôs spiritò. 

 

2019

̢

̪ ̫

̢ 

 

 Moreover, in 2019, we were the title sponsor of the two events held by the 

Hong Kong Rope Skipping Club to help raise the ability and confidence of 

students through rope skipping. We also invited staff and their families to 

participate in our charitable activities organised jointly with community 

organisations, such as visiting the elderly in Southern District in Hong Kong 

under the Aberdeen Kai-fong Welfare Associationôs programme, proactively 

spreading the message of caring for society. 

  Supporting Education 

̪

̫

̡ ̢

̪ ̫

̢ 

 

 We remain committed to supporting the development of local education. It is 

the faith we developed as early as the Bank was established. During the year, 

the Bank sponsored the "9th Hong Kong Student Knowledge Contest on 

China's National Situation". It aimed to help strengthen local studentsô skills of 

independent analysis and critical thinking through deepening their 

understanding of the conditions and history of our motherland. As for younger 

kids, we organised a parent-child educational activity named ñGo Banking with 

Auntie Piggyò for them to gain exposure to basic banking operations through 

role-play games. With this kind of activities, younger kids would be able to 

develop a positive attitude towards savings and managing personal finances. 

 

  Advocating environmental awareness 

̡

̡ ̢ 2019

2018 20% ̢ 

 

 To raise the public awareness of environmental protection and reduce paper 

consumption, the Bank continuously promotes its internet banking, mobile 

banking and e-cheque services among customers. We see a wider use of 

these electronic platforms that offer customers secured, convenient and 

environment-friendly services to manage their finances. As at the end of 2019, 

the Bank recorded an increase of 20% in the respective numbers of customers 

using Chiyu Internet Banking and Mobile Banking as compared with the 

previous year. 
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 Managementôs Discussion and Analysis 
(continued) 

  
Corporate Social Responsibility (continued) 

  Advocating environmental awareness (continued) 

̡ ̡

̡ ̡

̢

̪ ̫

̢ 

 

 In addition, we have implemented a number of proactive measures to protect 

our environment. These include reducing waste, avoiding disposable items, 

promoting wider use of energy-efficient products as well as supporting 

recycling, energy saving, water resources and shark fin-free menus, etc. The 

Bank also continued to participate in the ñCharter on External Lightingò 

organised by the Environment Bureau by switching off external lighting 

installations at night to minimise light nuisance and energy wastage. 

  Caring for employees 

  Nurturing financial talents 

̢

̪

̫

̢

̢

̢

̪

̫

̢

ECF ARWP 

̢ 

 

 People are the Groupôs most important asset and we put great emphasis on 

nurturing talents and helping staff upgrading their qualifications. During the 

year, Xiamen International Bank, our parent bank, set up a brand new Institute 

of Finance Hong Kong Training Centre to provide staff with internationalised 

training resources and diversified business training classes. Moreover, we 

have designed and launched tailored training programmes, such as exchange 

meetings for management personnel at the financial institutions in New York 

and San Francisco in US to further enrich their business knowledge. We have 

also developed a well-structured officer trainee programme for younger talents. 

In 2019, we recruited over 100 university graduates and offered them officer 

trainee opportunities of learning and career development. Apart from taking 

part in local practical training, these officer trainees also participated in the 

one-month Elite Training Camp organised in Xiamen by our parent bank. This 

was to help broaden their horizons through enhanced cross-border exchange. 

All of these comprehensive training programmes enable us to lay a solid 

foundation for our future business development. In addition, we continuously 

strengthen our compliance culture and enhance our staffôs related knowledge 

by providing them with compliance and anti-money laundering seminars and 

online training during the year. Selected staff also enrolled in the ECF ARWP 

programme organised by the Hong Kong Institute of Bankers to be qualified as 

retail wealth management professionals. That is a qualification well recognised 

by the Hong Kong Monetary Authority. 

 
  Promoting Core Values 

̪ ̡ ̡ ̡ ̫

̨ ̩ ̨

̩

̡

̡ ̢ 

 Our Corporate Culture Development Task Force continues to advocate the 

Bankôs core values of ñIntegrity, People-oriented, Innovative Development and 

Caring for the Societyò by implementing various initiatives and motivate our 

employees to excel. We publish internal e-magazines respectively named 

ñChiyuôs Wisdomò and ñStriving for Successò, to provide staff with updates of 

the Bankôs innovation and development, as well as to promote the can-do spirit 

among our staff by commending role models and sharing their success stories. 

 
  Enhancing our staffôs sense of belonging 

̢2019 ̡

̡

̪ ̫

̢ 

 

 Based on a people-oriented philosophy, we constantly optimise benefits for our 

employees. In 2019, we increased the number of annual leave days and the 

amount of meal allowance, enhanced the medical benefits for both staff and 

their families, and offered a range of employee care initiatives, such as red 

packets for Chinese New Year and gifts for festivals and birthday, etc. 

Moreover, weekly gatherings are organised to reward staff with delicious food. 

We strive to provide a harmonious and friendly working environment for our 

employees. 
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 Managementôs Discussion and Analysis 
(continued) 

  
Corporate Social Responsibility (continued) 

  Caring for employees (continued) 

  Enhancing our staffôs sense of belonging (continued) 

̢

̢ 

 

 The Bank reviews its remuneration packages periodically and formulates a 

competitive scheme to retain and attract talents. An incentive programme has 

also been introduced to reward outstanding staff. Another initiative to 

recognise our employees for their remarkable performance is our Award 

Presentation Ceremony. It is held annually to boost morale and increase our 

staffôs sense of belonging. 

 

̡

̡

̪2019 ̫

̡ ̢ 

 

 To advocate work-life balance at the Bank and strengthen the bonding 

between departments, we organised a variety of recreational activities during 

the year, such as hiking and bowling for staff and their families. Different sports 

teams have been formed and employees are encouraged to enthusiastically 

participate in various sports competitions organised by the Group, the banking 

industry and Chinese enterprises. In 2019, our team was the champion in the 

ñInterbank Basketball Matchò organised by the Chinese Banksô Association. All 

our team members demonstrated their team spirit and perseverance at these 

events. 

 

  Awards and recognition 

5

̪ ̫ ̨ ̩̪

̫ ̨CTgoodjobs̩

̪ ̫ ̢

̡

̨JobMarket

̩ ̪ ̫

̨CTgoodjobs̩ ̪

̫ ̪ ̫ ̢ 

 

 Our commitment to fulfil our corporate social responsibility has earned us wide 

recognition. The Bank has been named a Caring Company by the Hong Kong 

Council of Social Service for over five consecutive years. The Bank was also 

presented the ñ8th Outstanding Corporate Social Responsibility Awardò and 

the Grand Prize of ñBest Corporate Social Responsibility Awardò by The Mirror 

magazine and CTgoodjobs respectively. In acknowledgement of our diversified 

caring employment practices as well as comprehensive talent recruitment and 

training strategies, we received the ñEmployer of Choice Awardò from 

JobMarket for two years in a row, and also the Gold Prize of ñBest 

Compensation & Benefits Awardò and the "Youth Nurturing Employer Awardò 

from CTgoodjobs and the Labour Department respectively. 
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 Report of the Directors 

̪ ̫ ̪

̫

̪ ̫ 2019 12 31

̪ ̢̫ 

 The Board of Directors (hereinafter referred to as the ñBoardò) of Chiyu 

Banking Corporation Limited (hereinafter referred to as the ñBankò) are 

pleased to present their report together with the audited consolidated 

financial statements of the Bank and its subsidiaries (together with the 

Bank hereinafter referred to as the ñGroupò) for the year ended 31 

December 2019 (hereinafter referred to as the ñFinancial Statementsò). 
 

 

̨ ̩

̢

̢

37̢ 

 

 Principal Activities 

The Bank is a licensed bank authorised under the Hong Kong Banking 

Ordinance. The principal activities of the Group are the provision of 

banking and related financial services. An analysis of the Groupôs 

performance for the year by business segments is set out in Note 37 to 

the Financial Statements. 
 

 

̪

̫ ̪ ˅

̫ ̢ 

 

 Business Review 

For business review of the Group for the year, please refer to the 

ñManagementôs Discussion and Analysisò and ñUnaudited 

Supplementary Financial Information ï Risk Managementò section of 

this annual report. The above section forms part of this report. 
 

  

34 ̢ 

 

 Results and Appropriations  

The results of the Group for the year are set out in the consolidated 

income statement on page 34. 

 

̢ 

 

 No interim dividend was declared during the year.  

2019 12 31

0.2 ̪2019 ̫

̪2019

̫ ̢ 

 

 

 The Board has recommended a final dividend (the ñ2019 Final 

Dividendò) of HK$0.2 per share in respect of the year ended 31 

December 2019. Subject to the approval of the shareholders of the 

Bank at the forthcoming annual general meeting (the ñ2019 AGMò). 

 

 

2018

12 31 2019 1 29 4,000

368,247 368,248 ̢ 

 

 Shares Issued and Subdivision of Shares 
In order to further enhance the capital strength for future development, 

the Bank issued 368,247 and 368,248 ordinary shares on 31 

December 2018 and 29 January 2019 respectively at HK$4,000 each 

to shareholders of the Bank.  

 

2019 5 29

500 (̪ ̫)

2019 5 30 ̢

3,736,495

1,868,247,500 ̢ 

 

 

 At the annual general meeting of the Bank held on 29 May 2019, an 

ordinary resolution has passed, whereas, every existing issued share 

in the share capital of the Bank be subdivided into 500 subdivided 

shares in the share capital of the Bank (the ñShare Subdivisionò) and 

the Share Subdivision was effective on 30 May 2019. After the Share 

Subdivision, the shareholding ratio of shareholders remain unchanged, 

but the total number of issued shares has increased from 3,736,495 

shares to 1,868,247,500. 

 

30̢ 

 

 Details of the share capital of the Bank are set out in Note 30 to the 

Financial Statements. 

 

 

̢2019 10

500

̪ ̢̫

2019

̢

̪

̫  

 Donations 
The Bank spares no effort in organising and sponsoring different 

community activities with a view to fulfilling our corporate social 

responsibility. In October 2019, we facilitated the establishment of the 

Tan Kah Kee Fund Association and the donation of HKD5 million from 

the Fund Association to the Overseas Chinese Charity Foundation of 

China. This move aims to connect the charitable organisations relating 

to Mr Tan Kah Kee from around the world and combine their efforts to 

organise different charitable activities for on-going promotion of ñKah 

Keeôs spiritò. Moreover, in 2019, we were the title sponsor of the two 

events held by the Hong Kong Rope Skipping Club to help raise the 

ability and confidence of students through rope skipping. We remain   
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 Report of the Directors (continued) 

 ( ) 

̡ ̢

60,000  ̢

 Donations (continued) 

committed to supporting the development of local education. It is the 

faith we developed as early as the Bank was established. During the 

year, we sponsored the "9th Hong Kong Student Knowledge Contest 

on China's National Situation". It aimed to help strengthen local 

studentsô skills of independent analysis and critical thinking through 

deepening their understanding of the conditions and history of our 

motherland. Charitable and other donations made by the Group during 

the year amounted to HK$60,000. 
 

 

̪

̫  
 

   

     

                

  * 

  # 

    # 

  # 

  * 

  * 

  * 

  * 2019 2 19  

  

            

 Directors 

The directors of the Bank (hereinafter referred to as the ñDirectorsò) 

during the year and up to date of this report are: 
 

Chairman         Lyu Yaoming   

                   

Vice Chairman Zheng Wei 

Yu Kwok Chun *   

Directors  Tsoi Lai Ha # 

        Chen Cheng # 

 Tan Wan Chye # 

                   Woo Chia Wei *  

 Cheung Wai Hing * 

Lee Hoi Yin, Stephen * 

Chiu Ming Wah* (appointed on 19 February 2019)  

Chan Yiu Fai 

  

#  

*  

 # Non-executive Directors 

* Independent Non-executive Directors  

̢ ̨ ̩

̢ 

 In accordance with the Articles of Association of the Bank, the 

appointment of directors will be approved by ordinary resolution or by 

the decision of the Board of Directors. Approval from the HKMA will 

also be obtained in accordance with the Banking Ordinance. 

 

3 ̢

̢

 ̢

 The term of office for each Director of the Bank is approximately three 

years. All Directors are subject to retirement and re-election at the 

annual general meeting in accordance with the Articles of Association 

of the Bank, and the re-election of retiring directors should be subject 

to the recommendation and review from the Nomination and 

Remuneration Committee and the Board before approval is sought 

from shareholders at the AGM. 

 

24(2) 25

̢ 

 

 In accordance with Articles 24(2) and 25 of the Bankôs Articles of 

Association, Mr. Cheung Wai Hing and Prof. Woo Chia Wei shall retire 

at the forthcoming annual general meeting and, being eligible, offer 

themselves for re-election. 
 

 

 Save for Mr Chan Yiu Fai being also director of certain subsidiaries of 

the Bank, other directors of the subsidiaries of the Bank during the year 

and up to date of this report are: 

 

 

   

 

Don Wayne Ebanks ( 2019 2 22 ) 

Wong Wai Shan ( 2019 2 22 ) 

 ( 2019 2 22 ) 

   ( 2019 11 19 ) 

 ( 2019 11 19 ) 

 ( 2019 12 12 ) 

 ( 2019 12 12 ) 

 Fung Chi Lap  

Wong Siu Man 

Tang Chu, Leonard 

Kwong Kei Man 

Don Wayne Ebanks (appointed on 22 February 2019) 

Wong Wai Shan (appointed on 22 February 2019) 

Lee Yuen Hung Kevin (appointed on 22 February 2019) 

Ye Xin (appointed on 19 November 2019) 

Liu Xiaoji (appointed on 19 November 2019) 

Shen Chengjie (appointed on 12 December 2019) 

Chan Chun Him (resigned on 12 December 2019) 
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 Report of the Directors (continued) 

̡   Directorsô Interests in Transactions, Arrangements 

or Contracts 

̡

̡

̡ ̢ 

 
No transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance, in relation 

to the Groupôs business to which the Bank or any of its holding 

companies, subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party and in which 

a Director or his/her connected entity had a material interest, whether 

directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time 

during the year. 
 

 

̢ 

 Management Contracts 

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the 

whole or any substantial part of the business of the Bank were entered 

into or existed during the year. 

 

 

̡

̢ 

 

 Directorsô Rights to Acquire Shares or Debentures 

At no time during the year was the Bank or any of its holding 

companies, subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries a party to any 

arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of 

the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Bank or any other 

body corporate. 
 

 

̢

̢ 

 Permitted Indemnity Provision 

Pursuant to the Articles of Association of the Bank, every Director shall 

be indemnified out of funds of the Bank against all liability incurred by 

him/her as Director. The Bank has maintained insurance for the benefit 

of Directors against liability which may lawfully be incurred by the 

Bank. 

 

̨ ̩ 

̨ ̩ ̨

̩ ̢ 

 Compliance with the Banking (Disclosure) Rules 

This annual report complies with the applicable requirements set out in 

the Banking (Disclosure) Rules under the Hong Kong Banking 

Ordinance. 

 

 

2019 2019

̢ 

 Auditor 

The financial statements for the year 2019 have been audited by 

KPMG who will retire and offer themselves for re-appointment at the 

2019 AGM. 

 

 
 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 
 

 

2020 4 24  

 On behalf of the Board 

 

 

Lyu Yaoming  

Chairman 

Hong Kong, 24 April 2020 
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 Biographical Details of Directors 

  Board of Directors 

 

 

2017 3

̢

̡

̢

̡ 1997

12 ̡

̡ 2012 12

̡

2018 5 ̢ 

 
Mr. LYU Yaoming 

Chairman and Executive Director 

PhD in Economics, Senior Economist, was appointed as the Chairman and is a 

member of the Strategy and Corporate Governance Committee of the Bank. 

Currently, Mr. Lyu serves as Vice Chairman of the Board of Xiamen International 

Bank Co., Ltd., Chairman of the Board of Luso International Banking Limited, 

Director of Xiamen International Investment Limited, Deputy Director of Institute 

of Finance, Xiamen University. Mr. Lyu had successively served as Branch 

Manager of Fuzhou Branch of the Industrial and Commercial Bank of China, 

Deputy Branch Head of Fujian Branch of Industrial and Commercial Bank of 

China. Since December 1997, Mr. Lyu had successively held the posts of 

Executive Director, Vice Executive President and President of Xiamen 

International Bank. Mr. Lyu serves as the Vice Chairman and President of 

Xiamen International Bank Co., Ltd. since December 2012, and resigned from 

the post of President in May 2018. 
 

 

 

2017 3

2017

6

̢

̡ ( )̢ 2007 7

2017 2

̢

̡ ̡

̡ ̡

̢ 

 

 
Mr. ZHENG Wei 

Vice Chairman, Executive Director and Chief Executive 

Holds a Bachelorôs degree in Economics from the Xiamen University and is a 

senior economist, was appointed the Vice Chairman and an Executive Director 

of the Bank in March 2017 and was appointed the Chief Executive of the Bank in 

June 2017 and is a member of the Strategy and Corporate Governance 

Committee and the Risk Management Committee. Mr. Zheng is an Executive 

Director and Vice President of Xiamen International Bank. Mr. Zheng was the 

Deputy General Manager of Xiamen International Bank and the General 

Manager of the Shanghai Branch of Xiamen International Bank from July 2007 

to February 2017. Mr. Zheng had also previously served Xiamen International 

Bank as the Deputy Manager of the Credit Department, the Deputy Manager 

and Manager of the Credit Management Department, the General Manager of 

the Zhuhai Branch and the Assistant General Manager of Xiamen International 

Bank. 
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 Biographical Details of Directors (continued) 

  Board of Directors (continued) 

 

 

MacQuarie University

̡

̡

2002 4

2018 12

̢

̢

̡

̡

̡

̡ ̡

̡

̡ ̡

̡

̡

̡ ̢

̡

̡

̡

̡ ̡

̡

̢ 1998

̡1999 ̡2006 2019

̢ 

 

 
Mr. YU Kwok Chun 

Vice Chairman and Independent Non-executive Director 

Holds a Bachelorôs degree in Commerce from the MacQuarie University, 

Honorary University Fellow of the Hong Kong Polytechnic University and the 

Hong Kong Baptist University and Honorary Doctor of Business Administration 

of the City University of Hong Kong, he was appointed Independent 

Non-executive Director of the Bank in April 2002 and appointed as Vice 

Chairman in December 2018. He is also the Chairman of the Strategy and 

Corporate Governance  Committee and a member of the Audit Committee of 

the Bank.  Mr. Yu is Chairman of the Yue Hwa Group and Chairman of Yue 

Hwa Chinese Products Emporium Limited.  Mr. Yu is active in various social 

services in Hong Kong as well as in the PRC.  Mr. Yu is Executive Member of 

the National Committee of The 13th Chinese National Peopleôs Political 

Consultative Conference and Vice Chairman of All-China Federation of 

Returned Overseas Chinese. He is Member of the Advisory Committee of the 

Hong Kong Polytechnic University, Founding Chairman and First President of 

the Federation of Hong Kong Guangdong Community Organizations Limited,  

Permanent Honorary Chairman and Vice Chairman of Friends of Hong Kong 

Association Limited, Principal Chairman of The Hong Kong Federation of 

Overseas Chinese Associations, Committee Member of The Chinese General 

Chamber of Commerce, Permanent Honorary Advisor of the Hong Kong 

Meizhou Federation, Honorary Chairman of the Hong Kong Overseas Chinese 

General Association, Permanent Honorary President of Ka Ying Chow 

Commercial Association Limited, Permanent Honorary President and Founding 

Chairman of the Unified Association of Kowloon West Limited, and Honorary 

President of the Hong Kong and Kowloon General Merchandise Merchantsô 

Association Limited.  Mr. Yu is the Vice President of Overseas Exchange 

Association of Guangdong Province, Vice Honorary President of the 

Guangdong, Hong Kong and Macau Cooperation Promotion Association of 

Guangdong Province, Director and Vice Chairman of the Board of the Jinan 

University, Guangzhou, Vice President of the Jinan University Education and 

Foundation Fund Limited, Guangzhou, Honorary President of the Board of 

Directors of Jiaying University, Meizhou, Guangdong Province, Vice Chairman 

of the Board of Directors of Beijing Chinese Language and Culture College, and 

Director of the First Board of Advisory Directors of Sun Yat Sen University, 

Guangzhou.  Mr. Yu was awarded the honour of Justice of the Peace, Silver 

Bauhinia Star, Gold Bauhinia Star and Grand Bauhinia Medal by the 

Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region successively in 

1998, 1999, 2006 and 2019. 

 

 

 

̡ ̡ CFP
CM

2017 3

̢

1995 6 2013 5

1984 1995 4

̡Asian Oceanic Group

̡Mbf Asia Capital Corporation Holding 

Ltd. ̢ 

 

 
Ms. TSOI Lai Ha  

Non-executive Director 

Holds a Bachelorôs degree in Management Accounting from Hong Kong 

Polytechnic University, fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified 

Public Accountants and a Chartered Global Management Accountant and 

Certified Financial Planner, was appointed as a Non-executive Director of the 

Bank in March 2017 and is also a member of the Audit Committee and the 

Nomination and Remuneration Committee. Ms. Tsoi is the Chief Financial 

Officer of Xiamen International Bank. From June 1995 to May 2013, Ms. Tsoi 

served Xiamen International Bank as Group Financial Controller. Prior to joining 

Xiamen International Bank, she was Manager at the Financial Planning 

Department of Nanyang Commercial Bank, Deputy Manager of the Accounting 

Department of Asian Oceanic Group and Group Financial Controller of Mbf Asia 

Capital Corporation Holding Ltd. 
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 Biographical Details of Directors (continued) 

  Board of Directors (continued) 

 

 

2017

5 ̢

2008 10 ̢

1982 1989

1989 2 1996 9

1996 9

2005 11  ̢

 

 
Mr. CHEN Cheng  

Non-executive Director 

Graduated from the Hunan Changsha Third Artillery Academy majoring in 

Communications and has completed a degree in Economics and Management 

at the Party School of the Central Committee of the Communist Party of China, 

he was appointed a Non-executive Director of the Bank in May 2017. Mr. Chen 

is the Vice Director of the Committee of Jimei Schools and has been the Curator 

of Tan Kah Kee Museum since October 2008. He was an Officer at the Nanjing 

Military Region from 1982 to 1989. Mr. Chen was the Head of the Fourth Office 

of the Xiamen Municipal Government from February 1989 to September 1996. 

Since September 1996, Mr. Chen had been the Vice Principal of the Economy 

Department of the Xiamen Chamber of Commerce, until November 2005.  

 

 

1982 6

̢

̢

( )̡ (

) ̡ (

) ( )

̢

̢ ̡

̢ ̡

̢

̢ 

 

 
Mr. TAN Wan Chye  

Non-executive Director 

Holds a Bachelor of Engineering Degree from Manchester College of Science 

and Technology, University of Manchester, England and a Post Graduate 

Diploma in Industrial Administration, he was appointed a Non-executive Director 

of the Bank in June 1982. He is also a member of the Strategy and Corporate 

Governance Committee and the Audit Committee of the Bank. Mr. Tan is the 

largest individual shareholder of the Bank and is the son of Mr. Tan Kong Piat, 

the former Chairman of the Bank. Mr. Tan is the Chairman of Tan Kong Piat (Pte) 

Ltd, which is a holding company, Tan Kong Piat & Co Pte Ltd, which is an 

investment trading company, Asia Industrial Development (Pte) Ltd and Asia 

Property Development (Pte) Ltd, which are both property development 

companies. He had previously served as a Director of the following companies 

importing Chinese canned food and herb, Chung Nam Company (Pte) Ltd, Bin 

Hong Co Pte Ltd, Tiong Wan Pte Ltd and Nam Leong Co Sdn Bhd. He took part 

in the design & construction of Central Power Stations in England and 

Singapore. He is a Chartered Engineer, a Member of the Institute of Mechanical 

Engineers, England, and a Member of Institute of Engineers, Singapore. Mr. Tan 

is active in the charitable activities in Singapore. He is a board member of 

Buddhist Lodge Education Foundation, a board member of Mee Toh School, a 

Trustee of Kwan Im Thong Hood Cho Temple and Mee Toh Foundation, they 

distribute donations that amount to millions of Singaporean Dollars to schools, 

hospitals and charitable organisations.  

 

 

 

2002 4

̢

̢

̡ ̡

̢ ( )

̡

Chevalier de la 

Legion dɻHonneur̢ 

 
Prof. WOO Chia-Wei 

Independent Non-executive Director 

Holds a Masterôs Degree and a PhD in Physics from Washington University in 

St. Louis in the United States, he was appointed an Independent Non-executive 

Director of the Bank in April 2002. He is also a member of the Nomination and 

Remuneration Committee of the Bank. Prof. Woo is also the Senior Advisor to 

Shui On Holdings Limited and the President Emeritus of the Hong Kong 

University of Science and Technology, an Independent Non-executive Director 

of each of Shanghai Industrial Holdings Limited and First Shanghai Investments 

Limited. Prof. Woo was previously the President, Provost, Department Head, 

and a Professor of several prominent universities in the United States of 

America. Prof. Woo was awarded the Gold Bauhinia Star by the Government of 

Hong Kong, the Commander of the Most Excellent Order of the British Empire 

by the United Kingdom, as well as Chevalier de la Legion dôHonneur by the 

President of France.  
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 Biographical Details of Directors (continued) 

  Board of Directors (continued) 

 

 

2006 11

̢

̡

̢

̡ (

)

̢ 

 

 
Mr. CHEUNG Wai Hing 

Independent Non-executive Director 

LLB (Hon.), HKU, he was appointed an Independent Non-executive Director of 

the Bank in November 2006. He is also the Chairman of the Nomination and 

Remuneration Committee and a member of the Audit Committee of the Bank. 

Mr. Cheung is a senior partner of Woo Kwan Lee & Lo, Solicitors and the Head 

of its Litigation Department. Mr. Cheung is currently the Chairman of Applied 

Research Council of the HKSAR Government. He also serves as the Honarary 

Legal Advisor of Po Leung Kuk, The Hong Kong Tuberculosis, Chest and Heart 

Diseases Association and Wai Yin Association. He is a member of Po Leung 

Kuk Youth Oasis Preparatory Consultative Committee and panel member of the 

Disciplinary Committee of Association for China-Appointed Attesting Officers 

Limited. Mr. Cheung is a trustee of The D. H. Chen Foundation and was a 

trustee of the Association for Celebration of Reunification of Hong Kong with 

China Charitable Trust until the winding up of its operation. Mr. Cheung is a 

practising solicitor in Hong Kong and qualified to practise in England and Wales, 

Australia (Victoria) and Singapore. He is also a China-Appointed Attesting 

Officer and a Civil Celebrant of Marriages of the Government of Hong Kong. 

 

 

 

2013 11

̢

30 ̡

̡

̢

2011

̢

̡

̢ 

 
Mr. LEE Hoi Yin, Stephen  

Independent Non-executive Director 

Awarded a Bachelor of Arts (Hons) degree in Accountancy from City of London 

Polytechnic, a Fellow Member of The Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public 

Accountants and of The Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and 

Wales, and an Associate Member of The Institute of Internal Auditors, he was 

appointed an Independent Non-Executive Director of the Bank in November 

2013. He is also the Chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of the Risk 

Management Committee of the Bank.  Mr. Lee has over 30 yearsɻ experience 

in accounting, auditing and financial management, at KPMG in London and 

Hong Kong.  He was an audit partner of KPMG Hong Kong before becoming 

the Partner-in-Charge of the Risk & Compliance Advisory practices of KPMG in 

respect of Hong Kong, the PRC and the Asia Pacific region.  He retired from 

KPMG in 2011,and is currently serving as an Adjunct Associate Professor at The 

Chinese University of Hong Kong and as Immediate Past President of The 

Institute of Internal Auditors Hong Kong Limited.  He is a Non-executive 

Director of the Board of the Financial Reporting Council of Hong Kong and an 

Independent Director of Prime Property Fund Asia GP Pte Limited. 

. 

 

 

(

) 2000 2014

2019 2

̢

2001 2014

̢ 2013 2017

̢ 

 

 
Mr. CHIU Ming Wah 

Independent Non-executive Director 

Awarded a Bachelor of Business Administration in Accounting from Lincoln 

University, U.S.A and was a Certified Fraud Examiner (CFE) during 2000 to 

2014. Mr. Chiu was appointed an Independent Non-executive Director of the 

Bank in February 2019. He is also the Chairman of the Risk Management 

Committee of the Bank. He is at present a Non-executive Director of Shanghai 

Electric Hong Kong Co. Ltd. During 2001 to 2014, he was the Head of Audit 

(General Manager) of Bank of China (HK) Limited as well as a Non-executive 

Director and the Chairman of the Audit Committee of Chiyu Bank. He was 

member of the Shenyang Chinese National Peopleôs Political Consultative 

Conference during 2013 to 2017 and successively been a member of the 

National Peopleôs Congress Election Committee of Hong Kong. 
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 Biographical Details of Directors (continued) 

  Board of Directors (continued) 

 

 

2003 3

2002 12

( )

̢

1981 2001

̡ ̡

̡ ̡

2001 10

̢ 

 
Mr. CHAN Yiu Fai 

Executive Director and Deputy Chief Executive 

Holds a Bachelorôs Degree in Business Administration from The Chinese 

University of Hong Kong and a Masterôs Degree in Corporate Governance from 

The Open University of Hong Kong, he was appointed an Executive Director of 

the Bank in March 2003 and as the Deputy Chief Executive (formerly known as 

Deputy General Manager) of the Bank in December 2002. Presently he is 

mainly responsible for the business support and internal control functions of the 

Bank. Between 1981 and 2001, Mr. Chan had served in the Hua Chiao 

Commercial Bank in various positions as the Branch Manager, the Head of 

Business Development Department, China Business Department, Strategic 

Planning Department and Project Research Department. He was the Head of 

the Mainland Branch Business Department of Bank of China (Hong Kong) 

Limited after the merger of BOCHK Group in October 2001.  
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 Corporate Governance 

̪ ̫ CG-1

̪ ̫

̡

̢ 

 During the year, the Bank has followed the guidelines as set out in the 

Supervisory Policy Manual CG-1 entitled ñCorporate Governance of Locally 

Incorporated Authorised Institutionsò issued by The Hong Kong Monetary 

Authority (hereinafter referred to as the ñHKMAò). The Bank is committed to 

maintaining the highest corporate governance standards and considers such 

commitment essential in balancing the interests of shareholders, customers 

and employees; and in upholding accountability and transparency. 

 

 
 

Board of Directors (ñBoardò) and the Senior 
Management 
 

̡

̢ 11

̢ 3

8 ̢ 8

5

̢

4

95%̢

̢

̢ ̡

̡

4

̢

 

 The Board is responsible for setting objectives and formulating long term 

strategies as well as managing the Groupôs overall business. It currently 

comprises eleven Directors with a variety of different experience and 

professionalism. Among them, three are Executive Directors, remaining eight 

are Non-executive Directors. Of the eight Non-executive Directors, five are 

Independent Non-executive Directors whose indispensable function is to 

provide independent scrutiny. The Board meets regularly and four board 

meetings were held in the year with an average attendance rate of 95%. The 

Board authorises the Senior Management to implement the strategies as 

approved by the Board. The Senior Management is responsible for the 

day-to-day operations of the Group and reports to the Board. Senior 

Management implements important policies and develops strategies as 

adopted by the Board.  In order to focus on strategic and material issues that 

have significant impact on the Groupôs operation, financial performance, risk 

management and long-term development, four committees have been 

established under the Board to oversee the major areas of the Group. Details 

of the committees are given below: 
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 Corporate Governance (continued) 

  Strategy and Corporate Governance Committee 
(ñSCò) 
 

 

 

 The SC assists the Board in performing the following duties in respect of the 

strategy management and corporate governance of the Group:  

- ̡ ̡

̡ ̡

̡ ̡

 

 ɾ study and formulate the Group's development strategy, business objectives, 

risk management strategy, capital management strategy, human resource 

management strategy, technology development strategy, organisation and 

new business development strategy and medium and long-term 

development plan;   

 

- 

 

 ɾ review and evaluate the implementation process of strategies; make 

proposal on strategic adjustments in accordance with the changes in the 

business environment; 

 

- 

 

 

 ɾ exercise decision making and monitoring power on behalf of the Board 

during the period between the Board meetings; 

 

- 

 

 

 ɾ recommend on the setup plan proposed by senior management;  

- 

 

 

 ɾ monitor corporate governance system, evaluate regularly and make 

suggestions to improve the corporate governance of the Group; and 

- ̡

̢ 

 ɾ check the implementation of the Group's annual business plan and major 

investment plans, make recommendations on major investment projects of 

the Bank, and report to the board of directors for consideration and 

approval. 

 

 

 The members of SC during the year and up to date of the Report of the 

Directors are: 

 

   Mr Yu Kwok Chun (Chairman)   

   Mr Lyu Yaoming  

    Mr Tan Wan Chye  

     Mr Zheng Wei  

     

̢

̢

4 94%̢ 

 All of them are Directors of the Bank. Among them, Mr Yu Kwok Chun is 

Independent Non-executive Director. Four SC meetings were held in the year 

with an attendance rate of 94%.   
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 Corporate Governance (continued) 

  Audit Committee (ñACò) 

 

 

 The AC assists the Board in fulfilling its oversight role over the Group in the 

following areas: 

-  

 

 ɾ integrity of financial statements and financial reporting process; 

-  

 

 ɾ internal control systems; 

- 

 

 

 ɾ effectiveness of internal audit function and performance appraisal of the 

General Manager of Audit Department; 

- 

 

 

 ɾ appointment of external auditor and assessment of its qualification, 

independence and performance; 

-  

 

 ɾ periodic review and annual audit of the Groupôs financial statements; 

 

- 

 

 

 ɾ compliance with applicable accounting standards as well as legal and 

regulatory requirements on financial disclosures; and 

- ̢ 

 
 ɾ corporate governance framework of the Group and implementation thereof. 

 

 

 The members of AC during the year and up to date of the Report of the 

Directors are: 

 

   Mr Lee Hoi Yin, Stephen (Chairman)  

   Mr Cheung Wai Hing  

   Mr Tan Wan Chye  

   Mr Yu Kwok Chun  

   Ms Tsoi Lai Ha  

   

̡

̢ 4

95%̢ 

 

All of them are Non-executive Directors of the Bank. Among them, Mr Lee Hoi 

Yin, Stephen, Mr Cheung Wai Hing and Mr Yu Kwok Chun are Independent 

Non-executive Directors. Four AC meetings were held in the year with an 

attendance rate of 95%. 
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 Corporate Governance (continued) 

  Risk Management Committee (ñRCò) 

 
 

 The RC assists the Board in performing the following duties in respect of the 

risk management of the Group: 

 

-  

 

 ɾ formulation of the risk appetite and risk management strategy of the Group; 

 

-  

 

 ɾ monitoring of various types of risks faced by the Group; 

-  

 

 ɾ review and monitoring of the changes in the Groupôs risk profile; 

 

- ̡

̡  

 

 ɾ review and monitoring of the Groupôs compliance with the risk management 

policies, system, internal control procedures and regulatory requirements; 

 

- 

 

 

 ɾ review and approval of significant risk-related policies and risk limits of the 

Group; and 

 

- ̢  ɾ review of risk-related information submitted by the Group. 

   

 

 

 The members of RC during the year and up to date of the Report of the 

Directors are: 

 

 ( ) 2019 2 19

 

 Mr Chiu Ming Wah (Chairman) (appointed on 19 February 2019) 

   Mr Lee Hoi Yin, Stephen  

     Mr Zheng Wei  

 2019 2 19

) 

 Mr Yu Kwok Chun (resigned as Chairman and member on 19 

February 2019) 

                                                   

̢

4 100%̢ 

 All of them are Directors of the Bank. Among them, Mr Chiu Ming Wah and Mr. 

Lee Hoi Yin, Stephen are Independent Non-executive Directors. Four RC 

meetings were held in the year with an attendance rate of 100%. 
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 Corporate Governance (continued) 

  Nomination and Remuneration Committee (ñNRCò) 

 

 The NRC assists the Board in performing the duties in respect of the Group 

in the following areas: 

 

- ̡

 

 ɾ human resources strategy, remuneration strategy and incentive 

framework of the Group, 

 

-  

 

 ɾ group governance and bank culture promotion, 

- ̡ ̡

 

 ɾ selection, nomination and appointment of Directors, Board Committee 

members and senior Management, 

 

- ̡ ̡

̡  

 ɾ structure, size and composition (including skills, experience and 

knowledge) of the Board and Board Committees, 

 

- ̡ ̡

 

 ɾ remuneration of Directors, Board Committee members, Senior 

Management and Key Personnel,  

 

-   ɾ effectiveness of the Board and Board Committees, and 

 

- ̢ 

 

 ɾ training and continuous professional development of Directors and 

Senior Management. 

 

 

 The members of the NRC during the year and up to date of the Report of the 

Directors are: 

   Mr Cheung Wai Hing (Chairman)  

   Ms Tsoi Lai Ha  

   Mr Woo Chia Wei  

   

̢

̢

3 100%̢  

 All of them are Non-executive Directors of the Bank. Among them, Mr 

Cheung Wai Hing and Mr Woo Chia Wei are Independent Non-executive 

Directors. Three NRC meetings were held during the year with an 

attendance rate of 100%. 

 

 

 Major tasks performed during the year (included the approval, review and 

proposal to the Board): 

- 

 

 

 ɾ review the amendment and formulation on the major human resources 

and remuneration policies; 

- 2018

2019  

 

 ɾ review on the performance appraisal result and bonus payment for the 

year 2018 and the proposal on the salary adjustment for the year 2019 of 

the Senior Management and Key Personnel, 

 

- ̨ ̩

 

 

 ɾ proposal on the Annual Review of the Four Type of Staff as delineated in 

the ñGuideline on a Sound Remuneration Systemò of HKMA,  

 

- /

̢

 

 

 ɾ review on the change of Senior Management/Key Personnel of the Bank, 

members of the Board of Directors and their remuneration package. 

Review on the appointment of an Independent and non-executive 

Director as the Vice Chairman of the Bank and Chairman of the Strategy 

and Corporate Governance Committee, and review on the change of 

Chairman of the Bank from Non-Executive Director to Executive Director, 

 

- 

 

 

 ɾ review on the adjustment of organization chart and the reallocation of job 

duties among Senior Management due to the change of its members, 

- 2019

KPI  

 

 ɾ review on the 2019 KPI framework of Senior Management and Key 

Personnel of the Bank, and 

 

- ̢  ɾ review on the proposal for the build up of the bank culture of the Group. 
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 Corporate Governance (continued) 

  Remuneration and Incentive Mechanism  

̪ ̫ ̪

̫

̢ 

 

 The Remuneration and Incentive Mechanism of the Group is based on the 

principles of ñeffective motivationò and ñsound remuneration managementò. 

It links remuneration with performance and risk factors closely. It serves to 

encourage staff to enhance their performance and, at the same time, to 

strengthen their awareness of risk so as to achieve sound remuneration 

management. 

 

̨

̩

̢ 

 

 The Remuneration and Incentive Policy of the Group is generally in line with 

the board principles set out in the HKMAôs ñGuideline on a Sound 

Remuneration Systemò and applicable to the Bank and all of its subsidiaries 

(including the branches and institutions within and outside Hong Kong). 

1.   1. Senior Management and Key Personnel 

̨

̩ ̪ ̫ ̪

̫  

 

 The following groups of employees have been identified as the ñSenior 

Managementò and ñKey Personnelò as defined in the HKMAôs ñGuideline 

on a Sound Remuneration Systemò:  

 

- ̪ ̫

̡ ̡ ̡

̢ 

 

 ɾ ñSenior Managementò: The senior executives designated by the 

Board who are responsible for oversight of the bank-wide strategy or 

material business lines, including Executive Directors, Chief 

Executive, Deputy Chief Executives, Chief Risk Officer and Chief 

Financial Officer. 

 

- ̪ ̫

̡

̡

̢ 

 

 ɾ ñKey Personnelò: The employees whose individual business activities 

involve the assumption of material risk which may have significant 

impact on risk exposure, or whose individual responsibilities are 

directly and materially linked to the risk management, or those who 

have direct influence to the profit, including General Managers of 

material business lines, General Manager of Financial Markets 

Department, as well as General Managers of risk control functions. 

 

2.   2. Determination of the Remuneration Policy 

̡ ̡

̡

̢

̢ 

 

 To fulfil the above-mentioned principles and to facilitate effective risk 

management within the framework of the Remuneration Policy of the 

Group, Human Resources Department is responsible for proposing the 

Remuneration Policy of the Group and will seek consultation from the 

risk control units including risk management, financial management and 

compliance if necessary, in order to balance the needs for staff 

motivations, sound remuneration and prudent risk management. The 

proposed remuneration strategy and planning is submitted to the 

Nomination and Remuneration Committee for review and thereafter to 

the Board for approval. 

 

3.   3. Key Features of the Remuneration and Incentive Mechanism  

(1)   (1) Performance Management Mechanism 

̡

̢

̡

̡

̢ 

 

 The Group has put in place a performance management mechanism 

to formalise the performance management at the levels of the Group, 

units and individuals. For individual staff at different levels, annual 

targets of the Group will be tied to their job requirements through the 

performance management mechanism. Performance of individuals 

will be appraised on their achievement against targets, their 

contribution towards performance of their units, fulfilment of risk 

management duties, execution of the bank culture and compliance. 

Not only is target accomplishment taken into account, but the risk 

exposure involved during the course of work and their core value 

could also be evaluated and managed, ensuring security and normal 

operation of the Group. 
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 Corporate Governance (continued) 

  Remuneration and Incentive Mechanism 
(continued) 
 

3.   3. Key Features of the Remuneration and Incentive Mechanism 
(continued) 

(2)   (2) Risk Adjustment of Remuneration 

̡

̡ ̡ ̡ ̡

̡

̢ 

 

 To put the principle of aligning performance and remuneration with 

risk into practice, based on the risk adjustment method of the Group, 

the key risk modifiers of the Bank have been incorporated into the 

performance management mechanism. Credit risk, market risk, 

interest rate risk, liquidity risk, operational risk, legal risk, compliance 

risk and reputation risk form the framework of the risk adjustment 

method. 
 

(3)   (3) Risk-adjusted Remuneration Management  

̪ ̫ ̪ ̫

̢

̡ ̡

̢

/

̢ 

 

 The remuneration of staff is composed of ñfixed remunerationò and 

ñvariable remunerationò. The proportion of one to the other for 

individual staff members depends on job grades, roles, 

responsibilities and functions of the staff with the prerequisite that 

balance has to be struck between the fixed and variable portion, so 

as to encourage the staff to follow the philosophy of prudent risk 

management and sound long-term financial stability. Generally 

speaking, the higher the grading / responsibility of the individual staff, 

the bigger the portion of variable pay will be in his/her total 

remuneration. 

 

 ̢

 

 As mentioned above, performance assessment criteria include 

quantitative and qualitative factors, as well as financial and 

non-financial indicators. 

 

̡

̢ 

 

 
The size of the Variable Remuneration Pool of the Bank is 

determined by the Board of the Bank on the basis of its financial 

performance and the achievement of non-financial strategic business 

targets under the long-term development of the Group. Thorough 

consideration is also made to the risk factors in the determination 

process.  

 

̢

̢

 ̢

 

 
As far as individual units and individual staff are concerned, allocation 

of the variable remuneration is closely linked to the performance of 

the units, and that of each individual staff as well as the unit he/she is 

attached to, and the assessment of which should include risk 

modifiers. The performance and remuneration arrangement of risk 

control personnel are determined by the achievement of their core job 

responsibilities, which is independent from the business they 

oversee; for front-line risk controllers, a cross-departmental reporting 

and performance management system is applied to ensure the 

suitability of performance-based remuneration. The better the 

performance of the Department and the individual staff, the higher will 

be the variable remuneration for the individual staff. 

 

(4) 

 

 (4) Linking the payout of the variable remuneration with the time 
horizon of the risk to reflect the long-term value creation of the 
Group 

̢

̢ 3

̢ 

 
To work out the principle of aligning remuneration with the time 

horizon of risk and to ensure that sufficient time is allowed to 

ascertain the associated risk and its impact before the actual payout, 

payout of the variable remuneration of staff is required to be deferred 

in cash if such amount reaches certain prescribed threshold. The 

Group adopts a progressive approach towards deferral. The higher 

the job grade of the individual staff, the higher will be the proportion of 

deferral. Deferral period lasts for 3 years. 
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 Corporate Governance (continued) 

  Remuneration and Incentive Mechanism 
(continued) 
 

3.   3. Key Features of the Remuneration and Incentive Mechanism 
(continued) 

(4) 

 

 (4) Linking the payout of the variable remuneration with the time 
horizon of the risk to reflect the long-term value creation of the 
Group (continued) 

̢

3

̢

̡

̡

̢ 

 The vesting of the deferred variable remuneration is linked with the 

long-term value creation of the Group. The vesting conditions are 

linked to the yearly performance (financial and non-financial) of the 

Group in the next 3 years and the bahavior of the individual staff to 

the effect that the variable remuneration could only be vested to such 

extent as set for the relevant year in that 3-year period subject to the 

condition that the Groupôs performance has met the threshold 

requirement in the corresponding year. In case of material revision of 

the original estimates of the performance of the Group or individual 

units, or if a staff is found to commit fraud, or found to be of 

malfeasance or in violation of internal control policies, the unvested 

portion of the deferred variable remuneration of the relevant staff will 

be forfeited. 

 

̢ 

 Compared with the previous years, there was no material change in 

the nature and type of above mentioned measures during the year, so 

it had no significant influence on the remuneration system of the 

Bank. 

 

4.   4. Annual Review of Remuneration Policy 

(1) ̡

̡

̢ 

 (1) The Remuneration Policy of the Group is subject to annual review 

with reference to changes on external regulatory requirements, 

market conditions, organisational structure and risk management 

requirements, etc. 

 

(2) ̨ ̨̩

̩

̪ ̫ ̪

̫ ̢ 

 

 (2) The review on the ñRemuneration and Incentive Policyò and ñVariable 

Remuneration Management Policyò of the Bank have been 

conducted during the year,  so as to  demonstrate the important 

message of human resources strategy by giving the balance of 

ñeffective incentiveò and ñprudent remuneration managementò, which 

is in line with HKMA guidance.  

 

(3) 

̨ ̩ ̪

̫ ̪ ̫

̢ 

 (3) Based on the latest organization structure and the business strategy 

of the Bank, the identification criteria & position lists of the ñSenior 

Managementò and ñKey Personnelò and etc., as delineated in the 

ñGuideline on a Sound Remuneration Systemò, were also reviewed. 

 

5.   5. Disclosure on Remuneration 

̨

̩

̢ 

 

 The Group has fully complied with the guideline in Part 3 of the 

ñGuideline on a Sound Remuneration Systemò issued by the HKMA to 

disclose information in relation to our remuneration and incentive 

mechanism. 
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( ̪ )̫ 34 187 ̪ ̫ ̪

̫ ̡

̡ ̢ 

 

̨ ̩  

̨ ̩ ̢ 

 

 

̨ ̩ ̢ ̪

̫ ̢ ̨ ̩( ̪ ̫)  

̢ ̢ 

 

 

̢
̢ ̢ 

 

 

2.14̡4.1̡11  22 

  

 

76,066,959,000 629,243,000

̢ 34% ̢ 

 

 
- 

̡
̡ ̡
̡ ̡ ̡

 
 

̢ 
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̢  
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̡ ̡
 

 

̢ 
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̢
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̢
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2.14̡4.1̡11  22 

  

̢ 

- ̡

̢

̢

(
) ̡  

 

̡
̡

̢
̢ 

- 

̢

 
 

 

 

 ̢
̡ ̢ 

- 

 

 

̢ ̡ ̡

̡
̢

̡ ̢ ̡

̢ 

 

- 

12

  

̡
 

̢ 

 

- 

 

 - 

̨ ̩ ̢ 
 

 

2.12̡5.1̡21  23 

  

 ̢ 

45,388,156,000

̡

6,966,205,000 ̡ 38,394,768,000 27,183,000

̢ 

 

 

-  
̡  

 

̢
̢

̢ 

 

- 

̡
̢

̡
 

 

̢ 

-  
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̢ 
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 - 

 

 ̢
̡  

 

 - 

̨ ̩  
̢ 

  

 

̢ ̢ 

̢ 

̢  

̢ ̢ 

 
 

̨ ̩ ̨ ̩

̢ 

 

  ̢ 

 ̢ 

 
 

̢ ̨ ̩ 405 ̢ ̢

̢ 

̨ ̩ ̢

̢   

̨ ̩ ̢  
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̢ ̡ ̡ ̡
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- ̢ 
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- ̢

 ̢

̢ ̢

̢  ̢ 

- ̡ ̢ 

-  ̡ ̢  

̡ ̢ ̢ 

̡ ̡

̢ 

̢ 

̢

̢ 

 (Fong Hoi Wan)̢ 
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Independent Auditorôs Report 
 

 

 
Independent auditorôs report to the members of 
Chiyu Banking Corporation Limited 

(Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability) 

 
Opinion 

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Chiyu Banking Corporation Limited (ñthe Bankò) and its subsidiaries (ñthe 

Groupò) set out on pages 34 to 187, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2019, the 

consolidated income statement, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in 

equity and the consolidated cash flow statement for the year then ended and notes to the consolidated financial statements, 

including a summary of significant accounting policies. 

 

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as 

at 31 December 2019 and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in 

accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (ñHKFRSsò) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public 

Accountants (ñHKICPAò) and have been properly prepared in compliance with the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. 

 

Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing (ñHKSAsò) issued by the HKICPA.  Our 

responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditorôs responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated 

financial statements section of our report.  We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPAôs Code of Ethics for 

Professional Accountants (ñthe Codeò) and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.  We 

believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

 
Key audit matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated 

financial statements of the current period.  These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial 

statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. 

 

Impairment allowances of advances to customers 

 
Refer to notes 2.14, 4.1, 11 and 22 to the consolidated financial statements. 

 
Key audit matter How the matter was addressed in our audit 

The Groupôs advances to customers as at 31 December 2019 

amounted to HK$76,066,959,000, net of total expected credit 

losses (ñECLò) of HK$629,243,000. 34% of the Groupôs 

advances to customers related to exposures in Mainland 

China. 

 

Our audit procedures to assess the impairment allowances of 

advances to customers measured at amortised cost included 

the following: 

ï understanding and assessing the design, implementation 

and operating effectiveness of key internal controls on 

financial reporting over the approval, recording and 

monitoring and restructuring of loans measured at 

amortised cost, the credit grading process, the ECL model 

enhancement, approval, monitoring, governance and 

validation process, and the measurement of impairment 

allowances; 

 

Impairment allowances of advances to customers across the 

banking industry continue to be an area of concern and 

elevated focus due to the uncertain global economic outlook. 

 

ï evaluating the accuracy of the classification of advances 

to customers. We obtained information on how 

management applied the classification requirements of the 

financial instruments standard and the classification 

results and on a sample basis we assessed the 

contractual cash flow characteristics of advances to 

customers and relevant documents in relation to the 

business model; 
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Independent Auditorôs Report (continued) 

 

Impairment allowances of advances to customers (continued) 
 
Refer to notes 2.14, 4.1, 11 and 22 to the consolidated financial statements. 
 
Key audit matter (continued) How the matter was addressed in our audit (continued) 

ECL may be materially misstated if the classification and 

measurement framework for financial instruments is not 

properly adopted. Therefore, the determination of impairment 

allowances of advances to customers is subject to the 

accuracy of the classifications of the Groupôs advances to 

customers. 

 

ï involving specialists in assessing the reliability of the ECL 

model used by management in determining impairment 

allowances, including assessing the appropriateness of 

the key parameters and assumptions in the expected 

credit loss model, including the identification of loss 

stages, probability of default, loss given default, exposure 

at default, discount rate, adjustments for forward-looking 

information and other management adjustments; 

 

The Group has developed its own model for measuring 

impairment allowances of financial assets including advances 

to customers. 

 

ï assessing the completeness and accuracy of data used 

for the key parameters in the expected credit loss model, 

by comparing individual loan information on a sample 

basis with the underlying agreements and other related 

documentation to assess the accuracy of the loan 

information in the ECL model. For key parameters derived 

from external data, we selected samples to inspect the 

accuracy of such data by comparing them with publicly 

available sources; 

 

Loan exposures that are not already credit-impaired are 

classified as stage 1 on origination and a 12-month ECL 

provision is recognised. Loan exposures will transfer to stage 

2 if there has been a significant increase in credit risk 

compared to origination. Loan exposures are classified as 

stage 3 if they become credit-impaired. A lifetime ECL 

provision is recognised for loans classified as stage 2 and 

stage 3. 

 

ï for key parameters involving judgement, critically 

assessing input parameters by seeking evidence from 

external sources and comparing it to the Groupôs internal 

records including historical loss experience and type of 

collateral. As part of these procedures, we challenged 

managementôs revisions to estimates and input 

parameters compared with the estimates and input 

parameters at the beginning of the year and considered 

the consistency of judgement. We compared the 

economic factors used in the models with market 

information to assess whether they were aligned with 

market and economic development; 

 

ECL may be materially misstated if the exposures with a 

significant increase in credit risk are not properly identified, 

leading to inaccurate recognition of ECL. 

 

ï for key parameters used in the ECL model which were 

derived from system-generated internal data, assessing 

the accuracy of input data by comparing the input data 

with original documents on a sample basis.  We involved 

our information technology specialists in assessing the 

information systems controls critical to the credit grading 

process, such as the compilation of the overdue reports 

for advances to customers.  We also assessed the 

design, implementation and operating effectiveness of 

relevant automated application controls within these 

systems, as well as the key internal controls over these 

underlying systems, including controls over access to 

these systems and controls over data and change 

management; 

 

The determination of impairment allowances using the 

expected credit loss model is subject to a number of key 

parameters and assumptions, including the identification of 

loss stages, estimates of probability of default, loss given 

default, exposures at default and discount rate, adjustments 

for forward-looking information and other adjustment factors. 

Management judgement is involved in the selection of those 

parameters and the application of the assumptions. 

ï for selected samples of advances to customers that are 

credit-impaired, evaluating managementôs assessment of 

the value of any collateral held by comparison with 

available market information. We also evaluated the 

timing and means of realisation of collateral, evaluated the 

forecast cash flows, challenged the viability of the Groupôs 

recovery plans and evaluated other credit enhancements 

that are integral to the contract terms; 
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Independent Auditorôs Report (continued) 

 

Impairment allowances of advances to customers (continued) 
 
Refer to notes 2.14, 4.1, 11 and 22 to the consolidated financial statements. 
 
Key audit matter (continued) How the matter was addressed in our audit (continued) 

In particular, the determination of the impairment allowances 

is heavily dependent on the external macro environment and 

the Groupôs internal credit risk management strategy. The 

expected credit losses are derived from estimates including 

the historical losses, internal and external credit grading and 

other adjustment factors. 

 

ï in respect of identifying exposures with a significant 

increase in credit risk, evaluating the validity of 

managementôs assessment on whether the credit risk of 

the loan has, or has not, increased significantly since 

initial recognition and whether the loan is credit-impaired 

by selecting samples for which we checked loan overdue 

information, made enquiries of the credit managers about 

the borrowersô business operations, checked borrowersô 

financial information and researched market information 

about borrowersô businesses; 

 

Management also exercises judgement in determining the 

quantum of loss given default based on a range of factors. 

These include available remedies for recovery, the financial 

situation of the borrower, the recoverable amount of collateral, 

the seniority of the claim and the existence and 

cooperativeness of other creditors. Management refers to 

valuation reports issued by qualified third party valuers and 

considers the influence of various factors including the market 

price, location and use when assessing the value of property 

held as collateral. The enforceability, timing and means of 

realisation of collateral can also have an impact on the 

recoverable amount of collateral and, therefore, the amount of 

impairment allowances as at the end of the reporting period. 

 

ï in respect of assessing the accuracy of ECL calculation, 

recalculating the amount of impairment allowance for 

12-month and life-time credit losses using the ECL model 

based on the above parameters and assumptions for a 

sample of advances to customers where the credit risk of 

the loan has not, or has, increased significantly since 

initial recognition, respectively and comparing to the 

results from the Group; 

 

We identified the impairment allowances of advances to 

customers measured at amortised cost as a key audit matter 

because of the complexity of the inherent uncertainty and 

management judgement involved and because of its 

significance to the financial results and capital of the Group. 

 

ï assessing the appropriateness of material manual 

adjustments and overlays on ECL model outputs; and 

 

 ï evaluating whether the presentation and disclosures on 

impairment allowances of advances to customers 

measured at amortised cost and the relevant disclosures 

meet the requirements in the prevailing accounting 

standards. 

 

 

Assessment of the fair value of financial instruments 

 
Refer to notes 2.12, 5.1, 21 and 23 to the consolidated financial statements. 

 
Key audit matter  How the matter was addressed in our audit 

Financial instruments carried at fair value account for a 

significant portion of the Groupôs assets. As at 31 December 

2019, the fair value of these financial instruments was 

HK$45,388,156,000 of which HK$6,966,205,000, 

HK$38,394,768,000 and HK$27,183,000 were classified as 

level 1, 2 and 3 financial instruments respectively. 

 

Our audit procedures to assess the fair value of financial 

instruments included the following: 

ï assessing the design, implementation and operating 

effectiveness of key internal controls over the valuation 

and independent price verification for financial 

instruments; 

 

The valuation of the Groupôs financial instruments, which are 

stated at their fair values, is based on a combination of market 

data and valuation models which often require a considerable 

number of inputs. Many of these inputs are obtained from 

readily available data for liquid markets. Where such 

observable data is not readily available, as in the case of level 

3 financial instruments, estimates need to be developed which 

can involve significant management judgement. 

 

ï for the key underlying systems used for the processing of 

transactions in relation to financial instruments we utilised 

our information technology specialists to assess the 

design, implementation and operating effectiveness of a 

selection of relevant automated controls within these 

systems. We also assessed the design, implementation 

and operating effectiveness of the key internal controls 

over these underlying systems, including controls over 

access to these systems and controls over data and 

change management; 
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Independent Auditorôs Report (continued) 

 

Assessment of the fair value of financial instruments (continued) 

 
Refer to notes 2.12, 5.1, 21 and 23 to the consolidated financial statements. 

 
Key audit matter (continued) How the matter was addressed in our audit (continued) 

The Group has developed its own models to value certain 

level 2 and 3 financial instruments, which involves significant 

management judgement. 

 

ï assessing the fair values of  level 1 and certain level 2 

financial instruments by comparing the fair values applied 

by the Group with publicly available market data, on a 

sample basis; 

 

We identified assessment of the fair value of financial 

instruments as a key audit matter because of the degree of 

complexity involved in valuing certain financial instruments 

and because of the degree of judgement exercised by 

management in developing its own models and in determining 

the inputs used in the valuation models. 

 

ï evaluating the methodology adopted by management and 

assessing the reasonableness of the inputs and 

assumptions used by management in the valuations; 

 

 

ï engaging our internal valuation specialists to perform, on a 

sample basis, independent valuations of certain level 2 

financial instruments and comparing these valuations with 

the Groupôs valuations. Our independent valuations 

included developing models, obtaining inputs 

independently and verifying the inputs obtained 

independently; and 

 

 

ï assessing whether the disclosures in the consolidated 

financial statements appropriately reflected the Groupôs 

exposure to financial instrument valuation risk with 

reference to the requirements of the prevailing accounting 

standards. 

 
Information other than the consolidated financial statements and auditorôs report thereon 

 

The directors are responsible for the other information.  The other information comprises all the information included in the annual 

report, other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditorôs report thereon. 

 

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of 

assurance conclusion thereon. 

 

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in 

doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our 

knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 

 

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are 

required to report that fact.  We have nothing to report in this regard. 

 

 

Responsibilities of the directors for the consolidated financial statements 

 

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in 

accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and for such internal control as the 

directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material 

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

 

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Groupôs ability to continue as a 

going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless 

the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so. 

 

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Groupôs financial 

reporting process. 
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Independent Auditorôs Report (continued) 

 

Auditorôs responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements 

 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from 

material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditorôs report that includes our opinion.  This report is 

made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with section 405 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for no other purpose.  

We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report. 

 

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will 

always detect a material misstatement when it exists.  Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, 

individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the 

basis of these consolidated financial statements. 

 

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism 

throughout the audit.  We also: 

 

- Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or 

error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and 

appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.  The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is 

higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, 

or the override of internal control. 

- Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in 

the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Groupôs internal control. 

- Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related 

disclosures made by the directors. 

- Conclude on the appropriateness of the directorsô use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit 

evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on 

the Groupôs ability to continue as a going concern.  If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to 

draw attention in our auditorôs report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such 

disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.  Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the 

date of our auditorôs report.  However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going 

concern. 

- Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, 

and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that 

achieves fair presentation. 
- Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities within 

the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements.  We are responsible for the direction, 

supervision and performance of the group audit.  We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion. 

 

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and 

significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 

 

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding 

independence and communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our 

independence and, where applicable, related safeguards. 

 

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit 

of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters.  We describe these matters 

in our auditorôs report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare 

circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing 

so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication. 

 

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditorôs report is Fong Hoi Wan. 

 

 

KPMG 

Certified Public Accountants 

8th Floor, Princeôs Building 

10 Chater Road 

Central, Hong Kong 

 

24 April 2020   
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 Consolidated Income Statement  

 

12 31  

 

For the year ended 31 December Notes  

 

2019  2018 

       

    HK$ô000  HK$ô000 

       
 Interest income   4,208,147  2,546,178 

 Interest income calculated using the effective 

interest method   4,192,248  2,523,327 

 Other interest income   15,899  22,851 

       
 Interest expense   (2,189,574)  (987,748) 

       
 Net interest income 6  2,018,573  1,558,430 

       
 Fee and commission income   667,254  394,830 

 Fee and commission expense   (24,256)  (24,011) 

       
 Net fee and commission income 7  642,998  370,819 

       
  Net trading gain 8  25,941  71,743 

 

Net gain on financial instruments designated at 

fair value through profit or loss   7,307  465 

  Net gain on other financial assets 9  69,489  5,874 

 Other operating income 10  12,315  12,408 

       
 Net operating income before impairment 

allowances   2,776,623  2,019,739 

 Net charge of impairment allowances 11  (345,345)  (138,429) 
       

 Net operating income   2,431,278  1,881,310 

 Operating expenses 12  (944,910)  (671,060) 

       
 Operating profit   1,486,368  1,210,250 

 Net gain from fair value adjustments on 

investment properties 13  4,846  18,440 

̡

 

Net gain /(loss) from disposal / revaluation of 

properties, plant and equipment 14  2,723  (23,948) 

       
 Profit before taxation   1,493,937  1,204,742 

 Taxation 15  (231,369)  (202,295) 

       
 Profit for the year   1,262,568  1,002,447 

       
       

 
2019 1 1

16 ̢

̢ 

 

The Group has initially applied Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standard (ñHKFRSò) 16 at 1 

January 2019, using modified retrospective approach. Under this approach, comparative 

information is not restated. 

40 187

̢ 

The notes on pages 40 to 187 are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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 Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income  

 

12 31  

 

For the year ended 31 December Notes  2019  2018 

       

    HK$ô000  HK$ô000 

       
 Profit for the year   1,262,568  1,002,447 

       

 

Items that will not be reclassified subsequently 

to income statement:      

       

 Premises:      

 Revaluation of premises 25  27,006  119,251 

 Deferred tax 29  (1,853)  (16,953) 

       
    25,153  102,298 

       

 

Equity instruments at fair value through other 

comprehensive income:      

   Change in fair value 23  15,108  (2,466) 

           40,261  99,832 

       

 

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to 

income statement:      

 

Debt instruments at fair value through other 

comprehensive income:      

  Change in fair value 23  304,306  (169,370) 

  

 

Release upon disposal reclassified to 

income statement 9  (69,778)  (6,061) 

 Change in impairment allowances charged 

to income statement   12,116  (4,439) 

   Deferred tax 29  (45,347)  32,699 

       
    201,297  (147,171) 

       
 Currency translation difference   (55,523)  (71,895) 

       
    145,774  (219,066) 

       
 Other comprehensive income for the year, 

net of tax   186,035  (119,234)  

       
 Total comprehensive income for the year   1,448,603  883,213 

       
       

 Total comprehensive income attributable to:      

 Equity holders of the Bank   1,448,603  883,213 

       

 

2019 1 1

16 ̢

̢ 

 

The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 at 1 January 2019, using modified retrospective 

approach. Under this approach, comparative information is not restated. 

40 187

̢ 

 

The notes on pages 40 to 187 are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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        Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 

12 31   As at 31 December Notes 

 

2019  2018 

        

     HK$ô000  HK$ô000 

  ASSETS      

  

Cash and balances with banks and other 

financial institutions 19 
 

18,235,988  15,446,012 

 

 

Placements with banks and other financial 

institutions maturing between one and 

twelve months  20 

 

4,819,212  6,302,563 

  Derivative financial instruments 21  122,133  122,680 

  Advances to customers and trade bills 22  76,986,891  49,934,290 

  Investment in securities 23  46,908,420  28,627,506 

  Investment properties 24  237,150  233,350 

̡   Properties, plant and equipment 25  2,021,072  1,738,569 

  Deferred tax assets 29  640  12,298 

  Other assets 26  523,275  455,359 

  Total assets   149,854,781  102,872,627 

        

  LIABILITIES      

 

 
 Deposits and balances from banks and 

other financial institutions  
 

17,747,463  11,933,270 

  Derivative financial instruments 21  40,361  43,268 

  Deposits from customers 27  116,291,434  78,329,515 

  Other accounts and provisions 28  1,273,083  746,311 

  Current tax liabilities   195,776  75,824 

  Deferred tax liabilities 29  183,675  141,243 

  Total liabilities   135,731,792  91,269,431 

        

  EQUITY      

        
  Share capital 30  3,245,980  1,772,988 

  Reserves   8,939,297  7,892,496 

         

 

Capital and reserves attributable to the 

equity holders of the Bank  
 

12,185,277  9,665,484 

  Additional equity instruments 31  1,937,712  1,937,712 

        

  Total equity   14,122,989  11,603,196 

        
  Total liabilities and equity   149,854,781  102,872,627 

 

2019 1 1

16 ̢

̢ 

 

 The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 at 1 January 2019, using modified retrospective 

approach. Under this approach, comparative information is not restated. 

40 187

̢ 

 

 The notes on pages 40 to 187 are an integral part of these financial statements. 

 

2020 4 24

 

 Approved by the Board of Directors on 24 April 2020 and signed on behalf of the Board by: 

  

  

 LYU Yaoming ZHENG Wei 

Director Director 

 



 

                                                                  

37 

 Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity 

 

 

̢ 

 

The release upon disposal of equity instruments at fair value through other comprehensive income was made 

because the investment was no longer to be held for strategic purpose.  

2019 1 1

16 ̢

̢ 

 

The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 at 1 January 2019, using modified retrospective approach. Under 

this approach, comparative information is not restated. 

40 187

̢ 

 

The notes on pages 40 to 187 are an integral part of these financial statements. 

  

  

 

Attributable to equity holders of the Bank     

    

 

Reserves       

  

 

 
Share 

 Capital  

 
1
 

Premises 
revaluation 

reserve
1
  

 
2
 

 
Fair value 

reserve
2
  

3
 

 
Regulatory 

reserve
3
  

 
4
 

 
Translation 

reserve
4
  

 

 
Retained 

 earnings  

 

 
 

Total  

 

Additional 
equity 

instruments  

 

 
Total 

equity 

                   

  HK$ô000  HK$ô000  HK$ô000  HK$ô000  HK$ô000  HK$ô000  HK$ô000  HK$ô000  HK$ô000 

                   

2019 1 1  At 1 January 2019 1,772,988  1,224,732  (218,350)  414,377  (52,304)  6,524,041  9,665,484  1,937,712  11,603,196 

                   

 Profit for the year -  -  -  -  -  1,262,568  1,262,568  -  1,262,568 

 Other comprehensive 
income:                  

   Premises -  25,153  -  -  -  -  25,153  -  25,153 

 

Equity instruments 
at fair value 
through other 
comprehensive 
income -  -  15,108  -  -  -  15,108  -  15,108 

 

Debt instruments 
at fair value 
through other 
comprehensive 
income -  -  201,297  -  -  -  201,297  -  201,297 

   

 

  Currency translation 
difference -  -  1,164  -  (56,687)  -  (55,523)  -  (55,523) 

 Total comprehensive 
income -  25,153  217,569  -  (56,687)  1,262,568  1,448,603  -  1,448,603 

                   

 Issuance of ordinary 
shares 1,472,992  -  -  -  -  -  1,472,992  -  1,472,992 

 Transfer to retained  
earnings -  -  -  105,610  -  (105,610)  -  -  - 

 Dividends -  -  -  -  -  (298,920)  (298,920)  -  (298,920) 

 

Distribution to the 
holders of the 
additional equity 
instruments -  -  -  -  -  (102,882)  (102,882)  -  (102,882) 

 

Release upon disposal 
of equity instruments 
at fair value through 
other comprehensive 
income -  -  1,369  -  -  (1,369)  -  -  - 

                   

2019 12 31  At 31 December 2019 3,245,980  1,249,885  588  519,987  (108,991)  7,277,828  12,185,277  1,937,712  14,122,989 

                   



 

                                                                  

38 

 

 

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity (continued) 

  

  

 

Attributable to equity holders of the Bank     

    

 

Reserves       

  

 

 
Share 

 capital  

 
1
 

Premises 
revaluation 

reserve
1
  

 
2
 

 
Fair value 

reserve
2
  

3
 

 
Regulatory 

reserve
3
  

 
4
 

 
Translation 

reserve
4
  

 

 
Retained 

 earnings  

 

 
 

Total  

 

Additional 
equity 

instruments  

 

 
Total 

equity 

                   

  HK$ô000  HK$ô000  HK$ô000  HK$ô000  HK$ô000  HK$ô000  HK$ô000  HK$ô000  HK$ô000 

                   

2018 1 1

 

At 1 January 2018, as 
previously reported 300,000  1,122,434  (84,885)  325,391 

 

20,003  5,942,842  7,625,785  1,937,712 

 

9,563,497 

9  

Adjustment on initial 
application of 
HKFRS 9 -  -  15,760  -  -  (4,413)  11,347  -  11,347 

2018 1 1

 
At 1 January 2018, as 

restated 300,000  1,122,434  (69,125)  325,391  20,003  5,938,429  7,637,132  1,937,712  9,574,844 
                   

 Profit for the year -  -  -  -  -  1,002,447  1,002,447  -  1,002,447 

 Other comprehensive 
income:                  

   Premises -  102,298  -  -  -  -  102,298  -  102,298 

 

Equity instruments 
at fair value 
through other 
comprehensive 
income -  -  (2,466)  -  -  -  (2,466)  -  (2,466) 

 

Debt instruments 
at fair value 
through other 
comprehensive 
income -  -  (147,171)  -  -  -  (147,171)  -  (147,171) 

   

 

  Currency translation 
difference -  -  412  -  (72,307)  -  (71,895)  -  (71,895) 

 Total comprehensive 
income -  102,298  (149,225)  -  (72,307)  1,002,447  883,213  -  883,213 

                   

 Issuance of ordinary 
shares 1,472,988  -  -  -  -  -  1,472,988  -  1,472,988 

 Transfer to retained  
earnings -  -  -  88,986  -  (88,986)  -  -  - 

 Dividends   -  -  -  -  -  (225,000)  (225,000)  -  (225,000) 

 

Distribution to the 
holders of the 
additional equity 
instruments -  -  -  -  -  (102,849)  (102,849)  -  (102,849) 

                   

2018 12 31  At 31 December 2018 1,772,988  1,224,732  (218,350)  414,377  (52,304)  6,524,041  9,665,484  1,937,712  11,603,196 

                   

1. 

̢ 

1. Premises revaluation reserve has been set up and is dealt with in accordance with the 

accounting policies adopted for the revaluation of premises. 

2. 

̢ 

2. Fair value reserve comprises the cumulative net change in the fair value of financial instruments 

at fair value through other comprehensive income held until the financial instruments are 

derecognised. 

3. 9

̢ 

3. In accordance with the requirements of the HKMA, the amounts are set aside for general banking 

risks, including future losses or other unforeseeable risks, in addition to the loan impairment 

allowances recognised under HKFRS 9. 

4. 

2.4

̢ 

4. Translation reserve has been set up and is dealt with in accordance with the accounting policies 

adopted for foreign currency translation in Note 2.4. 

  40 187

̢ 

The notes on pages 40 to 187 are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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 Consolidated Cash Flow Statement 

 

12 31  

 

For the year ended 31 December Notes 

  

2019  

 

2018 

       

    HK$ô000  HK$ô000 

       

 Cash flows from operating activities      

 Operating cash inflow / (outflow) before 

taxation 32(a) 

 
1,722,883  (995,167) 

 Hong Kong profits tax paid   (40,342)  (150,155) 

 Overseas profits tax paid   (66,027)  (53,703) 

       

 

Net cash inflow / (outflow) from operating 

activities 

  
1,616,514  (1,199,025) 

       

 Cash flows from investing activities      

̡  Purchase of properties, plant and 

equipment 

 

25 
 

(43,218)  (120,462) 

       

 Net cash outflow from investing activities   (43,218)  (120,462) 

       

 Cash flows from financing activities      

 Capital element of lease rentals paid   (66,296)  - 

 Interest element of lease rentals paid   (5,207)  - 

 Issue of ordinary share capital 30  1,472,992  1,472,988 

 Final dividend paid to the equity holders of 

the Bank 

 

16 
 

(298,920)  (225,000) 

 Distribution to the holders of the additional 

equity instruments 

 

16 

 
(102,882)  (102,849) 

       

 Net cash inflow from financing activities   999,687  1,145,139 

       

 Increase / (decrease) in cash and cash 

equivalents 

  
2,572,983  (174,348) 

1 1  Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January   18,688,142  19,012,716 

 

 

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and 

cash equivalents 

  
(71,326)  (150,226) 

       

12 31  Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 32(b)  21,189,799  18,688,142 

       

 

2019 1 1

16 ̢

̢ 

 

The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 at 1 January 2019, using modified retrospective 

approach. Under this approach, comparative information is not restated. 

40 187

̢ 

The notes on pages 40 to 187 are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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 Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 

 

1.  1. Principal activities 

 
̢ 

 

̢

78 ̢ 

 

The Group is principally engaged in the provision of banking and related financial 

services. 

 

The Bank is a limited liability company incorporated in Hong Kong. The address of 

its registered office is No.78 Des Vouex Road Central, Hong Kong. 

  
2.  2. Significant accounting policies 

̢ 

 

̢ 

 

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these consolidated 

financial statements are set out below. 

 

These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless 

otherwise stated. 

 

2.1   2.1 Basis of preparation 

̡ ̡

̨

̩ ̢ 

 

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared in 

accordance with all applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards 

(HKFRSs), which collective term includes all applicable individual Hong Kong 

Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards (HKASs) 

and Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public 

Accountants (HKICPA), accounting principles generally accepted in Hong 

Kong and the requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. 

 

̡

̡ ̡

̢ 

 

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the 

historical cost convention, as modified by the fair value revaluation of 

investment in securities at fair value through other comprehensive income, 

financial assets and financial liabilities (including derivative financial 

instruments) at fair value through profit or loss, precious metals at fair value, 

investment properties which are carried at fair value and premises which are 

carried at fair value or revalued amount less accumulated depreciation and 

accumulated impairment losses. 

 

̢

̢

̡ ̡

3̢ 

 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with HKFRSs requires 

the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires the 

management to exercise judgement in the process of applying the Groupôs 

accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or 

complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the 

consolidated financial statements are disclosed in Note 3. 
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 Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 

(continued) 
 

2.  2. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 

2.1   2.1 Basis of preparation (continued) 

(a)  2019 1 1

 

(a) Standards and amendments issued that are already mandatorily effective 

for accounting periods beginning on 1 January 2019 

 

˵     

Standards/Amendments Content  

Applicable for 
financial years 
beginning on/after 

16  

HKFRS 16 

 

Leases 

 2019 1 1  

1 January 2019 

    
    

23  

HK(IFRIC) ɶ Int 23 

 

Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments 

 2019 1 1  

1 January 2019 

    
    

2015

2017  

Annual improvements to HKFRSs 

2015 ï 2017 cycle 

  2019 1 1  

 

1 January 2019 
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 Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 

(continued) 
 

2.  2. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 

2.1   2.1 Basis of preparation (continued) 

(a)  2019 1 1

 

(a) Standards and amendments issued that are already mandatorily effective 

for accounting periods beginning on 1 January 2019 (continued) 

  

 

 

Further information about those HKFRSs that are applicable to the Group is 
as follows: 

ɾ 16

17

̨

̩ 4 ̪

̡̫ HK(SIC)15

- HK(SIC)27

̢

12 ɼ

ɽ

̢

17  ̢

 

ɾ HKFRS 16 replaces HKAS 17, Leases, and the related interpretations, 
HK(IFRIC) 4, Determining whether an arrangement contains a lease, 
HK(SIC) 15, Operating leases ï incentives, and HK(SIC) 27, Evaluating the 
substance of transactions involving the legal form of a lease. It introduces a 
single accounting model for lessees, which requires a lessee to recognise a 
right-of-use asset and a lease liability for all leases, except for leases that 
have a lease term of 12 months or less (ñshort-term leasesò) and leases of 
low value assets. The lessor accounting requirements are brought forward 
from HKAS 17 substantially unchanged.  

 

ɾ 16

̢ 

 

ɾ HKFRS 16 also introduces additional qualitative and quantitative disclosure 
requirements which aim to enable users of the financial statements to 
assess the effect that leases have on the financial position, financial 
performance and cash flows of an entity. 

 

ɾ 2019 1 1

16 ̢

2019

1 1

̢

17 ̢ 

 

ɾ The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 from 1 January 2019. The Group 
has elected to use the modified retrospective approach and has therefore 
recognised the cumulative effect of initial application as an adjustment to 
the opening balance of equity at 1 January 2019. Comparative information 
has not been restated and continues to be reported under HKAS 17.  

 

(i)  (i) Change in accounting policies 

(1)  (1) New definition of a lease 

̨

̩ 4 ̪

̢̫

̨

̩ 16

̢

̨ ̩ 16

̢ 
 

Previously, the Group determined at contract inception whether an 

arrangement was or contained a lease under HK(IFRIC) 4 Determining 

whether an arrangement contains a lease. The Group now assesses 

whether a contract is or contains a lease based on the definition of a 

lease. Under HKFRS 16, a contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract 

conveys a right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time 

in exchange for consideration. 
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 Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 

(continued) 

 

2.  2. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 

2.1   2.1 Basis of preparation (continued) 

(a)  2019 1 1

 

(a) Standards and amendments issued that are already mandatorily effective 

for accounting periods beginning on 1 January 2019 (continued) 

  

(i)  (i) Change in accounting policies (continued) 

(2)  (2) Lessee accounting 

̢

̢

̢ 

 

The Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the lease 

commencement date. The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost, 

which comprises the initial amount of the lease liability plus any lease 

payments made at or before the commencement date, and any initial 

direct costs incurred. Where applicable, the cost of the right-of-use assets 

also includes an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove the underlying 

asset or to restore the underlying asset or the site on which it is located, 

discounted to their present value, less any lease incentives received. 

 

̢

̢ 

 

The right-of-use asset is subsequently at cost less any accumulated 

depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for certain 

remeasurements of the lease liability. When a right-of-use asset meets the 

definition of investment property, it is initially measured at cost, and 

subsequently at fair value, in accordance with the Groupôs accounting 

policies. 

 

 

̢

 ̢

 

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease 

payments that are not paid at the commencement date, discounted using 

the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily 

determined, the Groupôs incremental borrowing rate. Generally, the Group 

uses its incremental borrowing rate as the discount rate. 

 

̢

̡

̢

̢ 

 

The lease liability is subsequently increased by the interest cost on the 

lease liability and decreased by lease payment made. It is remeasured 

when there is a change in future lease payments arising from a change in 

an index or rate, a change in the estimate of the amount expected to be 

payable under a residual value guarantee, or as appropriate, changes in 

the assessment of whether a purchase or extension option is reasonably 

certain to be exercised or a termination option is reasonably certain not to 

be exercised. When the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a 

corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying amount of the 

right-of-use asset, or is recorded in profit or loss if the carrying amount of 

the right-of-use asset has been reduced to zero. 
 

 

̢

̢ 

 

The Group has applied judgement to determine the lease term for some 

lease contracts in which it is a lessee that include renewal options. The 

assessment of whether the Group is reasonably certain to exercise such 

options impacts the lease term, which significantly affects the amount of 

lease liabilities and right-of-use assets recognised. 
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 Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 

(continued) 
 

2.  2. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 
2.1   2.1 Basis of preparation (continued) 

(a)  2019 1 1

 

(a) Standards and amendments issued that are already mandatorily effective for 

accounting periods beginning on 1 January 2019 (continued) 

  

(i)  (i) Change in accounting policies (continued) 

(3)  (3) Lessor accounting 

̢

17

̢ 

 

The Group leases out its investment property as the lessor of operating 

leases. The accounting policies applicable to the Group as a lessor remain 

substantially unchanged from those under HKAS 17.  

 

  (ii)  (ii) Transitional impact 

̨ ̩

17

2019 1 1

̢

̢

̢ 

 

At transition, for leases classified as operating leases under HKAS 17, lease 

liabilities were measured at the present value of the remaining lease 

payments, discounted at the Groupôs incremental borrowing rate as at 1 

January 2019. Right-of-use assets are measured at an amount equal to the 

lease liability, adjusted by the amount of any prepaid or accrued lease 

payments. The Group applied this approach to all leases. 

 

̨ ̩

16 ̨

̩ 17

̢ 

 

The Group used the following practical expedients when applying HKFRS 16 

to leases previously classified as operating leases under HKAS 17. 

 

ɾ 12

̢ 

 

ɾ applied the exemption not to recognise right-of-use assets and liabilities 

for leases with less than 12 months of lease term. 

ɾ 

̢ 

ɾ excluded initial direct costs from measuring the right-of-use asset at the 

date of initial application. 

 

ɾ 

̢ 

 

ɾ used hindsight when determining the lease term if the contract contains 

option to extend or terminate the lease. 

   2019 1 1  

   1 January 2019 

 
 

   

 
 

  HK$ô000 

̡

 

Right-of-use assets presented in properties, plant and 

equipment 
 

117,730 

    
 Lease liabilities presented in other accounts and 

provisions 
 

117,730 
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 Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 

(continued) 

 

2.  2. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 
2.1   2.1 Basis of preparation (continued) 

(a)  2019 1 1

 

(a) Standards and amendments issued that are already mandatorily effective for 

accounting periods beginning on 1 January 2019 (continued) 

  

(ii)  

  

(ii) Transitional impact (continued) 
 

2019 1 1

3.69%̢ 

 

The weighted average lesseeôs incremental borrowing rate applied to the lease 

liabilities on 1 January 2019 was 3.69%. 

2018 12 31

35 a

2019 1 1

 

 

The following table reconciles the operating lease commitments as disclosed in 

Note 35(a) as at 31 December 2018 to the opening balance for lease liabilities 

recognised as at 1 January 2019: 

 

   2019 1 1  

   1 January 2019 

 
 

   

   HK$ô000 

2018 12 31

 

Operating lease commitment at 31 December 2018  

 

 

127,140 

 

Less: commitments relating to leases exempt from 

capitalisation: 

 
 

-  - short-term leases  (78) 

-  - leases of low-value assets  (54) 

   127,008 
    

 Less: total future interest expenses  (9,278) 

2019 1 1  

 

Lease liabilities recognised at 1 January 2019  
117,730 

    

ɾ 23

̪

̢̫

̢

̢

̢ 

 

ɾ HK(IFRIC) ï Int 23, ñUncertainty over Income Tax Treatmentsò. The 

interpretation states that the effects of uncertainty in accounting for income taxes 

should be reflected and measured by determining how probable a taxation 

authority will accept an uncertain tax treatment. The interpretation is applied 

retrospectively. Early application is permitted. The application of this 

interpretation will not have a material impact on the Group's financial statements. 

ɾ 

̢ 

 

ɾThe Group has not applied any new standard or interpretation that is not yet 

effective for the current accounting period.  

  



 

                                                                  

46 

 Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 

(continued) 

 

2.  2. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 
2.1   2.1 Basis of preparation (continued) 

(b) 

2019  

(b) Standards and amendments issued that are not yet mandatorily effective 

and have not been early adopted by the Group in 2019 

 

˵     

Standards/Amendments Content  

Applicable for 
financial years 
beginning on/after 

3  (

) 

HKFRS 3 (Amendment) 

 

 

Definition of a business 

 2020 1 1  

 

1 January 2020 

    
    

1 8  (

) 

HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 

(Amendment) 

 

 

Definition of material 

 2020 1 1  

 

1 January 2020 

    
 

̢

̢ 

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of what the impact of these 

amendments is expected to be in the period of initial application. So far the adoption 

of them is unlikely to have a significant impact to the consolidated financial 

statements. 
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 Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 

(continued) 

 

2.  2. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 

2.2   2.2 Consolidation 

12 31 ̢ 

 

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the 
Bank and all of its subsidiaries for the year ended 31 December. 

 

̢

̢

(a) 

(b) 

(c) 

̢

̢ 

 

Subsidiaries 

Subsidiaries are entities (including structured entities), directly or indirectly, 
controlled by the Group. Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or 
has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has 
the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee (i.e. 
existing rights that give the Group the current ability to direct the relevant 
activities of the investee). When the Bank has, directly or indirectly, less than 
a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers 
all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over 
an investee, including: (a) the contractual arrangement with the other vote 
holders of the investee; (b) rights arising from other contractual 
arrangements; and (c) the Groupôs voting rights and potential voting rights. 
Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is 
transferred to the Group. They are de-consolidated from the date that 
control ceases. 

(i)  (i) Business combinations not under common control 

̢

̡

̡ ̢

̢ 

 

Acquisitions of businesses not under common control are accounted for 

using the acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a 

business combination is the fair values at the acquisition date of the 

assets transferred, the liabilities incurred (including contingent 

consideration arrangement) and the equity interests issued by the Group 

in exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are 

expensed in the income statement as incurred. 

 

̡

̡

̢

̡

̡

̢

̢ 

 

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration 

transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree, 

and the fair value of the Groupôs previously held equity interest in the 

acquiree (if any) over the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the 

identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed. If after 

assessment, the fair value of the acquireeôs identifiable net assets 

exceeds the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any 

non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair value of the Groupôs 

previously held interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised 

immediately in the income statement as a bargain purchase gain. 

Subsequently, goodwill is subject to impairment testing at least annually. 
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 Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 

(continued) 
 

2.  2. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 

2.2   2.2 Consolidation (continued) 

 Subsidiaries (continued) 

(i)  (i) Business combinations not under common control (continued) 

̢

̢

̢

̢ 

 

Where the consideration transferred by the Group in a business 

combination includes assets or liabilities resulting from a contingent 

consideration arrangement, the contingent consideration is measured at 

fair value at the acquisition date and considered as part of the 

consideration transferred in a business combination. Changes in the fair 

value of the contingent consideration that qualify as measurement 

period adjustments are adjusted retrospectively, with the corresponding 

adjustments being made against goodwill or gain on bargain purchase. 

Measurement period adjustments are adjustments that arise from 

additional information obtained during the measurement period about 

facts and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date. 

Measurement period does not exceed one year from the acquisition 

date. 

 ̢

 

On an acquisition-by-acquisition basis, the Group recognises any 

non-controlling interests in the acquiree either at fair value or at the 

non-controlling interestsô proportionate share of the fair value of the 

acquireeôs identifiable net assets. 

(ii)  (ii) Business combinations under common control 

̢

̢

̢

̢

̢

̢

̢ 

 

For a combination with a company under common control, the merger 

accounting method will be applied. The principle of merger accounting 

is a way to combine companies under common control as though the 

business of the acquiree had always been carried out by the acquirer. 

The Groupôs consolidated financial statements represent the 

consolidated results, consolidated cash flows and consolidated financial 

position of the Group as if any such combination had occurred from the 

date when the Bank and the acquiree first came under common control 

(i.e. no fair value adjustment on the date of combination is required). 

The difference between the consideration and carrying amount at the 

time of combination is recognised in equity. The effects of all 

transactions between the Group and the acquiree, whether occurring 

before or after the combination, are eliminated in preparing the 

consolidated financial statements of the Group. Comparative amounts 

are presented as if the acquiree had been combined at the start of the 

earliest period presented unless the acquiree first came under common 

control at a later date. The transaction costs for the combination will be 

expensed in the income statement. 

 

 

(iii)  (iii) Inter-company transactions 

̡ ̡

̢

̢ 

 

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised gains on 

transactions between the Groupôs companies are eliminated; unrealised 

losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of 

impairment of the assets transferred. Where necessary, accounting 

policies of subsidiaries have been changed to ensure consistency with 

the policies adopted by the Group. 
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 Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 

(continued) 
 

2.  2. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 

2.2   2.2 Consolidation (continued) 

 Subsidiaries (continued) 

(iv)  (iv) Investments in subsidiaries 

̢

̢

̢ 

 

In the Bankôs statement of financial position, the investments in 

subsidiaries are stated at cost less allowance for impairment losses. The 

results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the Bank on the basis of 

dividends received and receivable. Dividend income from subsidiaries is 

recognised in the income statement when the right to receive payment is 

established. 

2.3   2.3 Segmental reporting 

̢

̢ 
 

The operating result of segments are reported in a manner consistent with the 
internal reporting provided to the Groupôs senior management, which is the 
chief operating decision maker of the Group, that allocates resources and 
assesses the performance of operating segments. Income and expenses 
directly associated with each segment are included in determining operating 
segment performance. 

2.4   2.4 Foreign currency translation 

̪ ̫ ̢

̢ 
 

Items included in the financial statements of each of the Groupôs entities are 

measured using the currency of the primary economic environment in which 

the entity operates (the ñfunctional currencyò). The consolidated financial 

statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars, which is the Bankôs functional 

and presentation currency. 

̢

̢ 

 

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using 

the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions or exchange 

rates at the end of the reporting period for items that are re-measured. Foreign 

exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of foreign currency 

transactions using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the 

transactions and monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 

currencies translated at the exchange rate at the end of the reporting period 

are recognised directly in the income statement, except when deferred in other 

comprehensive income as qualifying net investment hedges. 

 

̢

 

Foreign currency differences arising on translation are generally recognised in 

profit or loss. However, foreign currency differences arising from the 

translation of the following items are recognised in other comprehensive 

income (ñOCIò): 

ɾ 

 

ɾ equity investments in respect of which an election has been made to 

present subsequent changes in fair value in OCI; 

ɾ 

 

ɾ a financial liability designated as a hedge of the net investment in a foreign 

operation to the extent that the hedge is effective; and 

ɾ 

̢ 

ɾ qualifying cash flow hedges to the extent that the hedge is effective. 
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 Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 

(continued) 
 

2.  2. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 

2.4   2.4 Foreign currency translation (continued) 

̢

̢

̢ 

 

Exchange differences relating to investments at fair value through profit or loss 
(FVTPL) and derivative financial instruments are included in gains less losses 
from trading securities or financial instruments at fair value through profit or 
loss. All other exchange differences relating to monetary items are presented 
as gains less losses from foreign exchange and foreign exchange products in 
the income statement. Differences arising on translation of equity investments 
which an election has been made to present subsequent changes in fair value 
in other comprehensive income are recognised in other comprehensive 
income and accumulated separately in fair value reserve. 

 

The results and financial position of all the Group entities that have a 
functional currency different from Hong Kong dollars are translated into Hong 
Kong dollars as follows:  

ɾ    

 

ɾ assets and liabilities are translated at the closing rate at the end of the 
reporting period; 

ɾ  ɾ income and expenses are translated at average exchange rates; and 

ɾ 

̢ 

 

ɾ all resulting exchange differences are recognised in the currency 
translation reserve in equity through other comprehensive income. 

̡

̢

̢ 

 

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of the net 
investment in foreign entities, borrowings and other currency instruments 
designated as hedges of such investments are taken to other comprehensive 
income and are accumulated separately in equity in the translation reserve. 
When a foreign entity is disposed, such exchange differences are reclassified 
from equity to the income statement, as part of the gain or loss on sale. 

 

2.5   2.5 Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting 

̢

̡

̢

̢ 

 

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date the derivative 
contract is entered into and are subsequently re-measured at fair value. Fair 
values are obtained from quoted market prices in active markets, including 
recent market transactions, and through the use of valuation techniques, 
including discounted cash flow models and option pricing models, as 
appropriate. All derivatives are carried as assets when fair value is positive 
and as liabilities when fair value is negative. 

̢ 

 

Derivatives are categorised as held for trading and changes in their fair value 
are recognised immediately in the income statement unless they are 
designated as hedges and are effective hedging instruments, then they are 
subject to measurement under the hedge accounting requirements. 
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 Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 

(continued) 
 

2.  2. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 

2.5   2.5 Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting (continued) 

̡

̢

̢

̢ 

 

The Group documents at inception the relationship between hedging 
instruments and hedged items, as well as its risk management objective and 
strategy for undertaking various hedge transactions. The Group also 
documents its assessment, both at the hedge inception and on an ongoing 
basis, of whether the derivatives that are used in hedging transactions are 
highly effective in offsetting changes in fair values or cash flows of hedged 
items. These criteria should be met before a hedge can be qualified to be 
accounted for under hedge accounting. 

 

 

̢

̢ 

 

Net investment hedge 

A gain or loss on the effective portion of the hedging instrument is recognised 
in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity; a gain or loss on 
the ineffective portion is recognised immediately in the income statement. 
Accumulated gains and losses previously recognised in other comprehensive 
income are reclassified to the income statement upon disposal of the foreign 
operation as part of the gain or loss on disposal. 

 

2.6   2.6 Offsetting financial instruments 

 ̢

 

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the 
statement of financial position when there is a legally enforceable right to 
offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net 
basis, or realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 

2.7  ̡  

 

2.7 Interest income and expense and fee and commission income and 
expense 

(1)  (1) Interest income and expense 

 Effective interest rate 

̢ 

Interest income and expense for all interest-bearing financial instruments are 
recognised in the income statement on an accruals basis using the effective 
interest method. 
 

̢ 

The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future 
cash payments or receipts through the expected life of the financial 
instrument to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset or the amortised 
cost of the financial liability. 
 

̢

(

)

 ̢

 

When calculating the effective interest rate for financial instruments other than 
credit-impaired assets, the Group estimates future cash flows considering all 
contractual terms of the financial instrument but not expected credit losses. 
For financial assets that were purchased or originated credit-impaired on 
initial recognition, a credit-adjusted effective interest rate is calculated using 
estimated future cash flows including expected credit losses (i.e. no expected 
credit loss provision is required at initial recognition). 

 

̡ ̢

̢ 

The calculation of the effective interest rate includes transaction costs and 
fees and points paid or received that are an integral part of the effective 
interest rate. The transaction costs include incremental costs that are directly 
attributable to the acquisition or issue of a financial asset or financial liability. 
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 Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 

(continued) 
 

2.  2. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 

2.7  ̡  

 

2.7 Interest income and expense and fee and commission income and 
expense (continued) 

(1)  (1) Interest income and expense (continued) 

 Amortised cost and gross carrying amount 

̡

̢ 

 

The amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability is the amount at 
which the financial asset or financial liability is measured on initial recognition 
minus the principal repayments, plus or minus the cumulative amortisation 
using the effective interest method of any difference between that initial 
amount and the maturity amount and, for financial assets, adjusted for any 
expected credit loss allowance. 

̢ 

 

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is the amortised cost of a 
financial asset before adjusting for any expected credit loss allowance. 

 Calculation of interest income and expense 

(

)

̢ 

 

In calculating interest income and expense, the effective interest rate is 
applied to the gross carrying amount of the asset (when the asset is not 
credit-impaired) or to the amortised cost of the liability. 
 

̢

̢ 

 

However, for financial assets that have become credit-impaired subsequent to 
initial recognition, interest income is calculated by applying the effective 
interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset. If the asset is no 
longer credit-impaired, then the calculation of interest income reverts to the 
gross basis. 

 

̢

̢ 

 

For financial assets that were purchased or originated credit-impaired on 
initial recognition, interest income is calculated by applying the credit-adjusted 
effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the asset. The calculation of 
interest income does not revert to a gross basis, even if the credit risk of the 
asset improves. 

2.14̢ 

 

For information on when financial assets are credit-impaired, please refer to 
Note 2.14. 

(2)  (2) Fee and commission income and expense 

̡

̢

̢ 

 

Fee and commission income and expense that are not an integral part of the 
effective yield are recognised on an accrual basis ratably over the period 
when the related service is provided, such as administrative fee, asset 
management fee and custody services fee. Loan syndication fees are 
recognised as revenue when the related syndication arrangement has been 
completed and the Group has retained no part of the loan package for itself or 
has retained a part at the same effective interest rate as applicable to other 
participants. 
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(continued) 
 

2.  2. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 

2.8  2.8 Financial assets 

(1)  (1) Recognition and initial measurement 

̢

̢  

 

Financial assets are recognised when the Group becomes a party to the 
contractual provisions of the instruments. Regular way purchases and 
sales of financial assets are recognised on trade-date, the date on which 
the Group commits to purchase or sell the assets. A financial asset is 
measured initially at fair value plus, for an item not at fair value through 
profit or loss (FVTPL), transaction costs that are directly attributable to its 
acquisition or issue. 

 

(2)  (2) Classification 

9

 

The Group has applied HKFRS 9 and classifies its financial assets in the 
following measurement categories: 

 

ɾ  ɾ fair value through profit and loss; 

ɾ 

 

ɾ fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI); or 

ɾ ̢ 

 

ɾ amortised cost. 

 

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets depend 
on: 

ɾ  ɾ the Groupôs business model for managing the asset; and 

ɾ ̢ ɾ the cash flow characteristics of the assets. 

(i)  (i) Debt instruments 

 

Debt instruments held by the Group are classified into one of the following 
measurement categories: 

ɾ 

̢

̢ 

 

ɾ amortised cost, if the investment is held for the collection of contractual 
cash flows which represent solely payments of principal and interest. 
Interest income from the investment is calculated using the effective 
interest method.  

ɾ 

̢

̡

( )

̢ 

 

ɾ FVOCI, if the contractual cash flows of the investment comprise solely 
payments of principal and interest and the investment is held within a 
business model whose objective is achieved by both the collection of 
contractual cash flows and sale. Changes in fair value are recognised in 
other comprehensive income, except for the profit or loss of expected 
credit losses, interest income (calculated using the effective interest 
method) and foreign exchange gains and losses.  
 

ɾ 

( )

̢ 

 

ɾ FVTPL if the assets do not meet the criteria for being measured at 
amortised cost or FVOCI. Changes in the fair value of the investment 
(including interest) are recognised in profit or loss. 
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 Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 

(continued) 
 

2.  2. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 

2.8  2.8 Financial assets (continued) 

(2)  (2) Classification (continued) 

(ii)  (ii) Equity instruments 

̢ 

 

Equity instruments are instruments that meet the definition of equity from 
the issuerôs perspective; that is, instruments that do not contain a 
contractual obligation to pay and that evidence a residual interest in the 
issuerôs net assets. 

̢

̢ (

)

̢

̢ 

 

The Group subsequently measures all equity investments at fair value 
through profit or loss, except where the Groupôs management has 
elected, at initial recognition, to irrevocably designate an equity 
investment at FVOCI. The Groupôs policy is to designate equity 
investments as FVOCI when those investments that are not held for 
trading. When this election is used, fair value gains and losses are 
recognised in OCI and are not subsequently reclassified to profit or loss, 
including on disposal. Impairment losses (and reversal of impairment 
losses) are not reported separately from other changes in fair value. 
Dividends, when representing a return on such investments, continue to 
be recognised in profit or loss as other income when the Groupôs right to 
receive payments is established. 

 

̢ 

 

Gains and losses on equity investments at FVTPL are included in the 
ñNet trading gainò line in the income statement. 

 

(iii)  (iii) Business model assessment 

 

The Group makes an assessment of the objective of a business model 
in which an asset is held at a portfolio level because this best reflects the 
way the business is managed and information is provided to 
management. The information considered includes: 

ɾ 

̡ ̡

 

ɾ the stated policies and objectives for the portfolio and the operation of 
those policies in practice. In particular, whether managementôs 
strategy focuses on earning contractual interest revenue, maintaining 
a particular interest rate profile, matching the duration of the financial 
assets to the duration of the liabilities that are funding those assets or 
realising cash flows through the sale of the assets; 

ɾ 

 

ɾ how the performance of the portfolio is evaluated and reported to the 
Groupôs management; 

ɾ (

)

 

ɾ the risks that affect the performance of the business model (and the 
financial assets held within that business model) and how those risks 
are managed; 

ɾ 

 

ɾ how managers of the business are compensated ɶ e.g. whether 

compensation is based on the fair value of the assets managed or the 
contractual cash flows collected; and 

ɾ ̡ ̡

̡

̢

̢ 

ɾ the frequency, volume and timing of sales in prior periods, the reasons 
for such sales and its expectations about future sales activity. 
However, information about sales activity is not considered in 
isolation, but as part of an overall assessment of how the Groupôs 
stated objective for managing the financial assets is achieved and how 
cash flows are realised. 
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(continued) 
 

2.  2. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 

2.8  2.8 Financial assets (continued) 

(2)  (2) Classification (continued) 

(iv) 

 

(iv) Assessment whether contractual cash flows are solely payments 
of principal and interest 

̪ ̫

̪

̫ ̡

̡

̢ 

 

For the purposes of this assessment, ñprincipalò is defined as the fair 
value of the financial asset on initial recognition. ñInterestò is defined as 
consideration for the time value of money and for the credit risk 
associated with the principal amount outstanding during a particular 
period of time and for other basic lending risks and costs (e.g. liquidity 
risk and administrative costs), as well as profit margin. 

 

̢

 

In assessing whether the contractual cash flows are solely payments of 
principal and interest, the Group considers the contractual terms of the 
instrument. This includes assessing whether the financial asset contains 
a contractual term that could change the timing or amount of contractual 
cash flows such that it would not meet this condition. In making the 
assessment, the Group considers: 

 
ɾ 

 

ɾ contingent events that would change the amount and timing of cash 
flows; 

ɾ  ɾ leverage features; 

ɾ  ɾ prepayment and extension terms; 

ɾ 

(

)  

ɾ terms that limit the Groupôs claim to cash flows from specified assets 
(e.g. non-recourse asset arrangements); and 

 

ɾ 

̢ 

 

ɾ features that modify consideration of the time value of money, e.g. 
periodical reset of interest rates. 

̢

̢

̢

̡

̡

̢ 

 

The Group holds a portfolio of long-term fixed rate loans for which the 
Group has the option to propose to revise the interest rate at periodic 
reset dates. These reset rights are limited to the market rate at the time 
of revision. The borrowers have an option to either accept the revised 
rate or redeem the loan at par without penalty. The Group has 
determined that the contractual cash flows of these loans are solely 
payments of principal and interest because the option varies the interest 
rate in a way that is consideration for the time value of money, credit risk, 
other basic lending risks and costs associated with the principal amount 
outstanding. 

 

(v)  (v) Reclassification 

̢ 

 

Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial 
recognition, except in the period after the Group changes its business 
model for managing financial assets. 
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(continued) 
 

2.  2. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 

2.9  2.9 Financial liabilities 

̢ 

 

The Group classifies its financial liabilities, other than financial guarantees 
and loan commitments, as measured at amortised cost or FVTPL. 

 

 

 

The Group has designated certain financial liabilities as at FVTPL in either of 
the following circumstances: 

ɾ ̡

 

ɾ the liabilities are managed, evaluated and reported internally on a fair 
value basis; or 

ɾ 

̢ 

 

ɾ the designation eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting 
mismatch that would otherwise arise. 
 

2.10  2.10 Financial guarantee contracts 

̢ 

 

Financial guarantee contracts are contracts that require the issuer to 

make specified payments to reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs 

because a specified debtor fails to make payments when due, in 

accordance with the terms of a contract between the holder and the 

debtor. 
 

̪ ̫ ̢

(i) 37 ̪

̡ ̫

(ii)

̢

̢ 

 

Financial guarantee contracts are initially recognised as financial liabilities 

and reported under ñOther accounts and provisionsò in the financial 

statements at fair value on the date the guarantee was given. Subsequent 

to initial recognition, the Groupôs liabilities under such guarantees are 

measured at the higher of (i) the amount determined in accordance with 

HKAS 37 ñProvisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assetsò and 

(ii) the amount initially recognised less, where appropriate, accumulated 

amortisation recognised over the life of the guarantee on a straight-line 

basis. Any changes in the liability relating to financial guarantee contracts 

are taken to the income statement. 

2.11  2.11 Derecognition of financial instruments 

(1)  (1) Financial assets  

̢ 

 

The Group derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights 

to the cash flows from the financial asset expire, or it transfers the 

rights to receive the contractual cash flows in a transaction in which 

substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial 

asset are transferred or in which the Group neither transfers nor 

retains substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership and it 

does not retain control of the financial asset. 

(

) (i) (

) (ii)

̢ 

 

On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between the 

carrying amount of the asset (or the carrying amount allocated to the 

portion of the asset derecognised) and the sum of (i) the consideration 

received (including any new asset obtained less any new liability 

assumed) and (ii) any cumulative gain or loss that had been 

recognised in OCI is recognised in profit or loss. 
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(continued) 
 

2.  2. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 

2.11  2.11 Derecognition of financial instruments (continued) 

(1)  (1) Financial assets (continued) 

/

̢

̢ 

 

Any cumulative gain/loss recognised in OCI in respect of equity 

investment securities designated as at FVOCI is not recognised in 

profit or loss on derecognition of such securities. Any interest in 

transferred financial assets that qualify for derecognition that is 

created or retained by the Group is recognised as a separate asset or 

liability. 

 

̢

̢ 

 

The Group enters into transactions whereby it transfers assets 

recognised on its statement of financial position, but retains either all 

or substantially all of the risks and rewards of the transferred assets or 

a portion of them. In such cases, the transferred assets are not 

derecognised. 

̡

̢ 

 

In transactions in which the Group neither retains nor transfers 

substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership of a financial 

asset and it retains control over the asset, the Group continues to 

recognised the asset to the extent of its continuing involvement, 

determined by the extent to which it is exposed to changes in the 

value of the transferred asset. 

̢

̢

̢ 

 

In certain transactions, the Group retains the obligation to service the 

transferred financial asset for a fee. The transferred asset is 

derecognised if it meets the derecognition criteria. An asset or liability 

is recognised for the servicing contract if the servicing fee is more than 

adequate (asset) or is less than adequate (liability) for performing the 

servicing. 

 

(2)  (2) Financial liabilities 

̡

̢ 

 

The Group derecognises a financial liability when its contractual 

obligations are discharged or cancelled, or expire.  

2.12  2.12 Fair value measurement 

̡

̢

̢ 

 

The Group measures its premises and investment properties, precious 

metals and certain financial instruments at fair value at the end of each 

reporting period. Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an 

asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between 

market participants in its principal market or the most advantageous 

market accessible by the Group at the measurement date. 

 

̢ 

 

The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions 

that market participants would use when pricing the asset or liability, 

assuming that market participants act in their economic best interest. 

̢ 

 

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a 

market participantôs ability to generate economic benefits by using the 

asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market 

participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use. 
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(continued) 
 

2.  2. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 
2.12  2.12 Fair value measurement (continued) 

̡

̡

̢ 

 

If the market for assets or liabilities is not active, the Group uses valuation 

techniques, including the use of recent armôs length transactions, 

discounted cash flow analysis, option pricing models and other valuation 

techniques commonly used by market participants, that are appropriate in 

the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to measure 

fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and 

minimising the use of unobservable inputs. 

2.13  2.13 Precious metals 

̡ ̢

̢

˵

̢ 

 

Precious metals comprise gold, silver and other precious metals. 

Precious metals are initially recognised and subsequently re-measured at 

fair value. Mark-to-market gains or losses on precious metals are 

included in net trading gain/loss. 

2.14  2.14 Impairment of financial assets 

 

The Group recognises loss allowances for ECL on the following 

financial instruments that are not measured at FVTPL: 

ɾ  ɾ financial assets that are debt instruments; 

ɾ  ɾ lease receivables; 

ɾ  ɾ financial guarantee contracts issued; 

ɾ  ɾ loan commitments issued; and 

ɾ ̢ 

 
ɾ contract asset. 

̢ 

 
No impairment loss is recognised on equity investments. 

12

 

  

The Group measures loss allowances for 12-month or lifetime ECL 

using a 3-stage approach as follows: 

  

Stage 

 

Description 

 

Impairment Loss 

 1  

Performing 

12  

12-month ECL 

 2  

Performing but with credit risk increased significantly at reporting 
date since its initial recognition 

 

Lifetime ECL 

 3  

Non-performing 

 

Lifetime ECL 

  

12

12

̢ 

12-month ECL are the portion of ECL that result from default events on 

a financial instrument that are possible within the 12 months after the 

reporting date. 
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(continued) 
 

2.  2. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

  

2.14  2.14 Impairment of financial assets (continued) 

 Measurement of ECL 

 

ECL are a probability-weighted estimates of credit losses. They are 

measured as follows: 

ɾ 

(

)  

ɾ financial assets that are not credit-impaired at the reporting date: at 

the present value of all cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference between 

the cash flows due to the Group in accordance with the contract and 

the cash flows that the Group expects to receive); 

 

ɾ 

 

ɾ financial assets that are credit-impaired at the reporting date: as the 

difference between the gross carrying amount and the present value 

of estimated future cash flows; 

ɾ 

 

ɾ undrawn loan commitments: as the present value of the difference 

between the contractual cash flows that are due to the Group if the 

commitment is drawn down and the cash flows that the Group 

expects to receive; and 

ɾ 

̢ 

 

ɾ financial guarantee contracts: the expected payments to reimburse 

the holder less any amounts that the Group expects to recover. 

 

,  

 

In making an assessment of whether an investment in debt is 

credit-impaired, the Group considers the following factors: 

ɾ 

 

ɾ the marketôs assessment of creditworthiness as reflected in the bond 

yields; 

ɾ  ɾ the rating agenciesô assessments of creditworthiness;  

ɾ 

 

ɾ the countryôs ability to access the capital markets for new debt 

issuance; 

ɾ , 

 

ɾ the probability of debt being restructured, resulting in holders 

suffering losses through voluntary or mandatory debt forgiveness; 

ɾ  "

" , 

̢

̢ 

ɾ the international support mechanisms in place to provide the 

necessary support as ólender of last resortô to that country, as well as 

the intention, reflected in public statements, of governments and 

agencies to use those mechanisms. This includes an assessment of 

the depth of those mechanisms and, irrespective of the political 

intent, whether there is the capacity to fulfil the required criteria. 
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 Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 

(continued) 
 

2.  2. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

  

2.14  2.14 Impairment of financial assets (continued) 

 Measurement of ECL (continued) 

 

 

Loss allowances for ECL are presented in the statement of financial 

position as follows: 

ɾ : 

 

ɾ financial assets measured at amortised cost: as a deduction from 

the gross carrying amount of the assets;  

ɾ 

 

ɾ loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts: generally, as a 

provision;  

ɾ 

̢

̢

 

ɾ where a financial instrument includes both a drawn and an undrawn 

component, and the Group cannot identify the ECL on the loan 

commitment component separately from those on the drawn 

component: the Group presents a combined loss allowance for both 

components. The combined amount is presented as a deduction 

from the gross carrying amount of the drawn component. Any 

excess of the loss allowance over the gross amount of the drawn 

component is presented as a provision; and  

ɾ 

̢

̢ 

 

ɾ debt instruments measured at FVOCI: no loss allowance is 

recognised in the statement of financial position because the 

carrying amount of these assets is their fair value. However, the loss 

allowance is disclosed and is recognised in the fair value reserve. 

 Write-off 

̢

̢

̢ 

 

Loans and debt securities are written off (either partially or in full) when 

there is no reasonable expectation of recovering a financial asset in its 

entirety or a portion thereof. This is generally the case when the Group 

determines that the borrower does not have assets or sources of 

income that could generate sufficient cash flows to repay the amounts 

subject to the write-off. This assessment is carried out at the individual 

asset level.  

 

̢ 

 

Recoveries of amounts previously written off are included in 

impairment losses on financial instruments in the statement of profit or 

loss and OCI. 

̢ 

Financial assets that are written off could still be subject to 

enforcement activities in order to comply with the Groupôs procedures 

for recovery of amounts due. 
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 Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 

(continued) 

 

2.  2. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

  

2.14  2.14 Impairment of financial assets (continued) 

 Non-integral financial guarantee contracts  

̢

 

The Group assesses whether a financial guarantee contract held is an 

integral element of a financial asset that is accounted for as a 

component of that instrument or is a contract that is accounted for 

separately. The factors that the Group considers when making this 

assessment include whether: 

ɾ 

 

ɾ the guarantee is implicitly part of the contractual terms of the debt 

instrument; 

ɾ 

 

ɾ the guarantee is required by laws and regulations that govern the 

contract of the debt instrument; 

ɾ 

 

ɾ the guarantee is entered into at the same time as and in 

contemplation of the debt instrument; and 

ɾ 

̢ 

 

ɾ the guarantee is given by the parent of the borrower or another 

company within the borrowerôs group. 

̢

̢ 

 

If the Group determines that the guarantee is an integral element of the 

financial asset, then any premium payable in connection with the initial 

recognition of the financial asset is treated as a transaction cost of 

acquiring it. The Group considers the effect of the protection when 

measuring the fair value of the debt instrument and when measuring 

ECL.  

 

̢

̢  "

"  ( 26)̢

 "

" ̢ 

 

If the Group determines that the guarantee is not an integral element of 

the debt instrument, then it recognises an asset representing any 

prepayment of guarantee premium and a right to compensation for 

credit losses. A prepaid premium asset is recognised only if the 

guaranteed exposure neither is credit-impaired nor has undergone a 

significant increase in credit risk when the guarantee is acquired. 

These assets are recognised in other assets (see Note 26). The Group 

presents gains or losses on a compensation right in profit or loss in the 

line item ónet charge of impairment allowancesô.  

 

 Credit-impaired financial assets 

̢

̢ 

 

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether financial assets 

carried at amortised cost and debt financial assets carried at FVOCI 

are credit-impaired. A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or 

more events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future 

cash flows of the financial asset have occurred. 
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 Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 

(continued) 
 

2.  2. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

  

2.14  2.14 Impairment of financial assets (continued) 

 Credit-impaired financial assets (continued) 

 

 

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes but not 

limited to the following observable data: 

ɾ 

 

ɾ significant financial difficulty of the borrower or issuer; 

ɾ  ɾ a breach of contract such as a default or past due event; 

ɾ 

 

ɾ the restructuring of a loan or advance by the Group on terms that the 

Group would not consider otherwise; 

ɾ 

 

ɾ it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or 

other financial reorganisation; or 

ɾ  ̢

 
ɾ the disappearance of an active market for a security because of 

financial difficulties. 
 

̢ 90

̢ 

 

A loan that has been renegotiated due to a deterioration in the 

borrowerôs condition is usually considered to be credit-impaired unless 

there is evidence that the risk of not receiving contractual cash flows 

has reduced significantly and there are no other indicators of 

impairment. In addition, a loan that is overdue for 90 days or more is 

considered impaired. 

 Restructured financial assets 

 

 

If the terms of a financial asset are renegotiated or modified or an 

existing financial asset is replaced with a new one due to financial 

difficulties of the borrower, then an assessment is made of whether the 

financial asset should be derecognised and ECL are measured as 

follows: 

ɾ 

̢ 

ɾ If the expected restructuring will not result in derecognition of the 

existing asset, then the expected cash flows arising from the 

modified financial asset are included in calculating the cash 

shortfalls from the existing asset.  

ɾ 

̢

̢ 

ɾ If the expected restructuring will result in derecognition of the 

existing asset, then the expected fair value of the new asset is 

treated as the final cash flow from the existing financial asset at the 

time of its derecognition. This amount is included in calculating the 

cash shortfalls from the existing financial asset that are discounted 

from the expected date of derecognition to the reporting date using 

the original effective interest rate of the existing financial asset.  
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 Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 

(continued) 
 

2.  2. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

  

2.15

 

2.15 Impairment of investment in subsidiaries and non-financial assets 

̢

̡ ̡

̢̪ ̫

̪

̫

̢ 

 

Assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in 

circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. 

Potential indications of impairment may include significant adverse 

changes in the technological, market, economic or legal environment in 

which the assets operate or whether there has been a significant or 

prolonged decline in value below their cost. ñSignificantò is evaluated 

against the original cost of the investment and ñprolongedò against the 

period in which the fair value has been below its original cost. 

 

̢

̢

̢

̢ 

 

An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the assetôs 

carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount 

is the higher of an assetôs fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For 

the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest 

levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows (cash 

generating units). Assets that suffered impairment are reviewed for 

possible reversal of the impairment at each reporting date. 

 

̢ 

 

In the Bankôs statement of financial position, impairment testing of the 

investment in a subsidiary is also required upon receiving dividend from 

that entity if the dividend exceeds the total comprehensive income of that 

entity concerned in the period the dividend is declared or if the carrying 

amount of that entity in the Bankôs statement of financial position exceeds 

the carrying amount of that entityôs net assets including goodwill in its 

consolidated statement of financial position. 

 

2.16  2.16 Investment properties 

̢

̢

̢

̢ 2.18

̢ 
 

Properties that are held for long-term rental yields or for capital 

appreciation or both, and that are not occupied by the companies in the 

Group, are classified as investment properties. Properties leased out 

within Group companies are classified as investment properties in 

individual companiesô financial statements and as premises in 

consolidated financial statements in the comparative period. Land held 

under operating lease is classified and accounted for as investment 

property when the rest of the definition of investment property is met. The 

operating lease is accounted for as if it is a finance lease. Lease payments 

were accounted for as described in Note 2.18. 

 

̢

̢ 
 

Investment properties are recognised initially at cost, including related 

transaction costs. After initial recognition, investment properties are 

measured at fair value. 

 

̢

̢

̢

̢ 

 

Subsequent expenditure is charged to the assetôs carrying amount only 

when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item 

will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. 

The item is stated at cost less impairment and is included in the carrying 

amount of investment properties. Once the item begins to generate 

economic benefits, it is then measured at fair value. All other repairs and 

maintenance costs are expensed in the income statement during the 

financial period in which they are incurred. 
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 Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 

(continued) 
 

2.  2. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

  
2.16  2.16 Investment properties (continued) 

̢ 

 

Any changes in fair value are recognised directly in the income statement.  

 

̢

16 ̪ ̡ ̫

̢

̢ 
 

If an investment property becomes owner-occupied, it is reclassified as 

premises, and its fair value at the date of reclassification becomes its cost 

for accounting purposes. If an item of premises becomes an investment 

property because its use has changed, any difference resulting between 

the carrying amount and the fair value of this item at the date of transfer is 

recognised in other comprehensive income as a revaluation of premises 

under HKAS 16 ñProperty, Plant and Equipmentò. However, if a fair value 

gain reverses a previous revaluation loss or impairment loss, the gain is 

recognised in the income statement up to the amount previously debited. 

 

2.17 ̡  2.17 Properties, plant and equipment 

̢

̢

̢

̢ 
 

Properties are mainly branches and office premises. Premises are stated 

at fair value based on periodic, at least annually, valuations by external 

independent valuers less any subsequent accumulated depreciation and 

impairment losses. Any accumulated depreciation at the date of 

revaluation is eliminated against the gross carrying amount of the asset 

and the net amount is restated to the revalued amount of the asset. In the 

intervening periods, the directors review the carrying amount of premises, 

by reference to the open market value of similar properties, and 

adjustments are made when there has been a material change.  

 

̢

̢

̢

̢ 

 

Increases in the carrying amount arising on revaluation of premises are 

credited to the premises revaluation reserve through other comprehensive 

income. Decreases that offset previous increases of the same individual 

asset are charged against premises revaluation reserve through other 

comprehensive income; all other decreases are expensed in the income 

statement. Any subsequent increases are credited to the income 

statement up to the amount previously debited, and then to the premises 

revaluation reserve. Upon disposal of premises, the relevant portion of the 

premises revaluation reserve realised in respect of previous valuations is 

released and transferred from the premises revaluation reserve to retained 

earnings. 
 

2.18

̢

 ̢
 

All plant and equipment, including right-of-use assets arising from leases 

over leasehold properties where the Group is not the registered owner of 

the property interest and leases of underlying plant and equipment (Note 

2.18), are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and 

impairment losses. Historical cost includes expenditures that are directly 

attributable to the acquisition and installation of the items. 

̢

̢

̢ 

Subsequent costs are included in an assetôs carrying amount or are 

recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable 

that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the 

Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The item is 

stated at cost less impairment until it begins to generate economic 

benefits, then the item is subsequently measured according to the 

measurement basis of its respective assets class. All other repairs and 

maintenance costs are charged to the income statement during the 

financial period in which they are incurred. 
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 Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 

(continued) 
 

2.  2. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

  
2.17 ̡  2.17 Properties, plant and equipment (continued) 

 

 

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line method to write down the 

cost or revalued amount of such assets over their estimated useful lives as 

follows: 

ɾ   

ɾ  2 15  

 

ɾproperties over the life of government land leases 

ɾplant and equipment 2 to 15 years 

 ̢

 

The useful lives of assets are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, as at 

the end of each reporting period. 

̡

̢

̢

̢

̢

̢ 
 

At the end of each reporting period, both internal and external sources of 

information are considered to determine whether there is any indication 

that properties, plant and equipment, are impaired. If any such indication 

exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated and where 

relevant, an impairment loss is recognised to reduce the asset to its 

recoverable amount. Such an impairment loss is recognised in the income 

statement except where the asset is carried at valuation and the 

impairment loss does not exceed the revaluation surplus for that same 

asset, in which case it is treated as a revaluation decrease. The 

recoverable amount is the higher of the assetôs fair value less costs to sell 

and value in use. Impairment loss is reversed through the premises 

revaluation reserve or the income statement as appropriate. 

̢

̢ 

 

Gains or losses on disposals are determined as the difference between 

the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount, relevant taxes and 

expenses. These are recognised in the income statement on the date of 

disposal. Any related revaluation surplus is transferred from the 

revaluation reserve to retained earnings and is not reclassified to the 

income statement. 

2.18  2.18 Leases 

(1) 2019 1 1  (1) Policy applicable from 1 January 2019 

12

, 

̢

, 

̢

̢

̢

 ̢

The Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the 

lease commencement date, except for short-term leases that have a 

lease term of 12 months or less and leases of low-value assets. When 

the Group enters into a lease in respect of a low-value asset, the 

Group decides whether to capitalise the lease on a lease-by-lease 

basis. The lease payments associated with those leases which are not 

capitalised are recognised as an expense on a systematic basis over 

the lease term. The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost, 

which comprises the initial amount of the lease liability plus any lease 

payments made at or before the commencement date, and any initial 

direct costs incurred. Where applicable, the cost of the right-of-use 

assets also includes an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove the 

underlying asset or to restore the underlying asset or the site on which 

it is located, discounted to their present value, less any lease 

incentives received. 

 

̢

̢ 

 

The right-of-use asset is subsequently measured at cost less any 

accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for 

certain remeasurements of the lease liability. When a right-of-use 

asset meets the definition of investment property, it is initially 

measured at cost, and subsequently at fair value, in accordance with 

the Groupôs accounting policies. 
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 Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 

(continued) 
 

2.  2. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 

2.18  2.18 Leases (continued) 

(1) 2019 1 1  (1) Policy applicable from 1 January 2019 (continued) 

̢

̢ 

 

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease 

payments that are not paid at the commencement date, discounted 

using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be 

readily determined, the Groupôs incremental borrowing rate. Generally, 

the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate as the discount rate. 

 

̢

̡

̢

̢ 

 

The lease liability is subsequently increased by the interest cost on the 

lease liability and decreased by lease payment made. It is remeasured 

when there is a change in future lease payments arising from a 

change in an index or rate, a change in the estimate of the amount 

expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee, or as 

appropriate, changes in the assessment of whether a purchase or 

extension option is reasonably certain to be exercised or a termination 

option is reasonably certain not to be exercised. When the lease 

liability is remeasured in this way, a corresponding adjustment is made 

to the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset, or is recorded in profit 

or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset has been 

reduced to zero. 

̢

̢ 

 

The Group has applied judgement to determine the lease term for 

some lease contracts in which it is a lessee that include renewal 

options. The assessment of whether the Group is reasonably certain 

to exercise such options impacts the lease term, which significantly 

affects the amount of lease liabilities and right-of-use assets 

recognised. 

 

(2) 2019 1 1  (2) Policy applicable before 1 January 2019 

(1)  (1) Operating leases 

̢

̢

̢ 

 

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of 

ownership are retained by the lessor are classified as operating 

leases. The total payments made under operating leases (net of any 

incentives received from the lessor) are charged to the income 

statement on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease. 

Contingent rental payable is recognised as expense in the accounting 

period in which they are incurred. 

̢

̢ 

 

When an operating lease is terminated before the lease period has 

expired, any payment required to be made to the lessor by way of 

penalty is recognised as an expense in the period in which termination 

takes place. Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a 

straight-line basis over the lease term. 

(2)  (2) Finance leases 

̢

̢ 

 

Leases of assets where lessee have obtained substantially all the risks 

and rewards of ownership are classified as finance leases. 

Government land leases in Hong Kong are classified as finance leases 

as the present value of the minimum lease payments (i.e. transaction 

price) of the land amounted to substantially all of the fair value of the 

land as if it were freehold. 
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(continued) 
 

2.  2. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 

2.18  2.18 Leases (continued) 

(2) 2019 1 1  (2) Policy applicable before 1 January 2019 (continued) 

(2)  (2) Finance leases (continued) 

̢

̢

̢

̢ 

 

Finance leases are capitalised at the leaseôs commencement at the 

lower of the fair value of the leased asset and the present value of the 

minimum lease payments. Each lease payment is allocated between 

the liability and finance charges so as to achieve a constant rate on 

the finance balance outstanding. The corresponding rental obligations, 

net of finance charges, are included in other liabilities. Investment 

properties acquired under finance leases are carried at their fair value. 

 

̢

̢ 

 

When assets are leased out under a finance lease, the present value 

of the lease payments is recognised as a receivable. Lease income is 

recognised over the term of the lease using net investment method, 

which reflects a constant periodic rate of return.  

2.19  2.19 Cash and cash equivalents 

̡

̡

̢ 

 

For the purposes of the consolidated cash flow statement, cash and cash 

equivalents comprise balances with original maturity less than three 

months from the date of acquisition, including cash, balances with banks 

and other financial institutions, short-term bills and notes classified as 

investment securities and certificates of deposit. 

2.20  2.20 Provisions 

̢ 

 

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or 

constructive obligation as a result of past events, it is probable that an 

outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to 

settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate of the amount of the obligation 

can be made. 
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(continued) 
 

2.  2. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 

2.21  2.21 Employee benefits 

(1)  (1) Retirement benefit costs 

̢

̢

̢

̢ 

 

The Group contributes to defined contribution retirement schemes 

under either recognised ORSO schemes or MPF schemes that are 

available to the Groupôs employees. Contributions to the schemes by 

the Group and employees are calculated as a percentage of 

employeesô basic salaries for the ORSO schemes and in accordance 

with the MPF rules for MPF schemes. The retirement benefit scheme 

costs are charged to the income statement as incurred and represent 

contributions payable by the Group to the schemes. Contributions 

made by the Group that are forfeited by those employees who leave 

the ORSO scheme prior to the full vesting of their entitlement to the 

contributions are used by the Group to reduce the existing level of 

contributions or to meet its expenses under the trust deed of the 

ORSO schemes. 

̢ 

 

The assets of the schemes are held in independently-administered 

funds separate from those of the Group. 

(2)  (2) Leave entitlements 

̢ 

 

Employee entitlements to annual leave and sick leave are recognised 

when they accrue to employees. A provision is made for the estimated 

liability for unused annual leave and the amount of sick leave 

expected to be paid as a result of services rendered by employees up 

to the end of the reporting period. 

 

̢

̢

̢ 

 

Compensated absences other than sick leave and special approved 

annual leaves are non-accumulating; they lapse if the current periodôs 

entitlement is not used in full. Except for unexpired annual leaves, 

they do not entitle employees to a cash payment for unused 

entitlement on leaving the Group. 

 

(3)  (3) Bonus plans 

̢

12

̢ 

 

The expected cost of bonus payments are recognised as a liability 

when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a 

result of services rendered by employees and a reliable estimate of 

the obligation can be made. Liabilities for bonus plans that are 

expected to be settled longer than twelve months will be discounted if 

the amounts are significant. 
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(continued) 
 

2.  2. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 
2.22  2.22 Current and deferred income taxes 

̢

̢ 

 

Tax expense for the period comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is 

recognised in the income statement, except to the extent that it relates to 

items recognised in OCI or directly in equity. In these cases, the tax is also 

recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity 

respectively. 

 

̢ 
 

Income tax payable on profits, based on the applicable tax law enacted or 

substantially enacted at the end of the reporting period in each jurisdiction 

where the Bank and the subsidiaries operate and generate taxable 

income, is recognised as a current income tax expense in the period in 

which profits arise. 

 

̢

̢ 
 

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the balance sheet liability 

method, on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets 

and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial 

statements. Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates and laws 

that have been enacted or substantially enacted by the end of the 

reporting period and are expected to apply when the related deferred 

income tax asset is realised or the deferred income tax liability is settled. 

 

̡ ̡

̢

̢ 
 

The principal temporary differences arise from asset impairment 

provisions, depreciation of premises and equipment, and revaluation of 

certain assets including financial instruments at FVOCI and premises. 

However, the deferred income tax is not recognised if it arises from initial 

recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other than a business 

combination that at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting 

nor taxable profit or loss. 

 

̢

̡

̡

̢ 
 

Deferred income tax liabilities are provided in full on all taxable temporary 

differences. Deferred income tax assets are recognised on all deductible 

temporary differences, the carry forward of any unused tax credits and 

unused tax losses to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit 

will be available against which the deductible temporary differences, the 

carry forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised.  

 

̢

̢ 

Deferred income tax is charged or credited in the income statement except 

for deferred income tax relating to fair value re-measurement of financial 

instruments at FVOCI and revaluation of premises which are charged or 

credited to other comprehensive income, in which case the deferred 

income tax is also credited or charged to other comprehensive income and 

is subsequently recognised in the income statement together with the 

realisation of the deferred gain and loss. 

 

̢ 

Deferred tax liability or deferred tax asset arising from investment property 

is determined based on the presumption that the revaluation amount of 

such investment property will be recovered through sale with the relevant 

tax rate applied. 
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(continued) 
 

2.  2. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 

2.23  2.23 Repossessed assets 

̢

̢

̪ ̫

̪ ̫ ̢ 

 

Repossessed assets are initially recognised at the lower of their fair value 

less costs to sell and the amortised cost of the related outstanding loans 

on the date of repossession, and the related loans and advances together 

with the related impairment allowances are derecognised from the 

statement of financial position. Subsequently, repossessed assets are 

measured at the lower of their cost and fair values less costs to sell and 

are reported as ñRepossessed assetsò included in ñOther assetsò. 

2.24  2.24 Fiduciary activities 

̡

̢

̢ 

 

The Group commonly acts as a trustee, or in other fiduciary capacities, 

that result in its holding or managing assets on behalf of individuals, trusts 

and other institutions. These assets and any gains or losses arising 

thereon are excluded from these financial statements, as they are not 

assets of the Group. 

2.25  2.25 Contingent liabilities and contingent assets 

̢

̢ 

 

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past events 

and whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or 

non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within 

the control of the Group. It can also be a present obligation arising from 

past events that is not recognised because it is not probable that an 

outflow of economic resources will be required or the amount of obligation 

cannot be measured reliably.  

 

̢

̢ 

 

A contingent liability is not recognised as a provision but is disclosed in the 

notes to the financial statements. When a change in the probability of an 

outflow occurs so that outflow is probable, it will then be recognised as a 

provision.  

̢ 

 

A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events and 

whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or 

non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within 

the control of the Group. 

̢

̢ 

 

Contingent assets are not recognised but are disclosed in the notes to the 

financial statements when an inflow of economic benefits is probable. 

When the inflow is virtually certain, it will be recognised as an asset. 
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(continued) 
 

2.  2. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 

2.26  2.26 Related parties 

 

 

For the purposes of these financial statements, a party is considered to be 

related to the Group if: 

 

(a) 

 

(a) a person, or a close member of that personôs family, is related to the 

Group if that person: 

(i)  

(ii)  

(iii) 

̢ 

 

(i) has control or joint control over the Group; 

(ii) has significant influence over the Group; or 

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of the Group or 

the Groupôs parent. 

 

(b) 

 

(b) an entity is related to the Group if any of the following conditions 

applies: 

(i) 

̡

̢ 

(ii) 

̢ 

(iii) 

̢ 

(iv) 

̢ 

(v) 

̢ 

(vi) (a)

̢ 

(vii) (a)(i)

̢ 

(viii) 

̢ 

 

(i) The entity and the Group are members of the same group (which 

means that each parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is 

related to the others). 

 

(ii) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or 

an associate or joint venture of a member of a group of which the 

other entity is a member). 

 

(iii) Both entities are joint venture of the same third party. 

 

(iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is 

an associate of the third entity. 

 

(v) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of 

employees of either the Group or an entity related to the Group. 

 

(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified 

in (a). 

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the 

entity or is a member of the key management personnel of the 

entity (or of a parent of the entity). 

 

 

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part, 

provides key management personnel services to the Group or to 

the Groupôs parent. 

̢ 

Close members of the family of a person are those family members who 

may be expected to influence, or be influenced by, that person in their 

dealings with the entity. 
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(continued) 
 

3. 

 

3. Critical accounting estimates and judgements in applying   

accounting policies 
 

̡ ̡

̡ ̢

̢ 

 

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management has made 

judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of the 

Groupôs accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, 

income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates. 

(a)  (a) Key sources of estimation uncertainty 

4.1E 5

̢  

 

Note 4.1E and Note 5 contain information about the assumptions and 

their risk factors relating to impairment and fair values of financial 

instruments. Other key sources of estimation uncertainty are as follows: 

(i)  (i) Impairment losses 

4.1E

̢ 

Note 4.1E: impairment of financial instruments involves determining 

inputs into the ECL measurement model, including incorporation of 

forward-looking information. 

 

(ii)  (ii) Valuation of financial instruments 

5̢

/

̢ 

The Groupôs accounting policy for valuation of financial instruments is 

included in Note 5. The fair value of the financial instruments is mainly 

based on the quoted market price on a recognised stock exchange or a 

price quoted from a broker/dealer for non-exchanged traded financial 

instruments. 

 

  



 

                                                                  

73 

 Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 

(continued) 
 

3. 

 

3. Critical accounting estimates and judgements in applying   

accounting policies (continued) 

 
(b)  (b) Critical accounting judgements in applying the Groupôs accounting 

policies 

 

 

Certain critical accounting judgements in applying the Groupôs 

accounting policies are described below: 

(i)  (i) Classification of financial assets 

2.8(2)(iii) 2.8(2)(iv)

̢ 

Note 2.8(2)(iii) and Note 2.8(2)(iv): assessment of the business model 

within which the assets are held and assessment of whether the 

contractual terms of the financial asset are solely payments of principal 

and interest on the principal amount outstanding. 
 

(ii)  (ii) Measurement of ECL 

4.1E

̢ 

 

Note 4.1E: establishing the criteria for determining whether credit risk on 

the financial asset has increased significantly since initial recognition, 

determining methodology for incorporating forward looking information 

into measurement of ECL and selection of models used to measure ECL. 

(iii)  (iii) Recognition of deferred tax assets 

̢

̢ 

 

Deferred tax assets on unused tax losses and impairment allowances are 
recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be 
available against which the losses can be utilized. Significant 
management judgement is required to determine the amount of deferred 
tax assets that can be recognised, based upon the likely timing and level 
of future taxable profits. 

 

̢

̢ 

Deferred tax assets on unused tax credits are recognised. Significant 
management judgement is required to determine the amount of deferred 
tax assets that can be recognised, based upon the estimation of available 
tax credits and the possibility to recover such deferred tax assets 
recognised.  
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(continued) 

 

4.  4. Financial risk management 

 ̢

̡

̢

̡ ̡

̢ 

 

The Group is exposed to financial risks as a result of engaging in a variety of 

business activities. The principal financial risks are credit risk, market risk 

(including currency risk and interest rate risk) and liquidity risk. This note 

summarises the Groupôs exposures to these risks, as well as its objectives, risk 

management governance structure, policies and processes for managing and the 

methods used to measure these risks. 

 

 Financial risk management framework 

̢

̡ ̡

̢

̢

̢ 

 

The Groupôs risk management governance structure is designed to cover all 

business processes and ensures various risks are properly managed and 

controlled in the course of conducting business. The Group has a robust risk 

management organisational structure with a comprehensive set of policies and 

procedures to identify, measure, monitor and control various risks that may arise. 

These risk management policies and procedures are regularly reviewed and 

updated to reflect changes in markets and business strategies. Various groups of 

risk takers assume their respective responsibilities for risk management. 

 

 

̢

̢ 

 

The Board of Directors, representing the interests of shareholders, is the highest 

decision-making authority of the Group and has the ultimate responsibility for risk 

management. The Board, with the assistance of its committees, has the primary 

responsibility for the formulation of risk management strategies and ensuring that 

the Group has an effective risk management system to implement these 

strategies. 

̢

( )

̢

̢ 

 

The Risk Management Committee (RC), a standing committee established by the 

Board of Directors, is responsible for overseeing the Groupôs various types of 

risks, approving significant risk management policies and monitoring their 

implementation. The CEO Executive Meeting (Credit Approval) is responsible for 

approving credit transactions exceeding Chief Executive (CE) ós authority or 

referred by CE. The Audit Committee assists the Board in fulfilling its role in 

overseeing the internal control system. 

 

̢

̢

̡

̡

̢

̢

̢ 

 

The CE is responsible for managing the Groupôs various types of risks, and 

material risk exposures or transactions within his authority delegated by the Board 

of Directors. The Chief Risk Officer (CRO) assists the CE in managing the Groupôs 

various types of risks, and approving material risk exposures or transactions within 

his authority. With the support from Risk Management Department (RMD) and 

Financial Management Department (FMD), the CRO assists the CE in fulfilling his 

responsibilities for the day-to-day management of risks and initiating new risk 

management strategies, projects and measures that will enable the Group to 

better monitor and manage new risk issues or areas that may arise from time to 

time from new businesses, products and changes in the operating environment. 

He will also take appropriate initiatives in response to regulatory changes. The 

CRO and the General Manager of RMD are also responsible for reviewing 

material risk exposures or transactions within their delegated authority.  In 

accordance with the principle of setting the hierarchy of risk management policies 

approved by the Board, the senior management is also responsible for approving 

the detailed risk management policies of their responsible areas. 
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(continued) 

 

4.  4. Financial risk management (continued) 

  Financial risk management framework (continued) 

̢

̡

̢ 

 

Various units of the Group have their respective risk management responsibilities. 

Business units act as the first line of defence while risk management units, which 

are independent from the business units, are responsible for the day-to-day 

management of different kinds of risks. Risk management units have the primary 

responsibilities for drafting, reviewing and updating various risk management 

policies and procedures. 
 

̡ ̢

̢ 

 

The Group has put in place appropriate internal control systems, including 

establishment of an organisation structure that sets clear lines of authority and 

responsibility for monitoring compliance with policies, procedures and limits. 

Proper reporting lines also provide sufficient independence of the control functions 

from the business areas, as well as adequate segregation of duties throughout the 

organisation which helps to promote an appropriate internal control environment. 

 Product development and risk monitoring 

̢

̢ 

 

To ensure the effectiveness of risk assessment and monitoring, the Group has a 

comprehensive product development and risk monitoring system where roles and 

responsibilities of all related units are clearly defined and proper due diligence 

processes on product development are in place. 

 

̢

̢ 
 

In accordance with the strategic objectives set by the Board and the management, 

respective product management units are responsible for formulating business 

and product development plans, and proceeding to specific product development 

activities. Various risk management units are responsible to conduct independent 

risk assessment in the product development process. 

 

̢ 

 

Products can only be launched upon completion of the product due diligence 

process to the satisfaction of all risk management units and approval from 

designated unit heads/the management. 
 

4.1  4.1 Credit risk  

̢ ̡

̢ ̡

̢ 
 

Credit risk is the risk of loss caused by customers or counterparties who are 

unable to or unwilling to meet their contractual obligations. Credit risk exists in 

the trading book and banking book, as well as on- and off-balance sheet 

transactions of the Group. It arises principally from lending, trade finance and 

treasury businesses. 

 

 Credit risk management framework 

̢

̢ 

 

The Group has formulated a comprehensive set of credit risk management 

policies and procedures, and appropriate credit risk limits to manage and 

control credit risk that may arise. These policies, procedures and credit risk 

limits are regularly reviewed and updated to cope with changes in market 

conditions and business strategies. 

 

̡

̢ 

 

The Groupôs organisation structure establishes well-defined authorities and 

responsibilities for monitoring compliance with policies, procedures and limits. 
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(continued) 

 

4.  4. Financial risk management (continued) 

 4.1  4.1 Credit risk (continued) 

 Credit risk management framework (continued) 

̢

̢

̡ ̡

̡

̢ 

 

Risk Assessment Department (RAD) and RMD are responsible for credit 

risk management. Various units of the Group have their respective credit 

risk management responsibilities. Business units act as the first line of 

defence. Both RAD and RMD, which are independent from the business 

units, is responsible for the day-to-day management of credit risks and has 

the primary responsibility for providing an independent due diligence 

through identifying, measuring, monitoring and controlling credit risk to 

ensure an effective checks and balances, as well as drafting, reviewing and 

updating credit risk management policies and procedures. 

 

̢

̡ ̡ ̡

̢ 

 

The Board of Directors delegates credit approval authority to the CE. The 

CE can further delegate to the subordinates within his limit authorised by 

the Board of Directors. The Group sets the limits of credit approval authority 

according to the credit business nature, rating, the level of transaction risk, 

and the extent of the credit exposure. 
 

 Credit risk measurement and control 

̢ 

 

In view of the rapidly changing market conditions, the Group has been 

continuously revisiting its credit strategies and conducting rigorous reviews 

on the concerned portfolios. 
 

 Advances 

̡

̢

̢

̡

̡

̢

̡ ̡

̢ 

 

Different credit approval and control procedures are adopted according to 

the level of risk associated with the customer, counterparty or transaction. 

The Credit Risk Assessment Committee, comprising experts from credit 

and other functions, is responsible for making an independent assessment 

of material credit applications. Credit applications for non-retail exposures 

are independently reviewed and objectively assessed by risk management 

units. Obligor ratings (in terms of probability of default) and facility ratings 

(in terms of loss given default) are assigned to these portfolios to support 

credit approval. Retail internal rating systems are deployed in the risk 

assessment of retail credit transactions, including small business retail 

exposures, residential mortgage loans and personal loans. Loan grades, 

obligor and facility ratings as well as loss estimates (if applicable) are used 

to support credit approval. 

̡

̡ ̢

̢ 

 

The Group also uses loan grades, obligor ratings and loss estimates (if 

applicable) to support credit monitoring, reporting and analysis of credit risk 

information. For non-retail exposures, more frequent rating review and 

closer monitoring are required for higher-risk customers. For retail 

exposures, monthly updated internal ratings and loss estimates are used 

for credit monitoring on a portfolio basis. More comprehensive review is 

required for obligors being identified under high-risk pools. 

(Standard & Poorôs)

̢

̨ ̩ ̢ 

The Group adopts an internal master rating scale that can be mapped to 

Standard & Poorôs external credit ratings. The structure of internal master 

rating scale is in compliance with the requirement of the Banking (Capital) 

Rules. 
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(continued) 

 

4.  4. Financial risk management (continued) 

 4.1  4.1 Credit risk (continued) 

 Credit risk measurement and control (continued) 

 Advances (continued) 

̢ 
 

RMD provides regular credit management information reports and ad hoc 

reports to the RC and Board of Directors to facilitate their continuous 

monitoring of credit risk. 

̡ ̡

̡

̡

̢ 
 

In addition, the Group identifies credit concentration risk by industry, 

geography, customer and counterparty. The Group monitors changes to 

counterparty credit risk, quality of the credit portfolio and credit risk 

concentrations, and reports regularly to the Groupôs Management. 

 

 

 

The Group adopts loan grading criteria which divides credit assets into five 

categories with reference to the HKMAôs guidelines, as below:  

 

̪ ̫

̢ 
 

ñPassò represents loans where the borrower is current in meeting its 

repayment obligations and full repayment of interest and principal is not in 

doubt. 

 

̪ ̫

̢

̢ 
 

ñSpecial Mentionò represents loans where the borrower is experiencing 

difficulties which may threaten the Groupôs position. Ultimate loss is not 

expected at this stage but could occur if adverse conditions persist. 

̪ ̫

̢ 
 

ñSubstandardò represents loans where the borrower displays a definable 

weakness that is likely to jeopardise repayment. 

 

̪ ̫

̢ 
 

ñDoubtfulò represents loans where collection in full is improbable and the 

Group expects to sustain a loss of principal and/or interest, taking into 

account the net realisable value of the collateral. 

 

̪ ̫

̡

̢ 

 

ñLossò represents loans which are considered uncollectible after all collection 

options (such as the realisation of collateral or the institution of legal 

proceedings) have been exhausted. 
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(continued) 

 

4.  4. Financial risk management (continued) 

 4.1  4.1 Credit risk (continued) 

 Credit risk measurement and control (continued) 

 Debt securities and derivatives 

̡

̢ 
 

For investments in debt securities, the obligor ratings or external credit 

ratings, assessment of the underlying assets and credit limits setting on 

customer or security issuer basis are used for managing credit risk associated 

with the investment. For derivatives, the Group sets customer limits to 

manage the credit risk involved and follows the same approval and control 

processes as applied for advances. Ongoing monitoring and stop-loss 

procedures are established. 

 

̡

̡

̢

̢ 

 

Settlement risk arises mainly from foreign exchange transactions with 

counterparties and also from derivatives transactions in any situation where a 

payment in cash, securities or equities is made in the expectation of a 

corresponding receipt in cash, securities or equities. Daily settlement limits 

are established for each counterparty or customer to cover all settlement risk 

arising from the Groupôs market transactions on any single day. 

 

 Collateral held as security and other credit enhancements 

̡ ̡

̡ ̡

̢

̡

̢

̢ ̡

̡ ̡ ̡

̢ 

 

The valuation and management of collateral have been documented in the 

credit risk management policies and procedures which cover acceptance 

criteria, validity of collateral, loan-to-value ratio, haircut ratio, valuation and 

insurance, etc. The collateral is revalued on a regular basis, though the 

frequency and the method used varies with the type of collateral involved and 

the nature and the risk of the underlying credit. The Group has established a 

mechanism to update the value of its main type of collateral, real estate 

properties, with the use of public indices on a portfolio basis. In the personal 

sector, the main types of collateral are real estate properties, cash deposits 

and securities. In the commercial and industrial sector, the main types of 

collateral are real estate properties, securities, receivables, cash deposits and 

machinery. 

 

 

̡

̢ 

 

For loans guaranteed by a third party, the Group will assess the guarantorôs 

financial condition, credit history and ability to meet obligations. 
 

2019 12 31

2018  ̢

 

As at 31 December 2019, the Group did not hold any collateral that it was 

permitted to sell or re-pledge in the absence of default by the borrower (2018: 

Nil). 
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(continued) 
 

4.      4. Financial risk management (continued) 

  

4.1  4.1 Credit risk (continued) 

A.  A. Credit exposures 

̢

̢

̢

̢ 

 

The maximum credit exposure is the worst case scenario of exposure to the 

Group without taking into account any collateral held or other credit 

enhancements. For on-balance sheet assets, the maximum exposure to 

credit risk equals their carrying amount. For letters of guarantee issued, the 

maximum exposure to credit risk is the maximum amount that the Group 

could be required to pay if the guarantees are called upon. For loan 

commitment and other credit related liabilities, the maximum exposure to 

credit risk is the full amount of the committed facilities. 

 

 

The nature of the collateral held and other credit enhancements and their 

financial effect to the different classes of the Groupôs financial assets are as 

follows: 

 

Balances and placements with banks and other financial institutions 

̢

̢ 

 

These exposures are generally considered to be low risk due to the nature 

of the counterparties. Collateral is generally not sought on these assets.  

 

 Investment in securities 

 ̢

 
Collateral is generally not sought on debt securities. 

 Derivative financial instruments 

̪ISDA

̫

̢ ISDA

̢

ISDA

(CSA)̢

( ) ̢ 

 

The Master Agreement published by the International Swaps and 

Derivatives Association, Inc. (ñISDA Master Agreementò) is the preferred 

agreement for documenting derivatives activities of the Group. It provides 

the contractual framework under which dealing activities of over-the-counter 

(ñOTCò) transactions are conducted, and sets out close-out netting 

provisions upon termination following the occurrence of an event of default 

or a termination event. In addition, if deemed necessary, Credit Support 

Annex ("CSA") will be included to form part of the Schedule to the ISDA 

Master Agreement. Under a CSA, collateral is passed from one counterparty 

to another, as appropriate, to mitigate the exposures. 

̡

 

Advances to customers and trade bills, contingent liabilities and 

commitments 

78 ̢

̡

̢

33

̢ 2019 12

31

26.44% 2018

29.36% ̢ 

The general types of collateral are disclosed on page 78. Advances to 

customers and trade bills, contingent liabilities and commitments are 

collateralised to the extent considered appropriate by the Group taking 

account of the risk assessment of individual exposures. The components 

and nature of contingent liabilities and commitments are disclosed in Note 

33. Regarding the commitments that are unconditionally cancellable without 

prior notice, the Group would assess the necessity to withdraw the credit 

line in case where the credit quality of a borrower deteriorates. For 

contingent liabilities and commitments, 26.44% (2018: 29.36%) is covered 

by collateral as at 31 December 2019. 
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(continued) 
 

4.      4. Financial risk management (continued) 

  

4.1  4.1 Credit risk (continued) 

B.  B. Credit quality analysis 

 

(a) 

 

(a) Credit quality of advances to customers and trade bills 

  

̢ 

The following tables set out information about the credit quality of advances to 

customers and trade bills. The amounts in the table represent gross carrying 

amount. 

 

 2019  

 
Advances to customers at 
amortised cost 

12  

 

 
12-month ECL  

 

 

Lifetime ECL not 
credit-impaired  

 

 

Lifetime ECL 
credit-impaired  

 

 
Total 

         

  HK$ô000  HK$ô000  HK$ô000  HK$ô000 

          Pass 
74,473,819  753,406  -  75,227,225 

 Special Mention 
4,333  539,201  -  543,534 

 Substandard 
-  -  96,089  96,089 

 Doubtful 
-  -  182,289  182,289 

 Loss 
-  -  17,822  17,822 

 Loss allowance 
(326,066)  (18,309)  (284,868)  (629,243) 

         
 Carrying amount 74,152,086  1,274,298  11,332  75,437,716 

 

 2018 

 
Advances to customers at 
amortised cost 

12  

 

 
12-month ECL  

 

 

Lifetime ECL not 
credit-impaired  

 

 

Lifetime ECL 
credit-impaired  

 

 
Total 

         

  HK$ô000  HK$ô000  HK$ô000  HK$ô000 

          Pass 
47,273,923  718,270  -  47,992,193  

 Special Mention 
-  229,016  -  229,016  

 Substandard 
-  -  105,671  105,671  

 Doubtful 
-  -  142,578  142,578  

 Loss 
-  -  8,910  8,910  

 Loss allowance 
(139,832)  (17,599)  (189,268)  (346,699) 

         
 Carrying amount 47,134,091  929,687  67,891  48,131,669 
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(continued) 
 

4.      4. Financial risk management (continued) 

  

4.1  4.1 Credit risk (continued) 

B.  B. Credit quality analysis 

 

(a) 

 

(a) Credit quality of advances to customers and trade bills (continued) 

 

 2019  

 Trade bills at amortised cost 

12  

 

 
12-month ECL  

 

 

Lifetime ECL not 
credit-impaired  

 

 

Lifetime ECL 
credit-impaired  

 

 
Total 

         

  HK$ô000  HK$ô000  HK$ô000  HK$ô000 

          Pass 
1,553,101  -  -  1,553,101 

 Loss allowance 
(3,926)  -  -  (3,926) 

         
 Carrying amount 1,549,175  -  -  1,549,175 

 

 2018  

 Trade bills at amortised cost 

12  

 

 
12-month ECL  

 

 

Lifetime ECL not 
credit-impaired  

 

 

Lifetime ECL 
credit-impaired  

 

 
Total 

         

  HK$ô000  HK$ô000  HK$ô000  HK$ô000 

          Pass 
1,804,245  -  -  1,804,245 

 Loss allowance 
(1,624)  -  -  (1,624) 

         
 Carrying amount 1,802,621  -  -  1,802,621 
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4.      4. Financial risk management (continued) 

  

4.1  4.1 Credit risk (continued) 

B.  B. Credit quality analysis 

  

 (b) 

 

(b) Credit quality of financial assets other than advances to customers and trade 

bills 
  

̢ 

The following table sets out information about the credit quality of balances and 
placements with banks and other financial institutions. The amounts in the table 
represent gross carrying amount. 

 

 2019 

̡

 

 

Balances and placements with 

central banks, banks and other 

financial institutions 

12  

 

 
12-month ECL  

 

 

Lifetime ECL not 
credit-impaired  

 

 

Lifetime ECL 
credit-impaired  

 

 
Total 

         

  HK$ô000  HK$ô000  HK$ô000  HK$ô000 

          Pass 
22,774,206  -  -  22,774,206 

 Loss allowance 
(484)  -  -  (484) 

         
 Carrying amount 22,773,722  -  -  22,773,722 

 

 2018 

̡

 

 

Balances and placements with 

central banks, banks and other 

financial institutions 

12  

 

 
12-month ECL  

 

 

Lifetime ECL not 
credit-impaired  

 

 

Lifetime ECL 
credit-impaired  

 

 
Total 

         

  HK$ô000  HK$ô000  HK$ô000  HK$ô000 

          Pass 
21,572,238  -  -  21,572,238 

 Loss allowance 
(325)  -  -  (325) 

         
 Carrying amount 21,571,913  -  -  21,571,913 
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4.  4. Financial risk management (continued) 

  

4.1  4.1 Credit risk (continued) 

B.  B. Credit quality analysis (continued) 

  

 (b) 

 

(b) Credit quality of financial assets other than advances to customers and trade 

bills (continued) 

  

̢

̢ 

The following tables present the credit quality of debt securities mandatorily measured 

and designated at FVTPL. In the absence of such issue ratings, the ratings designated 

for the issuers are reported. 

 

 

  2019 

  
Aaa 

 
Aaa  

Aa1  Aa3 

 
Aa1 to Aa3  

A1  A3 

 
A1 to A3  

A3  

Lower  
than A3  

 

 
Unrated 

  

 
Total 

             

  HK$ô000  HK$ô000  HK$ô000  HK$ô000  HK$ô000  HK$ô000 

             

 

Financial assets 

mandatorily 

measured at 

FVTPL -  -  28,999  71,488 

 

47,663 

 

148,150 

 

Financial assets 

designated at 

FVTPL -  -  158,116  39,959 

 

172,532 

 

370,607 

  -  -  187,115  111,447  220,195  518,757 

             

 

  2018 

  
Aaa 

 
Aaa  

Aa1  Aa3 

 
Aa1 to Aa3  

A1 A3 

 
A1 to A3  

A3  

Lower  
than A3 

  

 
Unrated  

 

 
Total 

             

  HK$ô000  HK$ô000  HK$ô000  HK$ô000  HK$ô000  HK$ô000 

             

 

Financial assets 

mandatorily 

measured at 

FVTPL -  -  -  - 

 

- 

 

- 

 

Financial assets 

designated at 

FVTPL -  -  154,449  39,215 

 

170,940 

 

364,604 

  -  -  154,449  39,215  170,940  364,604 
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4.  4. Financial risk management (continued) 

  

4.1  4.1 Credit risk (continued) 

B.  B. Credit quality analysis (continued) 

  

 (b) 

 

(b) Credit quality of financial assets other than advances to customers and trade 

bills (continued) 

  

̢ 

 

Credit risk of treasury transactions is managed in the same way as the Group 

manages its corporate and bank lending risk and risk gradings are applied to the 

counterparties with individual counterparty limits set. 

 

 

At the end of the reporting period, the credit quality of investment in debt securities 

analysed by designation of external credit assessment institution, Moodyôs Investor 

Services, or equivalent, is as follows: 

 

 

 2019  

 

Debt securities and certificate of 

deposits at amortised cost 

12  

 

 
12-month ECL  

 

 

Lifetime ECL not 
credit-impaired  

 

 

Lifetime ECL 
credit-impaired  

 

 
Total 

         

  HK$ô000  HK$ô000  HK$ô000  HK$ô000 

         Aaa Aaa 
-  -  -  -  

Aa1  Aa3 Aa1 to Aa3 
113,448  -  -  113,448 

A1  A3  A1 to A3 
1,095,282  -  -  1,095,282  

A3  Lower than A3 
435,465  -  -  435,465 

 Unrated 
-  -  -  -  

          Loss allowance 
(1,798)  -  -  (1,798) 

Aaa Aaa         Carrying amount 1,642,397  -  -  1,642,397 

 

 2018  

 

Debt securities and certificate of 

deposits at amortised cost 

12  

 

 
12-month ECL  

 

 

Lifetime ECL not 
credit-impaired  

 

 

Lifetime ECL 
credit-impaired  

 

 
Total 

         

  HK$ô000  HK$ô000  HK$ô000  HK$ô000 

         Aaa Aaa -  -  -  - 

Aa1  Aa3 Aa1 to Aa3 115,445  -  -  115,445 

A1  A3  A1 to A3 1,132,189  -  -  1,132,189 

A3  Lower than A3 423,601  -  -  423,601 

 Unrated -  -  -  - 

         
 Loss allowance 

(334)  -  -  (334) 

         
 Carrying amount 1,670,901  -  -  1,670,901 
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4.  4. Financial risk management (continued) 

  

4.1  4.1 Credit risk (continued) 

B.  B. Credit quality analysis (continued) 

  

 (b) 

 

(b) Credit quality of financial assets other than advances to customers and trade 

bills (continued) 

 

 2019  

 

Debt securities and certificate of 

deposits at FVOCI 

 

12  

 

 
12-month ECL  

 

 

Lifetime ECL not 
credit-impaired  

 

 

Lifetime ECL 
credit-impaired  

 

 
Total 

         

  HK$ô000  HK$ô000  HK$ô000  HK$ô000 

         Aaa Aaa 
6,947,971  -  -  6,947,971 

Aa1  Aa3 Aa1 to Aa3 
9,990,944  -  -  9,990,944  

A1  A3  A1 to A3 
20,178,046  -  -  20,178,046  

A3  Lower than A3 
6,184,284  -  -  6,184,284  

 Unrated 
1,418,838  -  -  1,418,838  

          Carrying amount 
44,720,083  -  -  44,720,083 

         
 Loss allowance 26,400  -  -  26,400 

 

 2018  

 

Debt securities and certificate of 

deposits at FVOCI 

 

12  

 

 
12-month ECL  

 

 

Lifetime ECL not 
credit-impaired  

 

 

Lifetime ECL 
credit-impaired  

 

 
Total 

         

  HK$ô000  HK$ô000  HK$ô000  HK$ô000 

         Aaa Aaa 
2,630,256  -  -  2,630,256 

Aa1  Aa3 Aa1 to Aa3 
4,691,281  -  -  4,691,281 

A1  A3  A1 to A3 
11,041,190  -  -  11,041,190 

A3  Lower than A3 
5,910,737  -  -  5,910,737 

 Unrated 
2,229,634  -  -  2,229,634 

         
 Carrying amount 

26,503,098  -  -  26,503,098 

         
 Loss allowance 14,428  -  -  14,428 
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(continued) 
 

4.      4. Financial risk management (continued) 

  

4.1  4.1 Credit risk (continued) 

B.  B. Credit quality analysis (continued) 

  

 (b) 

 

(b) Credit quality of financial assets other than advances to customers and trade 

bills (continued) 

 

 2019 

 Other financial assets 

12  

 

 
12-month ECL  

 

 

Lifetime ECL not 
credit-impaired  

 

 

Lifetime ECL 
credit-impaired  

 

 
Total 

         

  HK$ô000  HK$ô000  HK$ô000  HK$ô000 

          Pass 
312,153  -  -  312,153  

 Special Mention 
-  10  -  10  

 Substandard 
-  -  -  - 

 Doubtful 
-  -  432  432  

 Loss 
-  -  699  699  

          Loss allowance 
(306)  -  (735)  (1,041) 

          Carrying amount 
311,847  10  396  312,253 

 
 2018 

 Other financial assets 

12  

 

 
12-month ECL  

 

 

Lifetime ECL not 
credit-impaired  

 

 

Lifetime ECL 
credit-impaired  

 

 
Total 

         

  HK$ô000  HK$ô000  HK$ô000  HK$ô000 

          Pass 
339,583  8  -  339,591 

 Special Mention 
-  -  -  - 

 Substandard 
-  -  1,819  1,819 

 Doubtful 
-  -  534  534 

 Loss 
-  -  125  125 

         
 Loss allowance 

(120)  -  (1,305)  (1,425) 

         
 Carrying amount 

339,463  8  1,173  340,644 
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(continued) 
 

4.      4. Financial risk management (continued) 

  

4.1  4.1 Credit risk (continued) 

B.  B. Credit quality analysis (continued) 

  

 (b) 

 

(b) Credit quality of financial assets other than advances to customers and trade 

bills (continued) 

 

 2019 

 

Loan commitments and financial 

guarantee contracts issued 

12  

 

 
12-month ECL  

 

 

Lifetime ECL not 
credit-impaired  

 

 

Lifetime ECL 
credit-impaired  

 

 
Total 

         

  HK$ô000  HK$ô000  HK$ô000  HK$ô000 

          Pass 
12,578,378  3,817  -  12,582,195 

 Special Mention 
-  47,084  -  47,084  

 Substandard 
-  -  -  -  

 Doubtful 
-  -  8,597  8,597 

 Loss 
-  -  -  -  

          Carrying amount 
12,578,378  50,901  8,597  12,637,876 

 Loss allowance (26,802)  (1)  -  (26,803) 

 
 2018 

 

Loan commitments and financial 

guarantee contracts issued 

12  

 

 
12-month ECL  

 

 

Lifetime ECL not 
credit-impaired  

 

 

Lifetime ECL 
credit-impaired  

 

 
Total 

         

  HK$ô000  HK$ô000  HK$ô000  HK$ô000 

          Pass 
11,289,208  70,204  -  11,359,412 

 Special Mention 
-  81,660  -  81,660 

 Substandard 
-  -  -  - 

 Doubtful 
-  -  8,597  8,597 

 Loss 
-  -  -  - 

      -   
 Carrying amount 

11,289,208  151,864  8,597  11,449,669 

 Loss allowance 
(8,427)  (22)  -  (8,449) 

 

̢

̢

̢ 

Advances with a specific repayment date are classified as overdue when the 

principal or interest is past due and remains unpaid. Advances repayable by regular 

instalments are classified as overdue when an instalment payment is past due and 

remains unpaid. Advances repayable on demand are classified as overdue either 

when a demand for repayment has been served on the borrower but repayment has 

not been made in accordance with the instruction or when the advances have 

remained continuously exceeded the approved limit that was advised to the 

borrower. 
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(continued) 
 

4.      4. Financial risk management (continued) 

  

4.1  4.1 Credit risk (continued) 

C.  C. Concentration risk 

  
(a) 

 

(a) Maximum exposure to credit risk before collateral held or other credit 

enhancement 

  

 

Maximum exposure to credit risk relating to assets in the consolidated 

statements of financial position are as follows: 

   2019  2018 

      

   HK$ô000  HK$ô000 

      

̡

 

Balances with central banks, banks 

and other financial institutions 

 

17,954,510  15,269,350 

 

Placements with banks and other 

financial institutions maturing 

between one and twelve months 

 

4,819,212  6,302,563 

 Derivative financial instruments  122,133  122,680 

 

Investment in securities mandatorily 

measured at fair value through 

profit or loss 

 

148,150  - 

 

Investment in securities designated at 

fair value through profit or loss 

 

370,607  364,604 

 

Investment in debt securities at fair 

value through other comprehensive 

income 

 

44,720,083  26,503,098 

 

Investment in securities at amortised 

cost 

 

1,642,397  1,670,901 

 Advances to customers and trade 

bills 

 

76,986,891  49,934,290 

      
   146,763,983  100,167,486 

       

 

Maximum exposure to credit risk relating to items unrecorded in the consolidated 

statements of financial position are as follows: 

   2019  2018 

      

   HK$ô000  HK$ô000 

      

 Direct credit substitutes  5,147  10,005 

 Transaction-related contingencies  24,771  30,801 

 Trade-related contingencies  475,735  604,858 

 

Commitments excluding those that 

are unconditionally cancellable 

without prior notice 

 

4,645,828  3,652,073 

      
   5,151,481  4,297,737 
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(continued) 
 

4.      4. Financial risk management (continued) 

  

4.1  4.1 Credit risk (continued) 

C.  C. Concentration risk (continued) 

  
(b) 

 

(b) Sectoral analysis of gross advances to customers 

  

̢ 

The following analysis of the gross advances to customers by industry sector is 

based on the categories with reference to the completion instructions for the 

HKMA return of loans and advances. 

 
  2019 

  

   

 

  

 

   

  Gross 
advances to 

customers  

% covered by 
collateral or 

other security 

 

Impaired  

Stage 3 
impairment 
allowances  

Stage 1 & 2 
 impairment 

allowances 

           

  HK$ô000    HK$ô000  HK$ô000  HK$ô000 

           

 Loans for use in Hong Kong          
           

 Industrial, commercial and 
financial          

-  - Property development 2,948,523  34.74%  -  -  11,265 
-  - Property investment 2,990,725  74.68%  20  -  10,444 
-  - Financial concerns 3,714,601  24.46%  -  -  17,381 
-  - Stockbrokers 1,023,915  7.48%  -  -  2,123 
-  - Wholesale and retail trade 6,201,435  85.16%  -  -  6,445 

-  - Manufacturing 1,510,084  13.47%  -  -  4,169 
-  - Transport and transport 

equipment 635,218  36.93%  -  -  470 

-  - Recreational activities 14,440  100.00%  -  -  20 
-  - Information technology 76,715  5.64%  -  -  1,076 
-  - Others 4,172,343  59.13%  11  -  7,366 

           
 Individuals          

- ̡

 

- Loans for the purchase of 
flats in Home Ownership 
Scheme, Private Sector 
Participation Scheme 
and Tenants Purchase 
Scheme 34,610  100.00%  -  -  49 

- 

 

- Loans for purchase of other 
residential properties 3,322,481  100.00%  3,239  -  2,557 

-  - Others 7,803,061  97.51%  187  -  89,501 

           
 Total loans for use in Hong 

Kong 34,448,151  67.97%  3,457  -  152,866 
           

 Trade finance 1,500,565  81.32%  100,339  100,339  2,544 
           

 Loans for use outside Hong 
Kong 40,118,243  13.50%  192,404  184,529  188,965 

           
 Gross advances to customers 76,066,959  39.50%  296,200  284,868  344,375 

 

  



 

                                                                  

90 

 Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 

(continued) 
 

4.      4. Financial risk management (continued) 

  

4.1  4.1 Credit risk (continued) 

C.  C. Concentration risk (continued) 

  
(b) 

 

(b) Sectoral analysis of gross advances to customers (continued) 

  

 
  2018 

  

   

  

  

 

   

  Gross  
advances 

to customers  

% covered by 
collateral  

or other security 

 
 

Impaired  

Stage 3 
impairment 
allowances  

Stage 1 & 2 
impairment 
allowances 

           

  HK$ô000    HK$ô000  HK$ô000  HK$ô000 
           

 Loans for use in Hong Kong 
         

           
 Industrial, commercial and 

financial          
-  - Property development 2,827,961  59.39%  -  -  7,351 
-  - Property investment 3,386,914  99.82%  21  -  4,237 
-  - Financial concerns 3,257,733  18.94%  -  -  21,878 
-  - Stockbrokers 909,296  8.64%  -  -  2,842 
-  - Wholesale and retail 

trade 3,790,704  85.64%  -  -  5,432 
-  - Manufacturing 1,056,826  24.02%  -  -  2,854 
-  - Transport and transport 

equipment 448,768  99.98%  -  -  3,246 
-  - Recreational activities 37,260  100.00%  -  -  26 
-  - Information technology 467,658  2.33%  -  -  143 
-  - Others 4,729,181  64.46%  17,832  2,133  5,594 

           
 Individuals          

- ̡

 

- Loans for the purchase of 
flats in Home 
Ownership Scheme, 
Private Sector 
Participation Scheme 
and Tenants Purchase 
Scheme 37,146  100.00%  -  -  19 

-  

 

- Loans for purchase of 
other residential 
properties 2,825,257  100.00%  5  -  1,314 

-  - Others 3,745,888  94.59%  352  329  7,401 

           
 Total loans for use in Hong 

Kong 27,520,592  69.79%  18,210  2,462  62,337 
           

 Trade finance 1,054,516  73.24%  80,602  80,251  1,911 
           

 Loans for use outside Hong 
Kong 19,903,260  28.32%  158,347  106,555  93,183 

 

 

  
 
      

 

 

Gross advances to 
customers 48,478,368  52.84%  257,159  189,268  157,431 
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4.      4. Financial risk management (continued) 

  

4.1  4.1 Credit risk (continued) 

C.  C. Concentration risk (continued) 

  

(c) 

 

(c) Geographical analysis of gross advances to customers 

 

  

̢

 ̢

The following geographical analysis of advances to customers is based on the 

locations of the counterparties, after taking into account the transfer of risk. For an 

advance to customer guaranteed by a party situated in a country different from the 

customer, the risk will be transferred to the country of the guarantor. 

 

 

   2019 

   

    

 

  

 

  

 

 

 

   

Total advances 

to customers  

Overdue 

advances  

Impaired 

advances  

Stage 3 

impairment 

allowances   

Stage 1 & 2 

impairment 

allowances  

            

   HK$ô000  HK$ô000  HK$ô000  HK$ô000  HK$ô000 

            

  Hong Kong 44,810,458  673,783  189,376  188,526  208,876 

  Mainland China 26,231,080  117,457  104,751  96,342  118,006 

  Others 5,025,421  2,073  2,073  -  17,493 

   76,066,959  793,313  296,200  284,868  344,375 

            
   2018 

   

    

 

  

 

  

 

 

 

   

Total advances to 

customers  

Overdue 

advances  

Impaired 

advances  

Stage 3 

impairment 

allowances   

Stage 1 & 2 

impairment 

allowances  

            

   HK$ô000  HK$ô000  HK$ô000  HK$ô000  HK$ô000 

            

  Hong Kong 39,787,907  277,438  107,509  91,403  120,254  

  Mainland China 5,273,038  51,680  147,631  97,865  19,986  

  Others 3,417,423  2,094  2,019  -  17,191  

   48,478,368  331,212  257,159  189,268  157,431 
 

    2019  2018 

       

    HK$ô000  HK$ô000 

  

 

% of impaired or classified advances to total advances to customers 

 0.39%  0.53% 

  

 

Market value of collateral held against impaired or classified 

advances  49,458  318,122 
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4.      4. Financial risk management (continued) 

  

4.1  4.1 Credit risk (continued) 

D.  D. Collateral held and other credit enhancements 

̢

̢ 

 

The Group has established guidelines on the acceptability of various classes of 

collateral and determined the corresponding valuation parameters. The guidelines 

and collateral valuation parameters are subject to regular reviews to ensure their 

effectiveness over credit risk management. 

 

̢

̡ ̡

̡

̡

̢

̢ 

 

The extent of collateral coverage over the Groupôs loans and advances to customer 

depends on the type of customers and the product offered. Types of collateral include 

residential properties (in the form of mortgages over property), other properties, other 

registered securities over assets, cash deposits, standby letters of credit and 

guarantees. Collateral generally is not held over balances and placements with 

banks and other financial institutions, and loans and advances to banks, except when 

securities are held as part of reverse repurchase and securities borrowing activity.  

 

̢

̪ ̫

26 ̢

̢ 

 

The Group takes possession of collateral through court proceedings or voluntary 

delivery of possession by the borrowers during the course of the recovery of impaired 

loans and advances. These repossessed assets are reported in the statement of 

financial position within ñother assetsò (Note 26). If the recovery from the 

repossessed assets exceeds the corresponding exposure, the surplus fund is made 

available either to repay the borrowerôs other secured loans with lower priority or is 

returned to the borrower. 
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4.      4. Financial risk management (continued) 

  
4.1  4.1 Credit risk (continued) 

D.  D. Collateral held and other credit enhancements (continued) 

̢

̡

̢

̢ 

 

Collateral held as security for financial assets other than loans and advances is 

determined by the nature of the instrument. Debt securities, treasury and other 

eligible bills are generally unsecured with the exception of asset-based securities and 

similar instruments, which are secured by pools of financial assets. However the 

credit risk may be implicit in the terms or reflected in the fair value of the 

corresponding instruments. 

ISDA

̢

ISDA

̢ 

 

The Groupôs preferred agreement for documenting derivatives activity is the ISDA 

Master Agreement which covers the contractual framework within which dealing 

activity across a full range of over-the-counter products is conducted and 

contractually binds both parties to apply close-out netting across all outstanding 

transactions covered by an agreement, if either party defaults or following other 

pre-agreed termination events. It is also common for the Group to execute a Credit 

Support Annex in conjunction with the ISDA Master Agreement with the counterparty 

under which collateral is passed between the parties to mitigate the market 

contingent counterparty risk inherent in the outstanding position.  

33

̢

̢

̢ 

 

For contingent liabilities and commitments that are unconditionally cancellable (Note 

33), the Group will assess the necessity to withdraw the credit line when there is a 

concern over the credit quality of the customers. Accordingly, the exposure to 

significant credit risk is considered as minimal. For commitments that are not 

unconditionally cancellable, the Group assesses the necessity of collateral 

depending on the type of customer and the product offered. 
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4.      4. Financial risk management (continued) 

  

4.1  4.1 Credit risk (continued) 

   E.  E. Amounts arising from ECL 

̡

 

Inputs, assumptions and techniques used for estimating impairment 

2.14

̢ 

See accounting policy in Note 2.14. 

  

 Significant increase in credit risk 

̢

̢ 

 

When determining whether the risk of default on a financial instrument has increased 

significantly since initial recognition, the Group considers reasonable and supportable 

information that is relevant and available without undue cost or effort. This includes 

both quantitative and qualitative information and analysis, based on the Groupôs 

historical experience and expert credit assessment.  

 

 

The objective of the assessment is to identify whether a significant increase in credit 

risk has occurred for an exposure by comparing:  

ɾ 

PD  

 

ɾ the remaining lifetime probability of default (PD) as at the reporting date; with 

ɾ 

PD

̢ 

 

ɾ the remaining lifetime PD for this point in time that was estimated at the time of 

initial recognition of the exposure (adjusted where relevant for changes in 

prepayment expectations). 
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4.      4. Financial risk management (continued) 

  

4.1  4.1 Credit risk (continued) 

   E. 

 

E. Amounts arising from ECL (continued) 

 Credit risk grades 

̢

̢

̢ 

 

The Group allocates each exposure to a credit risk grade based on a variety of data 

that is determined to be predictive of the risk of default and applying experienced 

credit judgement. Credit risk grades are defined using qualitative and quantitative 

factors that are indicative of risk of default. These factors vary depending on the 

nature of the exposure and the type of borrower. 

 

1 2

2 3

̢ 

 

Credit risk grades are defined and calibrated such that the risk of default occurring 

increases exponentially as the credit risk deteriorates so, for example, the difference 

in risk of default between credit risk grades 1 and 2 is smaller than the difference 

between credit risk grades 2 and 3. 

 

̢

̢

̢ 

 

Each exposure is allocated to a credit risk grade at initial recognition based on 

available information about the borrower. Exposures are subject to ongoing 

monitoring, which may result in an exposure being moved to a different credit risk 

grade. The monitoring typically involves use of the following data. 
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4.      4. Financial risk management (continued) 

  

4.1  4.1 Credit risk (continued) 

   E. 

 

E. Amounts arising from ECL (continued) 

 Credit risk grades (continued) 

    

 Corporate exposures Retail exposures All exposures 

 ɾ 

̡ ̡ ̢

̡ ̡

̡ ̡

̡  

ɾ   ɾ  - 

 

 ɾ Information obtained during periodic 

review of customer filesɶe.g. audited 

financial statements, management 

accounts, budgets and projections. 

Examples of areas of particular focus 

are: gross profit margins, financial 

leverage ratios, debt service coverage, 

compliance with covenants, quality of 

management, senior management 

changes 

ɾ Internally collected data on customer 

behaviour ï e.g. utilisation of credit card 

facilities  

ɾ Payment record ï this includes 

overdue status as well as a range of 

variables about payment ratios  

 ɾ 

 

ɾ  ɾ  

 ɾ Data from credit reference agencies, 

press articles, changes in external 

credit ratings  

ɾ Affordability metrics  ɾ Utilisation of the granted limit  

 ɾ 

CDS  

ɾ 

 

ɾ  

 ɾ Quoted bond and credit default swap 

(CDS) prices for the borrower where 

available  

ɾ External data from credit reference 

agencies, including industry-standard 

credit scores 

ɾ Requests for and granting of 

forbearance  

 ɾ 

 

 ɾ 

 

 ɾ Actual and expected significant 

changes in the political, regulatory and 

technological environment of the 

borrower or in its business activities  

 ɾ Existing and forecast changes in 

business, financial and economic 

conditions  
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4.      4. Financial risk management (continued) 

  

4.1  4.1 Credit risk (continued) 

   E. 

 

E. Amounts arising from ECL (continued) 

 

Generating the term structure of PD 

̢

̡

̢

̢ 

 

Credit risk grades are a primary input into the determination of the term structure of 

PD for exposures. The Group collects performance and default information about its 

credit risk exposures analysed by jurisdiction or region and by type of product and 

borrower as well as by credit risk grading. For some portfolios, information purchased 

from external credit reference agencies is also used.  

 

̢ 

 

The Group employs statistical models to analyse the data collected and generate 

estimates of the remaining lifetime PD of exposures and how these are expected to 

change as a result of the passage of time. 

 

̢

̢

/

̢ 

 

This analysis includes the identification and calibration of relationships between 

changes in default rates and changes in key macro-economic factors as well as 

in-depth analysis of the impact of certain other factors (e.g. forbearance experience) 

on the risk of default. For most exposures, key macro-economic indicators include: 

GDP growth, benchmark interest rates and unemployment. For exposures to specific 

industries and/or regions, the analysis may extend to relevant real estate prices. 

 

ɼ

ɽ

̡

̢

̢ 

 

The Group formulates a ñbase caseò view of the future direction of relevant economic 

variables as well as a representative range of other possible forecast scenarios (see 

discussion below on incorporation of forward-looking information). The Group then 

uses these forecasts to adjust its estimates of PDs.  
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4.      4. Financial risk management (continued) 

  

4.1  4.1 Credit risk (continued) 

   E. 

 

E. Amounts arising from ECL (continued) 

 

Determining whether credit risk has increased significantly 

̡

̢ 

 

The criteria for determining whether credit risk has increased significantly vary by 

portfolio and include quantitative changes in PDs and qualitative factors, including a 

backstop based on delinquency.  

 

̢ 

 

The credit risk of a particular exposure is deemed to have increased significantly since 

initial recognition if, based on the Groupôs quantitative modelling, the remaining 

lifetime PD is determined to have increased by more than a predetermined range.  

 

( )

̢  

 

Using its expert credit judgement and, where possible, relevant historical experience, 

the Group may determine that an exposure has undergone a significant increase in 

credit risk based on particular qualitative indicators that it considers are indicative of 

such and whose effect may not otherwise be fully reflected in its quantitative analysis 

on a timely basis.  

 

30

̢

̢

̢ 

 

As a backstop, the Group considers that a significant increase in credit risk occurs 

when an asset is more than 30 days past due. Days past due are determined by 

counting the number of days since the earliest elapsed due date in respect of which 

full payment has not been received. Due dates are determined without considering 

any grace period that might be available to the borrower. 

 

  



 

                                                                  

99 

 Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 

 

4.      4. Financial risk management (continued) 

  

4.1  4.1 Credit risk (continued) 

   E. 

 

E. Amounts arising from ECL (continued) 

 

Determining whether credit risk has increased significantly (continued) 

 

 

The Group monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used to identify significant 

increases in credit risk by regular reviews to confirm that: 

ɾ 

 

ɾ the criteria are capable of identifying significant increases in credit risk before an 

exposure is in default; 

ɾ 30

 

ɾ the criteria align with the point in time when an asset becomes 30 days past due; 

and  

ɾ 12

1

2

̢ 

 

ɾ there is no unwarranted volatility in loss allowance from transfers between 

12-month PD (stage 1) and lifetime PD (stage 2).  

 Modified financial assets 

̢ 

 

The contractual terms of a loan may be modified for a number of reasons, including 

changing market conditions, customer retention and other factors not related to a 

current or potential credit deterioration of the customer.  

 

 

When the terms of a financial asset are modified and the modification does not result 

in derecognition, the determination of whether the assetôs credit risk has increased 

significantly reflects comparison of:  

ɾ 

 

 

ɾ its remaining lifetime PD at the reporting date based on the modified terms; with  

ɾ 

̢ 

 

ɾ the remaining lifetime PD estimated based on data at initial recognition and the 

original contractual terms. 
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(continued) 
 

4.      4. Financial risk management (continued) 

  

4.1  4.1 Credit risk (continued) 

   E.  E. Amounts arising from ECL (continued) 

 Modified financial assets (continued) 

̢

̢ 

 

The Group renegotiates loans to customers in financial difficulties (referred to as 

forbearance activities) to maximise collection opportunities and minimise the risk of 

default. Under the Groupôs forbearance policy, loan forbearance is granted on a 

selective basis if the debtor is currently in default on its debt or if there is a high risk 

of default, there is evidence that the debtor made all reasonable efforts to pay 

under the original contractual terms and the debtor is expected to be able to meet 

the revised terms. 

̡

̢

̢ 

 

The revised terms usually include extending the maturity, changing the timing of 

interest payments and amending the terms of loan covenants. Both retail and 

corporate loans are subject to the forbearance policy.  

̢

̢ 

 

For financial assets modified as part of the Groupôs forbearance policy, the estimate 

of PD reflects whether the modification has improved or restored the Groupôs ability 

to collect interest and principal and the Groupôs previous experience of similar 

forbearance action. As part of this process, the Group evaluates the borrowerôs 

payment performance against the modified contractual terms and considers various 

behavioural indicators. 

 

/

̢

/

12

̢ 

 

Generally, forbearance is a qualitative indicator of a significant increase in credit 

risk and an expectation of forbearance may constitute evidence that an exposure is 

credit-impaired / in default. A customer needs to demonstrate consistently good 

payment behaviour over a period of time before the exposure is no longer 

considered to be credit-impaired / in default or the PD is considered to have 

decreased such that the loss allowance reverts to being measured at an amount 

equal to 12-month ECL.  
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4.      4. Financial risk management (continued) 

  

4.1  4.1 Credit risk (continued) 

   E. 

 

E. Amounts arising from ECL (continued) 

 Definition of default 

 

 

The Group considers a financial asset to be in default when:  

ɾ 

 

 

ɾ the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the Group in full, without 

recourse by the Group to actions such as realising security (if any is held); or 

ɾ 

90 ̢

̢ 

 

ɾ the borrower is past due more than 90 days on any material credit obligation to the 

Group. Overdrafts are considered as being past due once the customer has 

breached an advised limit or been advised of a limit smaller than the current 

amount outstanding. 

 

 

In assessing whether a borrower is in default, the Group considers indicators that are:   

ɾ  ï  ɾ qualitative ï e.g. breaches of covenant; 

ɾ  ï 

 

ɾ quantitative ï e.g. overdue status and non-payment on another obligation of the 

same issuer to the Group; and  

ɾ 

̢ 

 

ɾ based on data developed internally and obtained from external sources. 

 ̢

 

Inputs into the assessment of whether a financial instrument is in default and their 

significance may vary over time to reflect changes in circumstances.  

 

̢ 

 

The definition of default largely aligns with that applied by the Group for regulatory 

capital purposes.  
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 Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 

 

4.      4. Financial risk management (continued) 

  

4.1  4.1 Credit risk (continued) 

   E. 

 

E. Amounts arising from ECL (continued) 

 Incorporation of forward-looking information 

̢

ɼ

ɽ

̢

̢

̢ 

 

The Group incorporates forward-looking information into both its assessment of 

whether the credit risk of an instrument has increased significantly since its initial 

recognition and its measurement of ECL. The Group formulates a óbase caseô view of 

the future direction of relevant economic variables as well as a representative range of 

other possible forecast scenarios. This process involves developing two or more 

additional economic scenarios and considering the relative probabilities of each 

outcome. External information includes economic data and forecasts published by 

governmental bodies and monetary authorities in the countries where the Group 

operates, supranational organisations such as the Organisation for Economic 

Co-operation and Development (OECD) and the International Monetary Fund, and 

selected private-sector and academic forecasters. 

 

 ̢

̢

̢ 

 

The ñbase caseò represents a most-likely outcome and is aligned with information 

used by the Group for other purposes such as strategic planning and budgeting. The 

other scenarios represent more optimistic and more pessimistic outcomes. 

Periodically, the Group carries out stress testing of more extreme shocks to calibrate 

its determination of these other representative scenarios.  

 

̢ 

 

The Group has identified and documented key drivers of credit risk and credit losses 

for each portfolio of financial instruments and, using an analysis of historical data, has 

estimated relationships between macro-economic variables and credit risk and credit 

losses.  
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4.      4. Financial risk management (continued) 

  

4.1  4.1 Credit risk (continued) 

   E. 

 

E. Amounts arising from ECL (continued) 

 Incorporation of forward-looking information (continued) 

̢ 

 

The economic scenarios included the forecast of the following key indicators. 

  2019 2018 

 Hong Kong Real GDP Growth Rate -1.3% to 2.6% 1.7% to 3.0% 

    
 China Real GDP Growth Rate 5.1% to 5.7% 6.0% to 6.7% 

    
 China Unemployment Rate 3.6% 3.75% to 3.9% 

    
 - ̡  HKMA Hong Kong Loans & Advances 3.0% to 5.9% 0.1% to 10.9% 

    
 Hong Kong Residential Property Price Index -0.9% to 5.5% -11.9% to 9.0% 

    
 Hong Kong Private Consumption -1.8% to 3.0% 2.8% to 7.3% 

 
 Measurement of ECL 

 

The key inputs into the measurement of ECL are the term structure of the following 

variables:  

ɾ  ɾ probability of default (PD); 

ɾ  ɾ loss given default (LGD); and 

ɾ ̢ ɾ exposure at default (EAD). 

 

 

 

̢

̢ 

 

These parameters are generally derived from internally developed statistical models 

and other historical data. They are adjusted to reflect forward-looking information as 

described above.  

 

̢

̢

 ̢

̢

̢ 

PD estimates are estimates at a certain date, which are calculated based on statistical 

rating models, and assessed using rating tools tailored to the various categories of 

counterparties and exposures. These statistical models are based on internally 

compiled data comprising both quantitative and qualitative factors. Where it is 

available, market data may also be used to derive the PD for large corporate 

counterparties. If a counterparty or exposure migrates between rating classes, then 

this will lead to a change in the estimate of the associated PD. PDs are estimated 

considering the contractual maturities of exposures and estimated prepayment rates. 
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4.      4. Financial risk management (continued) 

  

4.1  4.1 Credit risk (continued) 

   E. 

 

E. Amounts arising from ECL (continued) 

 Measurement of ECL (continued) 

̢

̢

̡ ̡

̡

̢

̢

̢ 

 

LGD is the magnitude of the likely loss if there is a default. The Group estimates LGD 

parameters based on the history of recovery rates of claims against defaulted 

counterparties. The LGD models consider the structure, collateral, seniority of the 

claim, counterparty industry and recovery costs of any collateral that is integral to the 

financial asset. For loans secured by retail property, LTV ratios are a key parameter in 

determining LGD. LGD estimates are recalibrated for different economic scenarios 

and, for real estate lending, to reflect possible changes in property prices.  

 

̢

̢

 ̢

̢

̢ 

 

EAD represents the expected exposure in the event of a default. The Group derives 

the EAD from the current exposure to the counterparty and potential changes to the 

current amount allowed under the contract including amortisation. The EAD of a 

financial asset is its gross carrying amount. For lending commitments and financial 

guarantees, the EAD includes the amount drawn, as well as potential future amounts 

that may be drawn under the contract, which are estimated based on historical 

observations and forward-looking forecasts. For some financial assets, EAD is 

determined by modelling the range of possible exposure outcomes at various points in 

time using scenario and statistical techniques.  

 

  



 

                                                                  

105 

 Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 

 

4.      4. Financial risk management (continued) 

  

4.1  4.1 Credit risk (continued) 

   E. 

 

E. Amounts arising from ECL (continued) 

 Measurement of ECL (continued) 

12

 ̢

̢ 

 

As described above, and subject to using a maximum of a 12-month PD for financial 

assets for which credit risk has not significantly increased, the Group measures ECL 

considering the risk of default over the maximum contractual period (including any 

borrowerôs extension options) over which it is exposed to credit risk, even if, for risk 

management purposes, the Group considers a longer period. The maximum 

contractual period extends to the date at which the Group has the right to require 

repayment of an advance or terminate a loan commitment or guarantee.  

 

 

̢

̢

̢

̢

/

̢ 

 

However, for retail overdrafts that include both a loan and an undrawn commitment 

component, the Group measures ECL over a period longer than the maximum 

contractual period if the Groupôs contractual ability to demand repayment and cancel 

the undrawn commitment does not limit the Groupôs exposure to credit losses to the 

contractual notice period. These facilities do not have a fixed term or repayment 

structure and are managed on a collective basis. The Group can cancel them with 

immediate effect but this contractual right is not enforced in the normal day-to-day 

management, but only when the Group becomes aware of an increase in credit risk at 

the facility level. This longer period is estimated taking into account the credit risk 

management actions that the Group expects to take and that serve to mitigate ECL. 

These include a reduction in limits, cancellation of the facility and/or turning the 

outstanding balance into a loan with fixed repayment terms. 
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4.      4. Financial risk management (continued) 

  

4.1  4.1 Credit risk (continued) 

   E. 

 

E. Amounts arising from ECL (continued) 

 Measurement of ECL (continued) 

 

 

Where modelling of a parameter is carried out on a collective basis, the financial 

instruments are grouped on the basis of shared risk characteristics that include: 

 

ɾ  ɾ instrument type;  

ɾ  ɾ credit risk grading;  

ɾ  ɾ collateral type;  

ɾ 

 

ɾ LTV ratio for retail mortgages; 

ɾ  ɾ date of initial recognition; 

ɾ  ɾ remaining term to maturity; 

ɾ  ɾ industry; and 

ɾ ̢ ɾ geographic location of the borrower. 

  

̢ 

 

The groupings are subject to regular review to ensure that exposures within a 

particular group remain appropriately homogeneous. 

 

̢ 

 

For portfolios in respect of which the Group has limited historical data, external 

benchmark information is used to supplement the internally available data.  
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4.      4. Financial risk management (continued) 

 
 

4.1  4.1 Credit risk (continued) 

   E. 

 

E. Amounts arising from ECL (continued) 

 Loss allowance reconciliation 

̢

1 1 12

31 ̢ 

The following tables show reconciliations from the opening to the closing balance of 

the impairment allowance by class of financial instrument. The reconciliation is 

prepared by comparing the position of impairment allowance between 1 January and 

31 December at transaction level. 

  

 

 2019 

 Advances to customers 

12  

 

 
 

12-month ECL  

 

 

Lifetime ECL 
not 

credit-impaired  

 

 

 
Lifetime ECL 

credit-impaired  

 

 
 

Total 

         

  
HK$ô000  HK$ô000  HK$ô000  HK$ô000 

         
1 1  Balance at 1 January 139,832  17,599  189,268  346,699 

12  Transfer to 12-month ECL 191  (191)  -  - 

 Transfer to lifetime ECL not credit-impaired (9,722)  9,722  -  - 

 Transfer to lifetime ECL credit-impaired (291)  (11,506)  11,797  - 

 New financial assets originated 208,291  149  -  208,440 

 Financial assets that have been 

derecognised (41,630)  (377)  (69,260)  (111,267) 

 Write-offs -  -  (27,019)  (27,019) 

 Changes in models -  -  -  - 

 Unwind of discount of loans impairment loss -  -  3,414  3,414 

 Foreign exchange and other movements 
400  (110)  (4,403)  (4,113) 

 Net remeasurement of loss allowance 
28,995  3,023  181,071  213,089 

12 31  Balance at 31 December 326,066  18,309  284,868  629,243 

 

 2018 

 Advances to customers 

12  

 

 
 

12-month ECL  

 

 

Lifetime ECL 
not 

credit-impaired  

 

 

 
Lifetime ECL 

credit-impaired  

 

 
 

Total 

         

  
HK$ô000  HK$ô000  HK$ô000  HK$ô000 

         
1 1  Balance at 1 January 147,159  8,049  70,424  225,632 

12  Transfer to 12-month ECL 1,166  (1,166)  -  - 

 Transfer to lifetime ECL not credit-impaired (4,683)  4,683  -  - 

 Transfer to lifetime ECL credit-impaired (300)  (513)  813  - 

 New financial assets originated 80,297  3,528  -  83,825 

 Financial assets that have been 

derecognised (36,315)  (4,545)  (514)  (41,374) 

 Write-offs -  -  (24,926)  (24,926) 

 Changes in models -  -  -  - 

 Unwind of discount of loans impairment loss -  -  2,071  2,071 

 Foreign exchange and other movements (169)  (571)  (2,143)  (2,883) 

 Net remeasurement of loss allowance (47,323)  8,134  143,543  104,354 

12 31  Balance at 31 December 139,832  17,599  189,268  346,699 
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4.      4. Financial risk management (continued) 

  

4.1  4.1 Credit risk (continued) 

   E. 

 

E. Amounts arising from ECL (continued) 

 Loss allowance reconciliation (continued) 

 
 2019 

 Trade bills 

12  

 

 
12-month ECL  

 

 

Lifetime ECL not 
credit-impaired  

 

 

Lifetime ECL 
credit-impaired  

 

 
Total 

         

  HK$ô000  HK$ô000  HK$ô000  HK$ô000 

         
1 1  Balance at 1 January 1,624  -  -  1,624 

12  Transfer to 12-month ECL -  -  -  - 

 Transfer to lifetime ECL not 

credit-impaired -  -  -  - 

 Transfer to lifetime ECL 

credit-impaired -  -  -  - 

 New financial assets originated 3,733  -  -  3,733 

 Financial assets that have been 

derecognised (1,624)  -  -  (1,624) 

 Write-offs -  -  -  - 

 Changes in models -  -  -  - 

 Foreign exchange and other 

movements (58)  -  -  (58) 

 Net remeasurement of loss 

allowance 251  -  -  251 

12 31  Balance at 31 December 3,926  -  -  3,926 

 
 2018 

 Trade bills 

12  

 

 
12-month ECL  

 

 

Lifetime ECL not 
credit-impaired  

 

 

Lifetime ECL 
credit-impaired  

 

 
Total 

         

  HK$ô000  HK$ô000  HK$ô000  HK$ô000 

         
1 1  Balance at 1 January 121  -  -  121 

12  Transfer to 12-month ECL -  -  -  - 

 Transfer to lifetime ECL not 

credit-impaired -  -  -  - 

 Transfer to lifetime ECL 

credit-impaired -  -  -  - 

 New financial assets originated 4,136  -  -  4,136 

 Financial assets that have been 

derecognised (121)  -  -  (121) 

 Write-offs -  -  -  - 

 Changes in models -  -  -  - 

 Foreign exchange and other 

movements (152)  -  -  (152) 

 Net remeasurement of loss 

allowance (2,360)  -  -  (2,360) 

12 31  Balance at 31 December 1,624  -  -  1,624 

 

  




